
 

 

 

 

 

 
Agenda 

 
 
 
 
 

Finance Panel (Panel of the 
Scrutiny Committee) 
 
 
 

Date: Thursday 5 February 2015 

Time: 5.30 pm 

Place: Plowman Room - Town Hall 

 
For any further information please contact:  

Andrew Brown, Scrutiny Officer 

Telephone: 01865 252230 

Email: abrown2@oxford.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the 
Contact Officer know how you wish to do this before the start of the meeting. 



 

 

HOW TO OBTAIN A COPY OF THE AGENDA 

 

In order to reduce the use of resources, our carbon footprint and our costs we will no 
longer produce paper copies of agenda over and above our minimum internal and 
Council member requirement. Paper copies may be looked at the Town Hall 
Reception and at Customer Services, St Aldate’s and at the Westgate Library 

 

A copy of the agenda may be:- 

- Viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

- Downloaded from our website 

- Subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

- Sent to you in hard copy form upon payment of an annual subscription. 

 

 

 
 

Finance Panel (Panel of the Scrutiny Committee) 
 
Membership 
 
 
Chair Councillor Craig Simmons  
 
 Councillor James Fry  

 Councillor Roy Darke  

 Councillor Jean Fooks  

   

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
AGENDA 

 
PART ONE 

PUBLIC BUSINESS 
 
  

 
Pages 

1 APOLOGIES 

 

 

 Quorum for the Panel is 3 Members.  Substitutes are not allowed. 

 

 

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

 

3 EUROPEAN FUNDING 

 

1 - 84 

 For the Finance Panel to consider how the City Council can maximise EU 
funding opportunities. MEPs representing the South East region have been 
invited to contribute to this discussion.  Executive Directors and City Council 
officers from a number of relevant services have also been invited. 
 
The suggested structure for this item is: 
 

- Introduction by the Chair  
- Introduction from each MEP focusing on opportunities they see as 

relevant to Oxford  
- Officer update on the City Council’s current and historical EU funding 

successes/failures  
- General discussion   
- Summing up / next steps 

 

 

 

4 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 15/16 

 

85 - 102 

 For the Panel to consider the Treasury Management Strategy 2015/16. 
 
Anna Winship, Financial Accounting Manager, has been invited to present 
this item. 

 

 

5 BUDGET REVIEW 2015/16 REPORT 

 

 

 For the Panel to agree its Budget Review report subject to any final minor 
changes. 
 
Report to follow. 

 

 

6 WORK PROGRAMME 

 

103 - 104 

 For the Panel to note and agree its work programme.  



 

 

7 FUTURE MEETING DATES 

 

 

 25 March 2015 
 
2015/16 meeting dates TBC 

 

 



 

DECLARING INTERESTS 
 
General duty 
 
You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the 
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you. 
 
What is a disclosable pecuniary interest? 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses 
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses); 
contracts; land in the Council’s area; licences for land in the Council’s area; corporate tenancies; 
and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which 
is publicly available on the Council’s website. 
 
Declaring an interest 
 
Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, you must 
declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of 
the interest. 
 
If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you must not 
participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter 
is discussed. 
 
Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception 
 
Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of Conduct 
says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place yourself 
in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is that the 
matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a whole and regard should 
continue to be paid to the perception of the public. 
 
*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself 
but also those of the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife 
or as if they were civil partners. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

 
 

                                                                            
 
To: Finance Panel (Panel of the Scrutiny Committee) 
 
Date: 21 January 2015            

 
Report of: Head of Law and Governance 
 
Title of Report: European Funding  
 

 
Summary 

 
Purpose of report: For the Finance Panel to review how the City Council can 
maximise the benefits of European Union funding opportunities  
          
Key decision No  
 
Executive lead member: Councillor Ed Turner 
 
Report author: Andrew Brown 
 
Policy Framework: Corporate Plan 
 

 
Appendices 
Appendix 1 – A Guide to Funding Opportunities for 2014-2020  
Appendix 2 – Your Guide to EU funding  
Appendix 3 – Oxford City Council European Funding 
 

1. The Finance Panel requested an item to consider how the City Council 
can maximise EU funding opportunities.  MEPs representing the South 
East region have been invited to contribute to this discussion. 
 

2. Included in this briefing paper are two guidance documents on EU 
funding.  These were provided by the offices of Catherine Bearder 
MEP and Keith Taylor MEP respectively to support the Panel’s 
discussion.  Any views expressed in these documents are not those of 
the City Council. 
 

3. Also included is a report of the City Council’s Head of Finance. 
 
 
 

 

1

Agenda Item 3



 

 
Name and contact details of author:- 
 
Name: Andrew Brown 
Job title: Scrutiny Officer 
Law and Governance 
Tel: 01865 252230, e-mail: abrown2@oxford.gov.uk 
 
 

List of background papers: None 
 
Version number: 1 

2



1 

 

A Guide to Funding Opportunities for 2014-2020 

           

 

 

 

 

1) EU Cohesion Policy 

 

2 

 

 

2) Agriculture and Fisheries  

 

 

4 

 

3) Employment and Social Innovation 

  

 

7 

 

4) Justice and Home Affairs  

 

 

9 

 

5) Environment  

 

 

10 

 

6) Energy and Natural Resources 

 

 

12 

 

7) Culture 

 

 

13 

 

8) Education and Youth 

 

 

14 

 

9) Business and Innovation 

 

 

15 

 

10) Transport  

 

 

18 

 

11)Health 

 

 

19 

3



2 

 

 

Cohesion Policy is the EU's main investment policy targeting all regions and cities in the European Union in 

order to support job creation, business competitiveness, economic growth, sustainable development and to 

improve citizens’ quality of life. It aims to compliment other EU policies such as education.  

 

The Commission works with Member States and the regions to draw up Partnership Agreements and 

Operational Programmes outlining investment priorities and development needs. These projects are managed 

and individual projects selected by Managing Authorities in Member states. 

 

The Commission makes funding available at the beginning of each year to allow countries to start investing in 

projects. Programmes are monitored by both the Commission and Member State and if the project is over €50 

million, it is subject to approval by the Commission. 

 

The Policy is delivered by three main funds: 

 

• European Regional Development Fund (EDRF) 

• European Social Fund (EDF) 

• Cohesion Fund 

 

Together with the European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development and the European Maritime and 

Fisheries Fund they make up the European Structural and Investment funds (ESI)  

 

More information on this can be found: http://ec.europa.eu/contracts_grants/funds_en.htm 

 

European Regional Development Fund (EDRF) 

The fund aims to strengthen regional economic and social cohesion by investing in growth-enhancing sectors 

to improve competitiveness and create jobs. The EDRF also finances cross-border cooperation projects. 

1) EU Cohesion Policy 
 
 

4



3 

 

The UK government is seeking views on the draft European Regional Development Fund operational 

programme for England 2014 to 2020.  

Updates should be announced in February 2015. Please continue to check:  

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/european-regional-development-fund-operational-

programme-2014-to-2020 

  

European Social Fund (ESF) 

The fund invests in people with a focus on improving employment and education opportunities; it also aims to 

help disadvantaged people at risk of poverty or social exclusion. The ESF is not an employment agency – it 

does not advertise jobs. Rather, it is funding tens of thousands of local, regional and national employment-

related projects throughout Europe: from small projects run by local charities to help local disabled people find 

suitable work, to nationwide projects that promote vocational training among the whole population. 

The 2014 to 2020 ESF programme is part of the new European Growth Programme in England, along with the 

European Regional Development Fund and part of the Rural Development Fund. 

Partnership Agreement and Operational Programme projects, which are secured through procurement, for 

2015 are still yet to be agreed upon by the Commission.  

Updates should be announced in February 2015. Please continue to check: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/european-social-fund-2014-to-2020-plans/european-social-

fund-2014-to-2020-plans 

More information on this can be found: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/european-social-fund-

2014-to-2020-plans/european-social-fund-2014-to-2020-plans 

Alternatively you can contact the UK ESF office by email: esf.feedback@dwp.gsi.gov.uk 

 

Cohesion Fund 

The fund invests in green growth and sustainable development and improves connectivity in Member States 

with a GDP below 90% of the EU-27 average. For 2014-2020 the Cohesion Fund does not include the United 

Kingdom.        

More information on this can be found: http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/thefunds/cohesion/index_en.cfm 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5



4 

 

2. Agriculture and Fisheries 

 
Common Agricultural Policy: CAP 

 

 
 

 

Basic Payment Scheme 

 
The basic payment scheme replaces the current 'single farm payment scheme. It is made up of three 

components: 

 

• Basic payment  

• Greening (Worth about 30% of your total payment) 

• Young farmers (under 40) 

 

To apply for BPS, you will need to:  

 

• Be an ‘active farmer’  

• Have at least 5 hectares of ‘eligible’ land  

• Have at least 5 BPS entitlements  

 

Before you can log in to the CAP Information Service and apply for CAP schemes, Customers wanting to apply 

for the new Basic Payment Scheme will need to be registered on the service. GOV.UK Verify is the new way for 

people to prove who they are when using digital services. You will then be contacted directly by the Rural 

Payments Agency. 

 
Farmers applying for entitlements in 2015 must apply by midnight on 15 May. Their supporting evidence must 

be received by RPA by the same deadline. Applications received after this, but before midnight on 9 June 2015, 

will have the value of any payments (relating to their entitlements from the national reserve) in that year 

reduced by 3% for each working day they are late. 

 

Just like SPS, under BPS you will need to meet cross-compliance rules 

 

Everyone who hasn’t applied online before will receive a form called ‘Extra help to use the CAP Information 

Service’, which should be filled in by anyone who thinks they might need extra help. Once the form has been 

returned, the RPA will get in touch to discuss the options for help that are available for each applicant. 

 

More information on this can be found:  https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/common-agricultural-

policy-reform 

 

6



5 

 

Rural Development Programme 

 
Local Action Groups (LAGs) will be running the new RDP. These are run by volunteers who represent the 

public, private and voluntary sectors in their communities. LAGs are responsible for setting strategies for their 

areas and funding local projects. Funding could be granted for developing businesses and investing in 

renewable energy. Once local funding opportunities are announced in early 2015, people will be able to apply 

for funding through the RPA. 

There will be 3 main areas of support:  

• Managing the environment  

• Increasing farming and forestry productivity  

• Growing the rural economy  

 

Prospective Local Action Groups in the South East are: 

• Kent County Council (Kent Downs and Marshes) 

• East Kent (Action with Communities in Rural Kent) 

• West Sussex County Council (Sussex Downs & Low Weald) 

• West Sussex County Council (Three Harbours & Coastal Plain) 

• Hampshire County Council (Loddon and Eversley) 

• Surrey County Council (Surrey Hills) 

 

These can be contacted directly: 

 

RDPE Delivery Team, AHVLA,  Woodham Lane, New Haw, Addlestone, Weybridge, Surrey, 

KT15 3NB  

Tel: 01932 357429 

E-mail: rdpedeliverysoutheast@defra.gsi.gov.uk   

 

More information on this can be found:  http://www.defra.gov.uk/rural/rdpe/  

 

Countryside Stewardship 

It will replace:  

 

• Environmental Stewardship (ES)  

• The English Woodland Grant Scheme (EWGS)  

• Capital grants from the Catchment Sensitive Farming (CSF) programme  

 

The main priority for Countryside Stewardship is biodiversity. If you already have an ES agreement which runs 

into 2015 or beyond, this will carry on until it ends. This is similar for EWGS agreements, though these might 

have to change when the new regulations come into force. If you are affected by this, the Forestry Commission 

will contact you in January 2015. 

Applications should reflect Countryside Stewardship priorities and show that they provide value for money and 

will be assessed and scored by a panel of representatives from Natural England, the Forestry Commission and 

the Environment Agency.  

More information on this can be found:  http://www.forestry.gov.uk/forestry/INFD-7GML72 

 

7



6 

 

http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/grantsfunding/default.aspx  

Information on the RDPE Network in the South East can be found at: 

 

http://www.rdpenetwork.org.uk/projects/south-east  

 

 

 

EFF: European Fisheries Fund 

 

 
 
The European Fisheries Fund is intended to secure a sustainable and profitable fisheries industry. It will grant 

financial support with a view to helping the industry adapt to changing circumstances.  

The EFF programme in England is funded by the EU and managed by the Marine Management Organisation 

(MMO), an executive agency of DEFRA at the national level. Around £243.1 million is available through the 

European Fisheries Fund to help the fishing industry in the UK to adapt to changing needs for the period 2014-

2020. 

The EFF Grants Programme is open all year round for receipt of applications. Depending upon the type, size 

and cost of a project, a decision will either be considered by the selection panel (which meets about three 

times a year) for smaller projects by the Business Relations Team in the MFA on an ongoing basis.  

 

Funding is provided through calls for proposals. Please check the sites regularly.  

http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/maritimeaffairs_fisheries/contracts_and_funding/calls_for_proposals/index_en.htm 

 

More information on this can be found:   

 

https://www.gov.uk/apply-for-a-european-fisheries-fund-grant 

 

https://www.gov.uk/commercial-fishing-fisheries/funding 

 

marinemanagement.org.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

8



7 

 

3. Employment and Social Innovation 

 

 
 

The Employment and Social Innovation (EaSI) programme is a financing instrument at EU level to promote a 

high level of quality and sustainable employment, guaranteeing adequate and decent social protection, 

combating social exclusion and poverty and improving working conditions. 

As of January 2014, these programmes form the three axes of EaSI. They support: 

• The modernisation of employment and social policies with the PROGRESS axis (61% of the total 

budget) 

• Job mobility with the EURES axis (18% of the total budget) 

• Access to micro-finance and social entrepreneurship with the Microfinance and Social 

Entrepreneurship axis (21% of the total budget) 

Funding is provided through calls for tender and calls for proposals. Please check the sites regularly.  

Calls for tender: http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=624&langId=en 

Calls for proposals: http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=629&langId=en 

 

The European Globalisation Adjustment Fund (EGF) 

The European Globalisation Adjustment Fund (EGF) exists to support workers who lose their jobs as a result of 

changing global trade patterns so that they can find another job as quickly as possible.  

The EGF can fund active labour market measures focused entirely on helping the workers made redundant as a 

result of globalisation, for example through: 

• Job-search assistance, occupational guidance, tailor-made training and re-training including IT skills 

and certification of acquired experience, outplacement assistance and entrepreneurship promotion or 

aid for self-employment 

• Special time-limited measures, such as job-search allowances, mobility allowances or allowances to 

individuals participating in lifelong learning and training activities. 

Please note the EGF will not fund passive social protection measures such as retirement pensions or 

unemployment benefits, which are the competence of the Member States. 

 

9



8 

 

Structural Funds 

The EU Structural Funds, in particular the European Social Fund (ESF), support the anticipation and 

management of change with activities, such as life-long learning, with a strategic and long-term perspective. 

The EGF, on the other hand, provides one-off, time-limited individual support geared to helping workers who 

have suffered redundancies as a result of globalisation. 

EGF cases are managed and implemented by national or regional authorities. Each project runs for two years.  

 

Individuals, representative organisations or companies affected by redundancies and wishing to benefit from 

the Fund should contact their national authorities directly: 

EGF Contacts  for the United Kingdom: 

Mr Graham BREEZE, International Unit, Department for Work and Pensions,  

Area 2C Caxton House, 6-12 Tothill Street, UK-London, SW1H 9NA 

Tel: +44 20 7340 4107 

E-mail: graham.breeze@dwp.gsi.gov.uk 

Ms Lindsey LEWIS, International Unit, Department for Work and Pensions 

Area 2C Caxton House, 6-12 Tothill Street, UK-London, SW1H 9NH 

Tel: +44 207 340 4028 

E-mail: lindsey.lewis@dwp.gsi.gov.uk  

More information can be found at:  http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=326&langId=en 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10



9 

 

 

4. Justice and Home Affairs 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Rights, Equality and Citizenship Programme 2014-2020 

This programme shall contribute to the further development of an area where equality and the rights of 

persons, as enshrined in the Treaty, the Charter and international human rights conventions, are promoted 

and protected. This project has an overall budget of €439 million for the years 2014-2020. 

Types of actions funded: 

• Training activities (staff exchanges, workshops, development of training modules) 

• Mutual learning, cooperation activities, exchange of good practices, peer reviews, development of ICT 

tools 

• Awareness-raising activities, dissemination, conferences 

• Support for main actors (key European NGOs and networks, Member States' authorities 

implementing Union law) 

• Analytical activities (studies, data collection, development of common methodologies, indicators, 

surveys, preparation of guides) 

Funding is provided through calls for tender and calls for proposals. Please check the sites regularly.  

Calls for proposals: http://ec.europa.eu/justice/grants1/open-calls/index_en.htm 

 

Asylum, Migration and Integration Fund (AMIF) 
 

The funding for the AMIF will be divided in three ways: 

 

• Shared management, EU States will implement their multiannual National Programmes, covering the 

whole period 2014-20 (around 88%)  

• Specific actions, implemented under the national programmes of EU States, but responding to specific 

Union priorities (around 11%) 

• Direct management, in the framework of annual work programmes (around 12%) 

 

Allocations have yet to be announced for 2015. Please keep checking the website: 

11



10 

 

http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/home-affairs/financing/fundings/migration-asylum-borders/asylum-migration-

integration-fund/index_en.htm 

5. Environnent 

 

 
 
 

LIFE Programme 
 

The LIFE programme is the EU’s funding instrument for the environment and climate action. The general 

objective of LIFE is to contribute to the implementation, updating and development of EU environmental and 

climate policy and legislation by co-financing projects with European added value. 

 

There are two sub-programmes: 

 

• LIFE sub-programme for Environment, including as priorities areas environment and resource efficiency, 

nature and biodiversity, governance and information 

 

• LIFE sub-programme for Climate Action, including as priorities areas adaptation, mitigation and governance 

and information 

 

Activities under LIFE include: 

 

• Developing and maintaining networks, databases and computer systems linked to implementation of 

EU environmental policy, especially when improving public access to environmental information 

• Studies, surveys, modelling and scenario building 

• Monitoring 

• Capacity building, training, workshops, networking and best-practice forums 

• Information and communication actions including awareness campaigns 

• Demonstration of innovative policy approaches, technologies, methods and instruments  

 

Specifically for the Nature and Biodiversity strand: 

 

• Site and species management and site planning, including improvement of ecological coherence of 

Natura 2000 network 

• Monitoring of conservation status 

• Development and implementation of species and habitats conservation action plans 

 

The Executive Agency for Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (EASME), is responsible for LIFE at the European 

Level. In England the Managing Authority is the Department for Farming, Environment and Rural Affairs 

(DEFRA). The national contact point carries out an eligibility check and makes comments on proposals before 

DEFRA collects the proposals and forwards them to the Commission.  

 

12



11 

 

A Committee made up of Member States' representatives examines and endorses (or rejects) the list of 

projects for co-financing proposed by the Commission. 

 

Applications are made in response to an annual Call for Proposals published in the Official Journal of the 

European Union with a submission deadline in the Autumn of each year.  

 

Calls for proposals can be found at: http://ec.europa.eu/environment/life/funding/ngos/index.htm 

 

All projects have to be submitted to the national contact point. The LIFE website holds a database which 

includes current projects and contact details which may be a useful source of information for those looking for 

potential partners or information exchange. 

 

The national contact point for the UK is: 

 

Beta Technology Ltd, Doncaster Carr, Doncaster, DN4 5HZ 

Tel: +44 (0)1302 322633 

Fax: +44 (0)1302 388800 

life@betatechnology.co.uk  

www.betaeurope.co.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13



12 

 

 
6. Energy and Natural Resources 

 

 
 

 

IEE: Intelligent Energy Europe 

 
The Intelligent Energy – Europe II Programme (IEE) is the main community instrument to tackle non-

technological barriers to the spread of efficient use of energy and greater use of new and renewable energy 

sources.  

 

The objective of the IEE Programme Horizon 2020 Energy Challenge is designed to support the transition to a 

secure, clean and efficient energy system for Europe and the first Work Programme for 'Secure, clean and 

efficient energy' is split into three focus areas: Energy-efficiency; Low carbon technologies; and Smart Cities & 

Communities. 

 

The programme consists of four action types: 

 

• Coordination and support actions (CSA) 

• Research and Innovation Actions (RIA) 

• Project Development Assistance (PDA) 

• Public-private partnership (PPP) 

Funding is provided through calls for tender and calls for proposals. Please check the sites regularly.  

http://ec.europa.eu/easme/en/energy 

 

National contacts (Energy Helpline UK) can assist with the preparation of an application for funding. This 

includes advice on technical and administrative questions on the Call for Proposals, partner search, national 

priorities, and matching national co-financing possibilities, where applicable. 

 

The national contact point for the UK is: 

 

Ms Helen Fairclough,  Energy Helpline UK 

Tel: +0161 874 3636 

Fax: +0161 874 3644 

energie@enviros.com 

 

More information can be found at: http://ec.europa.eu/energy/intelligent/index_en.htm 

 

 

 

 

 

14



13 

 

 
7. Culture 

 

Creative Europe 
 

Creative Europe is the new EU programme to support European cinema and the cultural and creative sectors, 

enabling them to increase their contribution to jobs and growth. It will support tens of thousands of artists, 

cultural and audio-visual professionals and organisations in the performing arts, fine arts, publishing, film, TV, 

music, interdisciplinary arts, heritage, and the video games industry.  

 

• Culture sector initiatives, such as those promoting cross-border cooperation, platforms, networking, 

and literary translation 

• Audiovisual sector initiatives, such as those promoting the development, distribution, or access to 

audiovisual work 

• A cross-sectoral strand, including a Guarantee Facility and transnational policy cooperation. 

 

The programme consists of two sub-programmes; the Culture sub-programme to promote the culture sector, 

and the MEDIA sub-programme to support the audiovisual sector. 

Funding is provided through calls for tender and calls for proposals. Please check the sites regularly.  

Calls for proposals can be found: http://ec.europa.eu/programmes/creative-europe/calls/index_en.htm 

 

Results of calls can be found: http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/creative-europe/selection-results_en 

 

More information can be found at: http://ec.europa.eu/culture/index_en.htm 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15



14 

 

 
8. Education and Youth 

 

 
 

About Erasmus+ 
 

The Erasmus+ programme runs from 2014-2020 and supports activities in education, training, youth and sport 

across all sectors of lifelong learning including higher education, further education, adult education, schools 

and youth activities. 

 

Erasmus+ programme now covers five major areas of education and training: 

• School education opportunities for staff and institutions; 

• Vocational education and training opportunities for students, apprentices, trainees, staff, institutions, 

and business; 

• Higher Education opportunities for students, staff, institutions, and businesses; 

• Adult Education opportunities for staff, institutions, and businesses; 

• European Integration opportunities for academic and research staff and institutions. 

 
The programme guide for applications is now available. Please check to see what you might be interested in: 

http://ec.europa.eu/programmes/erasmus-plus/discover/guide/index_en.htm 

 

Organisations are invited to submit applications for funding on-line to the National Agency.  

 

The national contact point for the UK is: 

 

British Council, in partnership with Ecorys UK – Ecorys UK 

Albert House, Quay Place, 92-93 Edward Street 

B1 2RA, Birmingham 

United Kingdom 

Tel: 0044 0845 199 2929 

Web: 

www.erasmusplus.org.uk 

 

More information can be found at: http://ec.europa.eu/programmes/erasmus-plus/index_en.htm 

 

 

 
 
 

16



15 

 

 
9. Business and Innovation 

 

 
 

COSME 

COSME is the EU programme for the Competitiveness of Enterprises and Small and Medium-sized Enterprises 

(SMEs) running from 2014 to 2020. 

It aims to support: 

• Access to finance for SMEs 

• Access to markets 

• Entrepreneurs 

• Business growth and creation 

All businesses have access to the services of the Enterprise Europe Network, which delivers help locally to 

SME's.  

The services offered include: 

• Information on EU legislation and participation in EU  

• Assistance to find a business partner abroad 

• Advice on EU access to finance 

• Support for innovation and technology transfer 

• Obtaining SME's opinion on EU legislation 

The point of contact for South East is: 

Oxford Innovation Services Limited  

Oxford Centre for Innovation, New Road, Oxford, OX1 1BY 

+44 1865 261480  

een@oxin.co.uk 

http://www.oxfordinnovationservices.co.uk 

 

If you want to go abroad with your company, this portal gathers all services provided by national authorities 

you might need. 

 

Funding is provided through calls for proposals and calls for tenders. Please check the sites regularly.  

 

17



16 

 

Calls for proposals can be found: http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/contracts-grants/calls-for-

proposals/index_en.htm?tpa=1029 

 

Calls for tenders can be found at: http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/contracts-grants/calls-for-

tenders/index_en.htm?tpa=1029 

 

More information can be found: http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/initiatives/cosme/index_en.htm 

 

 

 

Entrepreneurship 2020 
 

The Entrepreneurship 2020 Action Plan is a call for joint action at European, national, regional, and local level.   

 

The Action Plan includes three main improvements: 

• Entrepreneurship education 

• Improving the business environment so entrepreneurs can grow and flourish 

• Role models and outreach to specific groups  

 

Funding is provided through calls for proposals and calls for tenders. Please check the sites regularly.  

 

Calls for proposals can be found: http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/contracts-grants/calls-for-

proposals/index_en.htm 

 

Calls for tenders can be found at:  http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/contracts-grants/calls-for-

tenders/index_en.htm 

 

More information can be found: http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sme/entrepreneurship-

2020/index_en.htm 

 

 
 

Information & Communication Technologies in Horizon 2020  

 
Horizon 2020 (H2020) will provide funding for every stage of the innovation process from basic research to 

market uptake, in line with the EU's commitments under the "Innovation Union". 

 

The EU’s new Programme for research and innovation will bring together all funding currently provided 

through the Framework Programme for Research & Technological Development (FP), the Competitiveness & 

Innovation Framework Programme (CIP) and the European Institute of Innovation and Technology (EIT).  

The programme aims to address: 

 

• The growing need for sustainable healthcare 

• Improved security and privacy 

• Lower carbon economy 

• Intelligent transport 

 

It will also support research and innovation that can best deliver new business breakthroughs, often on the 

basis of emerging technologies. In particular, ICT in Horizon 2020 will support the development of ICT in 

Science, ICT in industrial leadership and ICT in societal challenges. 

 

Funding is provided through calls for proposals and calls for tenders. Please check the sites regularly. 

 

18



17 

 

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/h2020/search/search_topics.html

#c,topics=topicFileName,callIdentifier,callTitle,identifier,title,description,tags,flags/s/Space/1/1/0&+title/desc 

More information can be found:  http://ec.europa.eu/programmes/horizon2020/find-your-area 

 
 

Excellent Science 
 
As part of Horizon 2020, funding will be allocated to the area of excellent science with the aim of Europe 

producing world-class science, removing barriers to innovation and making it easier for public and private 

sectors to work together to deliver innovation. 

To encourage small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) to take advantage of the programme and bring their 

innovations to market a new funding scheme, the “SME Instrument” has been launched.  

This SME instrument has been designed specifically for single or groups of highly innovative SMEs.  

The instrument provides full-cycle business support from the stage of business idea conception and planning 

over business plan execution and demonstration to commercialisation. Participants will be able to call on 

business innovation coaching for the duration of their project. 

There are three phases to the programme: 

• Phase I (proof-of-concept):  

• Phase II (development & demonstration): 

• Phase III (go-to-market): Take advantage of additional EU support to enter the market successfully (no 

grants) 

Funding is provided through calls for tender and calls for proposals. Please follow the hyperlink and check the 

site regularly for updates.  

More information can be found at: http://ec.europa.eu/programmes/horizon2020/en/h2020-

section/excellent-science 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

19



18 

 

 
 
10. Transport 

 

 

 
 

Connecting Europe is the new programme of funding for 2014-2020. The Connecting Europe Facility will invest 

€31.7 billion to upgrade Europe's transport infrastructure, build missing links and remove bottlenecks. By 

focusing on transport modes that are less polluting, the Connecting Europe Facility will push our transport 

system to become more sustainable. It will also give consumers more choice about how they want to travel. 

 

To apply for funding you must first register on the online portal:  

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/index.html 

Funding is provided through calls for tender and calls for proposals. Please follow the hyperlink and check the 

site regularly for updates.  

More information can be found at: http://ec.europa.eu/programmes/horizon2020/ 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

20



19 

 

 
 
12. Health 

 

 
 

The EU is required by its founding treaty to ensure that human health is protected as part of all its policies, and 

to work with the EU countries to improve public health, prevent human illness and eliminate sources of danger 

to physical and mental health. 

The EU health strategy "Together for Health" supports the overall Europe 2020 strategy.  Europe 2020 aims to 

turn the EU into a smart, sustainable and inclusive economy promoting growth for all – one prerequisite of 

which is a population in good health. 

The programme aims to: 

• Promote health, prevent diseases and foster supportive environments for healthy lifestyles taking into 

account the 'health in all policies' principle 

• Protect Union citizens from serious cross-border health threats 

• Contribute to innovative, efficient and sustainable health systems 

• Facilitate access to better and safer healthcare for Union citizens. 

Funding is provided through calls for proposals. Please check the sites regularly.  

 

http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/opportunities/3hp/ 

 

More information is available with the UK point of contact: 

 

United Kingdom  

Ms Sarah COLLEN-GODMAN  

NHS European Office  

Rue Marie-Thérèse 21 BE-1000 Brussels  

Phone:+32 2 227 6448  

+44 20 7799 6666  

Email: Sarah.Godman@nhsconfed.org 

 

 

 

 

 

21



20 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Acknowledgements 

22



21 

 

Compiled by Rachel Greaves and Louise Furness 

Office of Catherine Bearder MEP 

 

23



This page is intentionally left blank



Your Guide to EU Funding 

2 0 1 4 
++ European Structural and 

Investment Funds (ESI-Funds) ++ European 
Regional Development Fund (ERDF) ++                 
 European Social Fund (ESF) ++ Youth              

Employment Initiative (YEI)++Cohesion Fund ++ 
European Agricultural Fund for Rural 

Development (EAFRD)++European Maritime and 
Fisheries Fund (EMFF) ++ Territorial  

Development ++ Sustainable Urban                      
Development ++ Community-Led Local 

Development (CLLD) ++ European Territorial 
Cooperation (ETC) ++ EU Programme for 

Employment and Social Innovation (EaSI) ++ 
Programme for Employment and Social

 Solidarity (PROGRESS) ++ European 
Employment Services (EURES) ++ Your First EURES 

Job ++ Microfinance and Social  
 Entrepreneurship Facility (MF/SE) ++ Fund for 

European Aid to the Most Deprived (FEAD) 
++ European Globalisation Adjustment Fund (EGF) 

++ Creative EuropE++ Erasmus+ 
++ Europe for Citizens ++ Erasmus for Young 

Entrepreneurs ++ Rights, Equality and
 Citizenship Programme ++ Justice Programme ++ 
Asylum and Migration Fund ++ Programme for the 

Environment and Climate Action (LIFE) ++ 
Connecting Europe Facility (CEF) Energy, 
Transport and Broadband Networks ++ 

Emergency aid instruments ++ Union Civil 
Protection Mechanism ++ European Union 
Solidarity Fund (EUSF) ++ HORIZON 2020 ++ 
Framework Programme for Research and 

Innovation ++ EU Health Programme ++ 

2 0 2 0 

25



This report was commissioned by the Greens/EFA Group in the European Parliament.

European Parliament
Rue Wiertz, 60
1047 Brussels
Belgium 

It was supported by the Green New Deal (www.greennewdeal.eu). 
February 2014

The FULL report is accessible at this website: www.greens-efa.eu/your-guide-to-eu-funding-11778.html

Project coordination: Simone Reinhart (The Greens/EFA Group, European Parliament)
Author: Jochen Eisenburger
Design & Layout: ImaginePlaces, Angela Koch

Picture credits: Photoservice of the European Parliament;Photos provided by Members of the European Parliament;
Page 2  © Photo by chrupka/Shutterstock (map only); Page 7 © Photo by Aleksan/Shutterstock; Page 13 © Photo by optimarc/
Shutterstock + Fingerprints by Undergroundarts.co.uk/Shuttershock; adapted by ImaginePlaces; Page 21 © Photo by auremar/
Shutterstock; Page 27 © Photo by Maridav/Shutterstock; Page 29 © Photo by James Newton/Lightwaves by Creatmosphere; 
Page 33 © Photo by VentduSus/Shutterstock; Page 35 © Photo by Diego Cervo/Shutterstock; Page 41 © Photo by Andrew Scher-
backov/Shutterstock; Page 43 © Photo by ImaginePlaces 2013; Page 45 © Photo by Jaromir Chalabala/Shutterstock; Page 47 © 
Photo by Christine Langer-Pueschel/Shutterstock
Type font: Veneer ©Yellow Design Studio

Disclaimer:
This document is optimised for online viewing only. Please consider the environment before printing.

26

www.greennewdeal.eu
www.greens-efa.eu/your-guide-to-eu-funding-11778.html
Undergroundarts.co.uk/Shuttershock


Foreword and Acknowledgements
As  Greens/EFA group we want to make Europe a good place to live for everyone while respecting the physical limits of our planet. 
This requires making the European Union a catalyst for sustainable investment. Investment in a green Europe, which makes its 
infrastructures the most resource- and energy-efficient and protects and restores its natural resources. Investment in a social 
Europe, which puts social protection, inclusiveness and cohesion at the heart of its goals. And investment in a learning and 
innovative Europe, able to invent, build and deploy solutions to the global challenges of this century. Transparency in planning and 
preparation and involvement of civil society in decisions on public investment are prerequisites for us. Only with such a Green New 
Deal will Europe get out of the crisis for good.

After all the legislative work was done, we felt the need to compile information on investment instruments and funding opportunities 
for the new generation of programmes and initiatives in order to see the full picture of EU funding for the years from 2014 to 2020.

You will be amazed to discover what can be done with European money for more sustainability and social inclusion!
We now look back on a long period of - sometimes painful - negotiations on the new regulations, in many cases for the first time on 
an equal footing with the Member States in the decision making process, and we were delighted to register considerable 
successes. More EU money than ever before is earmarked for sustainable projects. Close involvement of civil society including on 
local and regional level has been strengthened and responsibility and capacities of local and regional actors were underlined. 

Now it is time to act! And in order to put into practice what we achieved in our work in the European Parliament, we understood 
that we need to provide user-friendly information to those people who can play a role in preparing funding programmes, developing 
and implementing projects and making the best out of the new opportunities on national, regional and local level. We prepared this 
guide to EU funding which shall help accessing EU funds. We would like to transfer our experience from the negotiations to local 
and regional level actors, in particular Green local and regional councillors, stakeholders and partners. 

First and foremost, we thank our partners on the ground for their effort to take the adventure and go for a sustainable European 
project. We would also like to thank all colleagues and staff of the Greens/EFA group for their contributions, and we particularly 
appreciate the support from the working group Green New Deal. 

        Nikos Chrysogelos and Elisabeth Schroedter 
        Members of the European Parliament

ii

27



FOREWORD AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS      II
TABLE OF CONTENTS        III
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS        iV

1) iNTRODUCTION        1
 a) How to read this Guide      1
 b) What are EU funds?      1
 c) Key Improvements for Greener EU Spending    2

2) EU FUNDING by TARGET GROUP      5
 a) Local and Regional Councillors     5
 b) Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs)    6
 c) Young People       7
 
3) STEP-BY-STEP GUIDE TO YOUR EU-PROJECT     8
 a) Preliminary Considerations     8
 b) From Project Outline to Project Proposal    8
 c) Budget & Eligibility of Costs     9
 d) Further information on EU calls for proposals   9

4) EU FUNDING INSTRUMENTS BY THEMATIC FIELDS    10
 a) European Structural and Investment Funds (ESI-Funds)   10
  i)  Cohesion Policy - Investments in Growth and Jobs   10
  (1) European Regional Development Fund (ERDF)   11
  (2) European Social Fund (ESF)     14
  (a) Youth Employment Initiative (YEI)    15
  (3) Cohesion Fund      16
  ii)  Rural and Coastal Development    16
  (1) European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development (EAFRD)  16
  (2) European Maritime and Fisheries Fund (EMFF)   17
   iii)  Territorial Development     18
  (1) Sustainable Urban Development    19
  (2) Community-Led Local Development (CLLD)   19
    iv)  European Territorial Cooperation (ETC)    20

                  b) Employment and Social Policy     22
  i) EU programme for Employment and Social Innovation (EaSI)  22
  (1) Programme for Employment and Social Solidarity (PROGRESS) 22
  (2) European Employment Services (EURES)   23
  (3) Your First EURES Job     24
  (4) Microfinance and Social Entrepreneurship Facility (MF/SE)  24
  ii)  Fund for European Aid to the Most Deprived (FEAD)   25
  iii)  European Globalisation Adjustment Fund (EGF)   26
 c) Culture, Education, Youth      28
  i)     Creative Europe      28  
  ii)    Erasmus+       30  
  iii)   Europe for Citizens     32
  iv)   Erasmus for Young Entrepreneurs    34
 d) Civil Rights, Justice, Security     36  
  i)      Rights, Equality and Citizenship Programme   36  
  ii)    Justice Programme     38  
  iii)   Asylum and Migration Fund     38
 e) LIFE - Programme for the Environment and Climate Action  40
 f) Connecting Europe Facility (CEF) – 
      Energy, Transport and  Broadband Networks    42
 g) Emergency aid instruments     44
                    i)    Union Civil Protection Mechanism    44
  ii)   European Union Solidarity Fund (EUSF)    44
 h) HORIZON 2020 – Framework Programme for Research and Innovation 46
 i) EU Health Programme      48

5) FURTHER INFORMATION & CONTACT POINTS     49
 a) Contact Points       49
 b) Information on EU Calls for Proposals and Tenders:   49
 c) Partner Finding Tools      49

 

Ta
bl

e o
f C

on
te

nt
s 

iii

28



Lis
t o

f A
bb

re
via

tio
ns

iv

List of Abbreviations

CEF  Connecting Europe Facility
CLLD  Community-led Local Development
ESI-Funds  European Structural and Investment Funds
EAFRD  European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development
EaSI  EU Programme for Employment and Social Innovation
EGTC  European Grouping of Territorial Cooperation
EGF  European Globalisation Adjustment Fund
EIB  European Investment Bank
EIF  European Investment Fund 
ELENA   European Local Energy Assistance
EMFF  European Maritime and Fisheries Fund
ERDF  European Regional Development Fund
ESF  European Social Fund
ETC  European Territorial Cooperation
EU   European Union
EURES  European Employment Services
EUSF  European Union Solidarity Fund
FEAD  Fund for European Aid to the Most Deprived
FLAG   Fisheries Local Action Groups 
JASPERS   Joint Assistance in Supporting Projects in European Regions
JESSICA  Joint European Support for Sustainable Investment in City Areas
LEADER   Liaison Entre Actions de Développement de l’Économie Rurale
MF/SE  Microfinance and Social Entrepreneurship Facility
NGO  Non-governmental Organisation
NUTS  Nomenclature of Units for Territorial Statistics
PROGRESS  Programme for Employment and Social Solidarity
SME  Small and Medium-sized Enterprise
YEI  Youth Employment Initiative

29



Yo
ur

 M
EP

s w
or

kin
g o

n E
U F

un
din

g 

30



  1
1) Introduction

The European Union (EU) allocates considerable financial 
resources to projects and actions that are related to EU 
policies and their implementation. This money is used for 
investments in a broad spectrum of areas, such as sustaina-
ble economic development, decent work, research & innova-
tion, education, culture, health and environmental protection. 
Whereas some funds are allocated to EU Member States, 
where national or regional authorities implement them, other 
funds are distributed and managed directly by the European 
Commission.

At the end of 2013, the European Parliament and the 
Council of the European Union came to an agreement on the 
budget for the EU for the next 7 years (2014-2020). A huge 
part of this new budgetary plan, with a total amount of 960 
billion €, is used for EU funding instruments, programmes 
and initiatives. Parallel to the negotiations on the multiannual 
budget 2014-2020, as well the EU’s investment programmes 
and funding instruments have been redesigned. 

In the last two years, the European Parliament and the 
Member States reviewed, in cooperation with the European 
Commission, the strategic outline of these programmes, 
adapted them to current social, economic and environmental 
challenges and set new thematic priorities for the upcoming 
7 years of EU investments.The Greens/EFA group in the 
European Parliament played an active role in the nego-
tiations of the Multiannual Financial Framework and the 
revision of the EU funds for the period 2014-2020. We 
advocated for more sustainable, integrative, environmental 
and climate friendly, transparent and simplified EU funding 
programmes.

This year, the implementation of the new programmes 
begins. We want to ensure that our achievements during the 
negotiations on the new programme strategies do actually 
deploy a change towards more Green EU investments on 
the level of implementation. With this guide we seek to 
provide local and regional actors, as well as young people, 
user-friendly information on how to access EU funding 
opportunities for your own projects and ideas. 

This documents follows 3 key objectives:

 3 It gives our local and regional Green stakeholders, namely 
local and regional councillors and non-governmental  organ-
isations (NGOs), an insight into the functioning of   the huge 
variety of EU funds.

 3 It provides young people in the EU with information on 
how they can directly benefit from Europe by taking part in 
one of the numerous EU programmes.

 3 It offers guidance on how to set-up your own EU project.

a) How to read this Guide
Chapter 2 gives a brief overview of EU funding opportunities 
adapted to specific target groups. Here you will find a summa-
ry of the most important information on your eligibility for EU 
funds, plus relevant programmes for your field of work.
 
Chapter 3 offers a step-by-step guide to your EU project. 
This serves as a guide, from the very first considerations to 
be made, to the important aspects of your project proposal 
and budgetary planning. 

Chapter 4 is written in the format of a reference book. It will 
give you a comprehensive overview of EU funds for the 
period 2014-2020 divided into thematic fields. Here you will 
find brief explanations of the different EU programmes and 
suggestions on where to find further information.

b) What are EU funds?                                                                                              
The EU funds can roughly be divided into three types:            
structural and investment funds, programmes and initiatives 
and third country funds. Whilst the first two types are 
allocated internally within the EU, the latter particularly 
addresses actions outside the EU. This guide addresses ex-
plicitly only the first two types of funding – EU funds invested 
within the EU. The types of financing from the EU budget 
can vary. EU funds are mostly allocated through grants 
awarded on the basis of calls for proposals, in which differ-
ent actors compete for the support of the EU. Two types of 
grants can be distinguished: action grants for projects with a 

limited lifetime during which proposed specific activities are 
implemented;
and operating grants providing financial support for the 
regular work and  activities of an organisation.
Furthermore, EU institutions award public contracts, which 
are awarded through calls for tenders to buy services, goods 
or works that ensure the operations of the EU institutions 
and their programmes. Eventually, several other types of 
financing by EU funds exists, such as direct subsidies or 
indirect funding through intermediary bodies in the form of 
loans, risk capital, seed funding, subsidies, etc.

Another aspect to differentiate between the EU funds is 
their respective management structure. In some cases the 
European Commission manages the funds itself, i.e. the 
responsible department (Directorate General) or external 
agency publishes calls for proposals that invite candidates 
to present project proposals, selects projects, monitors the 
implementation and evaluates the outcome. 

In other cases, the implementation of the funds are            
delegated to the EU’s Member States, which then designate 
national or regional managing authorities. This is called 
shared management, because the Commission only super-
vises the implementation of funds, but the Member State 
takes responsibility for the management. This is especially 
the case for the European Structural and Investment Funds. 
The calls for proposals are published by the national or 
regional managing authorities on the basis of operational 
programmes, which outline the investment strategy of each 
fund or priority. This takes into consideration national or 
regional needs and challenges.

1) 
 In

tr
od

uc
tio

n
31

investments.The


2
c) Key Improvements for Greener EU Spending

The Greens/EFA group regrets that, for the first time in the 
EU’s history, the multi-annual budget 2014-2020 shrinks in 
real terms – an 85 billion Euro cut over the next seven years 
– and that the EU budget continues to depend on national 
contribution, without any possibilities to increase its own 
resources. Nevertheless, the stronger role of the European 
Parliament in the negotiations of the funding programmes 
allowed the Greens/EFA group to steer the review of the EU 
funds into a more environmental, climate friendly, socially 
oriented and inclusive direction. Although we still see room 
for improvement in numerous policy areas, we wish to share 
our successes with you and explain key improvements for 
Greener EU spending 2014-2020.

The EU agreed in the new budget that at least 20% of the 
960 billion € will be spent on climate change related actions. 
In order to achieve this target, climate change is main-
streamed into the most important EU spending areas. Fur-
thermore, an increased contribution of the budget directed at 
gender equality is a declared goal of EU investments. 

A central claim of the Greens/EFA group throughout the ne-
gotiations of the different funding instruments has been the 
establishment of strong provisions on horizontal principles, 
in order to ensure a more prominent role to gender equality, 
non-discrimination, sustainable development and climate 
action in the implementation of EU Funds.

Furthermore, the involvement of civil society and NGOs as 
partners for EU funding in a variety of fields, such as social 
inclusion, environmental action, cultural exchange, research 
or women’s rights, has been a major issue for our political 
work.
 
The European Structural and Investment Funds (ESI-
Funds), which represent the largest part of the EU budget, 
have been subject to reforms leading to a genuine    
“Greening” of Cohesion Policy and ensuring a more 
sustainable and participative planning and implementation of 
investments in local and regional development, low-carbon 
economies, employment and social inclusion. The Greens/

  

1) 
 In

tr
od

uc
tio

n

333 GROWING GREENER!  
© Map By chrupka/Shutterstock

32



  3
EFA group’s political work for ‘Investments in people not 
highways’ bear fruit: the share of ESI-Funds for investments 
in decent work, the fight against poverty and exclusion, as 
well as anti-discrimination measures will take a stronger role 
than in the previous period. 

The new Cohesion Fund and European Regional Develop-
ment Fund should also offer a variety of Green investment 
opportunities: minimum shares ensure that more money than 
ever will be invested in the promotion of renewable energies 
and energy efficiency. Although we were not successful 
in excluding investments into large-scale road projects 
completely, we managed to prevent fossil fuel infrastructures 
as well as nuclear power plants from funding opportunities. 
Because of our long-standing pressure, consultations with 
regional and local authorities, economic and social partners 
as well as civil society and NGOs are now an obligation and 
pre-requisite for programmes and projects. 

The Greens/EFA group in the European Parliament has 
been tirelessly advocating for EU support to those Member 
States and regions that are most affected by rocketing youth 
unemployment. Already in our Youth report in 2009 we 
called for earmarking EU funding for Youth Employment, 
which has finally been realised by assigning 3 billion € of 
the European Social Fund and additional 3 billion € of a 
separate budget line to Youth Employment.

The Partnership Principle is an important element of the ESI-
Funds, which is underpinned  by a legally 
binding  European Code of Conduct on Partnerships 
and sets out a set of requirements for the involvement of 
partners. This principle shall ensure that regional and local 
authorities, social and economic partners, as well as civil 
society and NGOs are actively involved in the strategic 
planning and decision-making for the preparation, 
implementation, monitoring and evaluation of funding 
programmes. 

Get involved! Europe needs to benefit from the local      
knowledge, expertise and experience in all steps of the     
implementation of EU funds and make the Union’s invest-
ments as transparent as possible. First experiences from 
different regions show certain deficiencies and 
shortcomings in the application of the partnership principle. 
For this reason, we want to encourage you to claim your 
right for participation in your region and get actively involved 
in the implementation of ESI-Funds. 

Another instrument for stronger involvement and                
empowerment of actors on the local level is the new 
Community-led Local Development approach. Based on pre-
vious experience, this bottom-up approach for the implemen-
tation of ESI-funds gives local actors in rural, coastal and 
urban areas the opportunity to design their own development 
strategies and develop their own projects with support of 
the EU.

In the field of rural development, the Greens/EFA group in 
the European Parliament was able to make a difference in 
the negotiations with regards to the following: NGOs, local 
development networks and rural enterprises remain eligible 
for most of the support from the European Agricultural Fund 
for Rural Development (EAFRD); 30% of the EAFRD for 
the period 2014-2020 will be invested in a list of measure 
that includes organic farming and agricultural environment; 
cooperation projects for short food chains are included in 
the funded activities. The Greens/EFA group was able to 
prevent the new Programme for Employment and Social 
Innovation  becoming a purely labour market oriented tool: 
we succeeded in giving  the fight against poverty and the 
promotion of social inclusion a prominent role, makeing 
funding available for small scale projects and steer support  
towards young unemployed. The European Parliament, 
including the Greens/EFA group as one of the driving forces, 
achieved a broader access to investments into culture and 
media under the Creative Europe Programme. Furthermore, 
we were able to protect funding opportunities for smaller 
scale projects and safeguard a more active promotion of 
cultural and linguistic diversity.

The Greens/EFA group campaigned actively for an 
extension of the Europe for Citizens 
programme. We consider it to play an important role 
for a more democratic and participative Union. It is a 
missed opportunity that the budget and the scope of 
actions of the programme are cut back in the current 
period. We consider the available budget as being too 
little with regards to the huge potentials of this type of 
support.

As regards the redesign of the LIFE Programme for 
the Environment and Climate Action, two aspects 
are worth highlighting as Green successes: Firstly, in 
the new period, the selection of project funding will 
be based on merits, and not on a prefixed National 
allocation. This allows a more effective use of EU 
money for projects with the most relevant effects on 
environmental protection and climate adaptation/
mitigation. Secondly, projects in the field of biodiversity 
will receive higher co-financing from the Commission, 
thus making it easier to realise biodiversity projects, for 
which it was difficult to receive additional funding.

In the negotiations on the design of the new            
HORIZON 2020 Framework Programme for invest-
ments in research and innovation, the Greens/EFA 
group in the European Parliament was able to achieve 
modifications in a broad spectrum of fields. We 
successfully integrated multi-disciplinarity approaches, 
social sciences and achieved a more participation 
with citizens, end-users, civil society and public sector 
organisations across the whole programme. The 
programme supports eco-innovation in a large range 
of fields, both at local and international level and due 
to our initiative scientific publications resulting from 
HORIZON 2020 funding will be publicly accessible. 
We want to encourage all types of actors from civil 
society, social businesses and SMEs as well as local 
and regional authorities to get actively involved in the 
development of eco-innovative ideas and good project. 1) 

 In
tr

od
uc

tio
n
33

diversity.The
diversity.The


4
2) EU Funding by Target Group

This chapter gives you an overview of EU funding. The most 
important funding tools are synthesised on a few pages per 
target group.

a) Local and Regional Councillors
The EU acknowledges that local and regional stakeholders 
are important actors for change. The new period of EU funds 
offers ample opportunity for public actors at the local and 
regional level to initiate and implement projects and actions 
on the local level. Support may include measures, such as 
capacity building, funding of programmes for decent work, 
social inclusion and anti-discrimination, the establishment of 
local sustainable development initiatives, or investments into 
local infrastructures.

ESI-Funds offer the most important funding opportunities for 
local and regional councillors. These funds share a common 
catalogue of principles for their implementation (Common 
Provisions Regulation) and the scope of actions in every 
region (and Member State) are specified in operational 
programmes.

A primary aim of the European Regional Development Fund 
is the promotion of sustainable growth, reinforcing economic, 
social and territorial cohesion. It offers funding in a broad 
spectrum of fields, for example investments in local infra-
structures (e.g. energy efficiency projects in public buildings) 
and development of strategies in the field of sustainable 
urban development (e.g. sustainable urban mobility concepts 
or CO2-reduction strategies).

The European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development and 
the European Maritime and Fisheries Fund offer support to 
rural and coastal communities to meet their economic, social 
and environmental challenges. Public bodies can become 
beneficiaries for EAFRD or EMFF investments in order to 
implement measures for poverty reduction, social inclusion 
and advisory services for farmers/fishers and entrepreneurs 
in the area.

The European Social Fund promotes modernisation of public 
services and the strengthening of institutional capacities. 
Furthermore, it funds projects for equal access to education, 
supports the work of employment services and the fight 
against youth unemployment.

The CLLD mechanism gives local councillors in rural, coastal 
or urban areas the possibility to engage more actively with 
local stakeholders. This instrument offers support for the es-
tablishment of comprehensive local development strategies 
in bottom-up approaches and provides financial assistance 
for the implementation of planned projects.

For the first time, Member States, are obliged to invest 5% of 
the European Regional Development Fund into sustainable 
urban development, i.e. European cities will receive financial 
support to meet social, economic, ecological, demographic 
and climate challenges. While in some Member States and 
regions these cities are already pre-defined in the opera-
tional programmes of the European Regional Development 
Fund, others organise competitions for sustainable urban 
development projects. 

The field of European Territorial Cooperation offers support 
for cooperation amongst municipalities. It opens up oppor-
tunities for the exchange of good practices and the devel-
opment of initiatives in a variety of fields, such as culture, 
sustainable tourism, or sustainable urban mobility. 
Important institutions for the realisation of regional projects 
funded by the ESI-Funds are the EU’s special support in-
struments JASPERS, JESSICA and ELENA. These support 
instruments offer assistance in the preparation phase of 
major projects, urban development projects and investments 
in sustainable energy.

Further EU funds that are potentially of interest for local 
and regional councillors are offered on the European level, 
directly managed by the European Commission. These pro-
grammes generally aim to support projects with a European 
dimension.

The EU programme for Employment and Social Innovation 
promotes the development and testing of innovative tools 
and approaches in the employment and social policy sector. 
The Programme for Employment and Social Solidarity can 
offer training to public bodies for the better application of EU 
law. Under the EURES programme employment services 
can benefit from cooperation partnerships and the use of 
EU-wide support-tools for job seekers.

The Fund for European Aid to the Most Deprived offers 
assistance for the implementation of local and regional sup-
port schemes, providing food to the most deprived persons, 
clothing and other essential goods to the homeless and to 
materially-deprived children. Assistance might also address 
accompanying measures, such as activities aiming at the 
social integration or actions to make more efficient use of 
local food supply chains.

The Europe for Citizens Programme supports town twin-
ning projects and networks of towns in order to promote 
the democratic engagement and civic participation in EU 
policy-making. 

The Rights, Equality and Citizenship Programme offers 
local and regional public actors the chance to participate 
in networking activities at the European level amongst 
bodies specialised in EU citizens rights, gender equality 
and anti-discrimination measures. Furthermore, actors can 
benefit from training activities, including staff exchanges or 
train-the-trainer events. The same applies for the Justice 
Programme in the field of Victim Rights and Drug Prevention 
and Information Programmes. The Asylum and Migration 
Programme provides support to local and regional authori-
ties for the integration of different types of immigrants.

The LIFE Programme can support municipalities in the 
implementation of projects for environmental protection, 
climate action and related issues, such as reduction of noise 
or the promotion of a circular economy. Additionally, LIFE 
offers the opportunity to support the cooperation of public 
authorities on prevention measures as so-called integrated 
projects.2) 

 Ta
rg

et
 Gr

ou
ps

 

34



  5Partnership Principle  - a new opportunity for                        
involvement in regional and local development

The Partnership Principle, underlined by a legally binding 
European Code of Conduct on Partnership, is a new 
element of the ESI-Funds. This ensures that regional and 
local authorities, social and economic partners, as well as 
civil society and NGOs are actively involved in the stra-
tegic planning and decision-making for the preparation, 
implementation, monitoring and evaluation of funding 
programmes. The Greens/EFA group in the European 
Parliament believes that the key for sustainable 
development lies in the regions and local communities. 
The active involvement and empowerment of local 
societies is a strong added value for the elaboration and 
implementation of development strategies.  We want to 
encourage you to not only involve in the implementation 
of ESI-Funds as beneficiaries, but to participate as 
partners in the monitoring and evaluation on regional 
and local level. This can take place in the context of 
monitoring committees as well as in the context of local 
development approach, so called community-led local 
development (CLLD). CLLD is a bottom-up method for 
the implementation of ESI-Funds that allows a stronger 
involvement and empowerment of stakeholder in rural, 
coastal and urban communities. Based on previous 
experience, this bottom-up approach for the implemen-
tation of ESI-funds gives local actors the opportunity to 
design their own development strategies and develop 
their own projects with support of the EU. At the time of  
publication of this Guide (February 2014) the drafting and  
negotiations of the Operational Programmes for the 
implementation of the ESI-Funds in the regions is still 
on-going. The success of the reforms of the Funds de-
pends very much on their implementation and active use 
in the field.  Therefore we encourage you to:

Engage in the drafting process of your                  
regional managing authority

Contact the Commission in case of disregard of 
rules by your authorities

Pressure the Commission to insist on the         
respect of horizontal principles (gender  2) 

 Ta
rg

et
 Gr

ou
ps

 

The newly designed HORZION 2020 Programme for 
investments in research and innovation integrates a closer 
participation of citizens, end-users, civil society and public 
sector organisations. The most important funding opportuni-
ties for local authorities can be found under the programme 
strands Societal Challenges and Science in Society.

The Union Civil Protection Mechanism is a EU instrument to 
promote more effective systems for preventing and respond-
ing to natural and man-made disasters. For local authorities 
this instrument is interesting as regards measures for 
preparedness and prevention of disaster.

Further information
The Committee of the Regions is the official body for the 
representation of the European regions in the EU. You can 
find on its webpage further information on EU activities in the 
regions and contact information to your regional represent-
atives.

 3 http://cor.europa.eu/en/Pages/home.aspx 

The European Innovation Partnership for Smart Cities 
and Communities is a platform for the development and 
exchange of innovative solutions to the major environmental, 
societal and health challenges facing European cities today.

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/eip/smartcities/ 

Local Councillors Network of the European Green Party

 3 http://europeangreens.eu/local-councillors-network 

The Covenant of Mayors is a Europe-wide association 
of local and regional authorities voluntarily committing to 
increasing energy efficiency and use of renewable energy 
sources on their territories:

 3 http://www.covenantofmayors.eu/index_en.html 

b) Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs)
NGOs are active in almost all fields of society and accord-
ingly involve in most of the areas that are covered by EU 
funding activities. Therefore, NGOs are eligible to a vast part 

of EU funding instruments, of which only the most important 
tools will be highlighted in this section.

Which organisations fall under the definition of NGO?
The definition of NGOs is not very clear, because it is not a 
legal term. What organisations are considered to be NGOs 
or civil society organisations in the field of EU funding is only 
specified in the specific calls for proposals. However, the 
Commission offers in the “Beginners Guide to EU funding” a 
list of common characteristics of NGOs, which shall help to 
identify yourself as a NGO:

“NGOs are not created to generate profit (although they may 
have paid employees and engage in revenue-generating 
activities, they do not distribute profits to members);
NGOs are voluntary;
NGOs must have some degree of formal or institutional 
existence (e.g. statutes or other governing document setting 
out their mission, objectives and scope) as they are account-
able to their members and donors;
NGOs are independent, in particular of government, public 
authorities, political parties or commercial organisations;
NGOs are not self-serving in aims and related values: their 
aim is to serve the public as a whole or specific groups of 
people.” 

 (European Commission, 2012: Beginners Guide to EU funding, p. 12)

NGOs are eligible for two different types of EU funding: 
action grants and operational grants
Action grants provide NGOs with funding for projects with a 
limited lifetime during which proposed specific activities are 
implemented. These can be projects of European dimension 
with the aim to create European added value or projects in 
the context of national, regional or local context, which e.g. 
encourage sustainable development, create decent work, or 
promote social inclusion. Operating grants provide financial 
support for the regular activities of a civil-society organisation. 
These grants are provided on the basis of an analysis of the 
organisation’s objectives, scope of activities and their compat-
ibility with the general European interest and EU policy.

5

35

http://cor.europa.eu/en/Pages/home.aspx
http://ec.europa.eu/eip/smartcities
http://europeangreens.eu/local
http://www.covenantofmayors.eu/index_en.html


6
Most important EU funding opportunities for NGOs 

As mentioned above, civil society and non-governmental 
organisations can play a more prominent role in the EU fund-
ing period 2014-2020: more funding programmes include 
NGOs as beneficiaries, and the Partnership Principle as 
well as CLLD approach build the ground for a more active 
involvement of NGOs in the implementation, monitoring and 
decision-making on the ESI-Funds on regional and local 
level. Furthermore, NGOs are for the first time explicitly 
included as potential beneficiaries of technical assistance, 
which aims at  the development of the necessary institutional 
capacity for the implementation of the programmes. 

The European Social Fund offers the most attractive funding 
opportunities of all European Structural and Investment 
Funds for the support of NGOs. In the new period, the 
funding activities will pay more attention to the fight against 
poverty and exclusion, and anti-discrimination measures. 
Simplified funding procedures will make it easier for small 
NGOs to apply for project support. 

A central EU instrument for support of NGOs is the Europe 
for Citizens programme. It provides operating grants for 
NGOs that are active in the fields of European remembrance 
and citizens’ participation in the democratic life of the EU. 
Furthermore, Europe for Citizens helps NGOs to realize 
projects for a broad spectrum of EU-related activities that 
gather citizens and empower them for participation in the EU 
policy-making process. 

The Programme for Employment and Social Solidarity sup-
ports the development, testing and rollout of new solutions 
to current socio-economic challenges in the EU Member 
States. It provides operating grants to NGOs and networks 
that are active in the promotion of social inclusion and 
poverty reduction. 
The sub-programme Culture (part of the Creative Europe 
Programme) supports bodies active at the European level in 
the field of culture and promotes special actions designed to 
stimulate intercultural dialogue and mutual understanding in 
the EU. These actions are supposed to make the richness 
and diversity of European cultures more visible. 

The new Asylum and Migration Fund covers the support of 
actions in relation to asylum, legal migration and the integra-
tion of third-country nationals, as well as return operations.  
NGOs are generally eligible as beneficiaries, further details 
depend on the more specific national programmes for the 
implementation of the fund. We want to encourage NGOs 
to involve actively in the elaboration of these programmes 
and push Member States to devote higher importance to the 
support and integration of refugees.The LIFE Programme for 
the Environment and Climate action is an important funding 
tool for Environmental NGO. It offers in its two strands En-
vironment and Climate Action operational as well as action 
grants.

The newly designed HORZION 2020 Programme for invest-
ments in research and innovation integrates a closer partic-
ipation of citizens, end-users, civil society and public sector 
organisations. The most important funding opportunities for 
NGOs can be found under the programme strands Societal 
Challenges and Science in Society. Nonetheless, NGOs 
may also actively seek to participate under the Industrial 
leadership programmes, where activities should be funded to 
ensure better integrating society’s concern.

Central NGO platforms on European level:
The European Youth Forum is the platform of 99 youth organ-
isations in Europe

 3 http://www.youthforum.org

The Green 10

 3 http://www.green10.org

Social Platform - The Platform of European Social NGOs 

 3 http://www.socialplatform.org 

European Anti- Poverty Network

 3 http://www.eapn.eu/en 

European Network Against Racism

 3 http://www.enar-eu.org 

c) Young People : Erasmus+

Erasmus+ is a new framework programme for EU funding in 
the areas of education and training, youth and sport, which 
integrates the most popular EU programmes for young peo-
ple: Erasmus, Leonardo and Youth in Action. Erasmus+ is 
supposed to provide support to over four million Europeans 
for their studies, training, work experience or volunteer work 
abroad in the next seven years. 

Leonardo da Vinci provides opportunities for young people 
in vocational education and training to gain work experience 
abroad allowing them to learn new skills or languages. You 
can undertake a traineeship or apprenticeship in a company, 
a public organisation, an NGO, or a vocational education 
institution with periods of work-based learning in a company. 
Your stay abroad may last from two weeks to a year.

Erasmus supports students to spend parts of their 
studies abroad for three to twelve months (including a                      
complementary traineeship period, if planned). Students can 
benefit from Erasmus support for each study cycle (Bache-
lor, Master and doctoral level).

The Youth in Action Programme gives you the opportunity 
to take part in youth-exchanges and voluntary placements 
abroad. Funding is available for groups of young people from 
different countries meeting for a short period of time (one to 
three weeks) to attend a non-formal learning programme and 
for young people volunteering in different countries through 
the European Voluntary Service for periods of between two 
weeks and twelve months.

Three new funding instruments that address young people 
are Your First EURES Job, Erasmus for Young Entrepre-
neurs and Student Loan Guarantee Facility

Your first EURES Job is a new programme that offers young 
people aged 18-30 information and guidance on traineeships 
and apprenticeship placements in the EU, and on jobs in 
sectors that face a shortage in workforce.
 Furthermore, this programme can provide you with money 
for your travel expenses to your job interview abroad or 2) 

 Ta
rg

et
 Gr

ou
ps36

refugees.The
http://www.youthforum.org
http://www.green10.org
http://www.socialplatform.org
http://www.eapn.eu/en
http://www.enar-eu.org


  7

3  Local & Regional Councillors
3  NGOs

3  Young People

your moving abroad to take up a new job. Under certain 
conditions, you can receive as well language training and 
soft skill seminars. The implementation of the programme is 
managed by your regional or national employment service 
that participates in the EURES programmes.

The Erasmus for Young Entrepreneurs Programme is 
designed to provide assistance to young entrepreneurs 
who are planning their own business. It offers help by 
financing an Erasmus stay abroad in order to learn from an 
experienced host entrepreneur running a small business. 
In order to participate in this programme, you need to be in 
possession of a viable business plan, or be still in the phase 
of planning it, or you might have already started your own 
business and are not longer in operation than three years. 
The programme is open to all sectors.

The Student Loan Guarantee Facility is a new instrument in 
the field of education and training that aims at facilitating for 
students the participation in a Masters programme abroad 
by making a loan available that covers parts of the costs. It 
ensures at participating banks and loan agencies favourable 
conditions, such as better than market interest rates and 
up to two years to allow graduates to get into a job before 
beginning repayment.

Further information
The European Youth Portal offers all information on offers 
and opportunities for young people across Europe:

 3 http://europa.eu/youth/splash_en 

Eurodesk is the main provider of information on European 
policies and opportunities for young people and those who 
work with them:

 3  http://www.eurodesk.org/edesk/ 

2) 
 Ta

rg
et

 Gr
ou

pS
 

© Aleksan/Shutterstock // Adapted by ImaginePlaces 

7

37

http://europa.eu/youth/splash_en
http://www.eurodesk.org/edesk


8
3) Step-by-Step guide to your EU-project

This chapter gives you guidance for the development of your 
own EU project. It explains the central aspects that need to 
be considered before the submission of a project proposal, 
leading you through the important steps in the elaboration 
process. 

This guide in non-exhaustive and can only provide a first 
understanding of how to start a EU project. In the last sec-
tion, you will find links to sources that provide you with more 
detailed information on the development of a EU project. In 
this guide, the term “EU project” is understood as a project 
that is implemented with the financial support of the EU. 

The EU is allocating its financial grants in form of calls for 
proposal. Depending on the programme, these are pub-
lished once or several times a year. Usually, an annual work 
programme specifies the thematic priorities of the calls, 
which will be published. These documents allow actors to 
begin preparation of an application prior to the publication 
of the call. For a successful application for EU funding, it 
is important to receive information on the calls as soon as 
possible. Where to find this information is further explained 
at the end of this section.

 a) Preliminary Considerations
As a first step in the development of a EU project, and prior 
to the decision to apply for EU project funding, you should 
make certain preliminary considerations. These 
considerations include your general precondition to be 
eligible as a beneficiary for EU funds and the cost-benefit 
balance of the implementation of your project.

General preconditions for the implementation of a EU 
project, usually include sufficient expertise in the area of 
intervention and financial independence. The project call 
will give further specifications concerning the financial and 
content-related capacities of beneficiaries. Another condition 
for funding is that the organisation exists for at least three 
years and is in possession of sufficient own resources to 
guarantee the pre-financing of the project. 

Thus, the foundation of an organisation in order to imple-
ment a EU project is not possible.
The financial incentives for the implementation of a EU pro-
ject depend very much on the size and eligible costs of the 
specific project - the larger the size and the duration of the 
project, the higher are the eligible staff and material costs. 
Even though EU projects are quite popular amongst organ-
isations, you should be conscious of their considerably high 
administrative costs, which often cause additional personnel 
costs. Furthermore, in case of delays with the payment, your 
organisation must be able to bridge the period of delay with 
own resources.

Another important aspect for the planning of a project 
proposal, which is often underestimated, is the choice of 
the right programme. Some EU funds cover similar thematic 
fields and overlap in the supported activities. Therefore, it is 
important to clarify prior to the drafting of a project proposal, 
whether the funding instrument addresses rather actions on 
a regional/national context, or focuses on the creation of a 
European added value. In principle, one project idea can be 
used for the elaboration of two different proposals. However, 
in order to have a realistic prospect of success, it is impor-
tant to adapt the proposals to the respective programme’s 
objectives. A general guideline for the choice of programmes 
is the principle of speciality, i.e. the programme that address-
es a topic more specifically, should take priority.

Certain programmes, usually those managed directly by the 
European Commission, require the co-operation of a Euro-
pean partner organisation. However, finding a reliable and 
competent partner is not always a straightforward exercise. 
If you wish to avoid hours of online research using internet 
search engines, you can sometimes find project partners 
listed on the official website of the programme. Other ways 
to find project partners include participation in European 
conferences on topics of interest and the use of more recent 
search tools, Facebook and LinkedIN. 

b) From Project Outline to Project Proposal

The second step for the development of a EU project is the 
drafting of a project outline. It should be no longer than a 
few pages and should include the following sub-categories: 
project title, applicant/lead partner, objectives, planned 
activities, target group, financial planning, and contact ad-
dress. This outline helps to make a loose idea more precise, 
serving as a clear format to share with potential partners and 
a useful layout when seeking advice from helpdesks. 

The project proposal itself should only be written after the 
publication of a call for proposals and the thorough reading 
of the conditions for participation and thematic focus of the 
call. The drafting of a project proposal is a time-consuming 
exercise and a task that can keep a single person busy for 
weeks. You should, therefore, either start your proposal  
early or consider dividing the work between a team of 
people.

Of course, the application form can have different lay-
outs, but will always ask for similar information and all the 
information on the form must be completed. Most of the EU 
programmes make use of the so-called eForm, which is an 
online application tool that replaces written applications.
The most important elements of a project proposal are the 
description of actions to be performed and the expected 
results of the actions. The outline of actions that are not 
covered by the programme, too few actions or not enough 
innovative actions can lead to a rejection of the proposal. 
Further elements with high importance are the budget and 
the work plan, both of which should comprehensibly reflect 
the actions and expected results. It is crucial to understand) 
key terms of project proposals:

3) 
 St

ep
-b

y-
St

ep
 gu

id
e

38



  9

3) 
 St

ep
-b

y-
St

ep
 gu

id
e

 3 Aim of the project: a statement of quantified                    
requirements so that the project can be regarded as success-
fully implemented. The aim should include information about 
the delivered quality in relation to the planned timeframe and 
the budget plan. 

 3 Project actions: specific measures that are implemented 
in the course of the project, such as workshops,  the publica-
tion of a book or the development of a new curriculum for an 
educational programme. These are the central element of the 
proposal.

 3 Expected Results: results of the project actions. They 
can be of material (road construction, educational material, 
organisation of a conference) or immaterial nature (manage-
ment-skills, exchange of experiences, sensitisation).

 3 European added value: this is generally understood as pro-
jects of transnational character that create a social, cultural, 
economic or other advantage for as many regions as possi-
ble. For this purpose the dissemination and communication of 
project results and best practices play an important role. 

 3 Sustainability: sustainability is a core value of EU funding, 
which shall ensure that project achievements continue to exist 
after the end of the project period without additional funding.

A very helpful tool for a structured project development is 
the Logical Framework Approach, often abbreviated as 
Logframe. This official tool allows a schematic visualisation 
of all elements necessary for a consistent project proposal, in 
one matrix. It requests certain information for each cell, such 
as the justification of the project, the result indicators, the 
assumptions and risks. The Logframe is compulsory for the 
application for EU development aid funds, but its use can be 
recommended as well for all other project proposals.
Make sure that you submit the proposal before the deadline 
ends and that your application includes all the requested 
documents.

c) Budget & Eligibility of Costs

Certain general rules for EU funding as regards the eligibility 
of costs should be considered in the financial planning and 
budget calculation.

The costs for the preparation of a project are usually not 
eligible for EU funding. Only the lifelong learning programme 
includes the funding of preparatory meetings of project 
partners. 

All costs related to the implementation of the specific project, 
such as the purchase of equipment, office material, the 
renting of facilities, insurance costs and communication 
costs are potentially eligible as indirect project cost. You 
should keep in mind that when purchasing an item, it has to 
be depreciated corresponding to the period of use and only 
the portion of costs of the period of use is eligible. 
The personnel costs have to include all related costs, i.e. not 
only the gross salary, but as well the employer’s contribution 
to social security, further taxes and charges, holidays and 
special payments. The work of volunteers does not have any 
effect on EU co-financing. Further types of costs that can be 
covered by EU funding are travel costs, daily rates for food 
and accommodation, as well as costs for subcontracting, 
e.g. for interpreting services. Most of the project funds do 
not cover 100% of the costs, but co-finance a certain share. 
The maximum co-financing rates as well as more specific 
rules on the eligibility of costs are specified in each call for 
proposal.

d) Further information on EU calls for proposals
The most important websites for EU calls for proposals is 
the Tenders Electronic Daily. It presents information about 
every EU procurement document, it is updated on a daily 
basis with public procurement notices from the European 
Union, and it allows you to search for procurement by sector, 
country and region.

 3 http://ted.europa.eu/TED/misc/chooseLanguage.do 

Furthermore, the official websites of the Programmes or the 
responsible Directorate General’s website publish informa-
tion on their planned, on-going and closed procurements. 
The Commission has one central website, which provides 
you with a list of links to the different thematic fields:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/contracts_grants/grants_en.htm

Another way to remain up to date about the publication of 
calls for proposal is the subscription to newsletters of the 
institutions that work in the field of interest. Furthermore, 
several private organisations offer professional information 
services on EU project calls.

Partner Finding Tools

Otlas is an online partner finding tool for international 
projects in the youth field. Organisations can register their 
contact details and areas of interest in Otlas, and also create 
partner requests for project ideas.

 3 https://www.salto-youth.net/tools/otlas-partner-finding/

Most of the official websites of the EU funding programmes 
offer a partner finding tool. 
E.g.: Directorat General for Education and Culture offers for 
its programmes in the field of education (Erasmus, Comeni-
us, etc.) a project partner search:

 3 http://llp.teamwork.fr/partner_search/partner_search.php

LinkedIn EU Projects Partner Search:

 3 https://www.linkedin.com/groups/EU-Projects-Partner-
Search-2842114

Facebook Partner Search for EU & International Projects

 3 https://www.facebook.com/groups/Partnersearch/?fref=ts

39

http://ted.europa.eu/TED/misc/chooseLanguage.do
http://ec.europa.eu/contracts_grants/grants_en.htm
https://www.salto-youth.net/tools/otlas
http://llp.teamwork.fr/partner_search/partner_search.php
https://www.linkedin.com/groups/EU
https://www.facebook.com/groups/Partnersearch/?fref=ts


10
4) EU Funding Instruments by thematic fields

This section will give you an overview of the broad spectrum 
of EU funds for the period 2014 - 2020. They are ordered by 
thematic field, so you can directly go to the section, which is 
linked to your field of work and interest.

Each section begins with general information on the 
respective EU fund and an outline of important 
achievements of the Greens/EFA group in the European 
Parliament during the negotiations of the new programming 
period. In addition, the supported activities, the implementa-
tion method and the general eligibility are briefly described.

a)  European Structural and Investment     
      Funds (ESI-Funds)
In the period 2014 - 2020, the EU has bundled its struc-
tural funds and main investment instruments in one                      
regulatory framework: the Common Provisions Regulation. 
This framework sets common rules for the Union’s largest 
funds, the Cohesion Policy investments in growth and jobs 
and the regional development tools of the agricultural and 
fisheries funds, in order to better coordinate the use of funds, 
increase synergies and simplify their implementation.

i)  Cohesion Policy - Investments in Growth and Jobs
The economic and social situation varies significantly 
between the 271 regions of the EU. The main objective of 
the EU’s Cohesion Policy is to reduce these divergences by 
promoting job creation, competitiveness and sustainable and 
inclusive economic growth. In order to achieve these targets, 
the EU invests more than a third of its budget, roughly 325 
billion €, during the course of the next seven years. These 
investments are directed at European regions, citizens and 
economies. Indeed, all regions in Europe receive funding 
from the Cohesion Policy, however, the budget is allocated 
according to the level of development of a respective region. 
This is expressed in different categories: less developed, 
transitional and more developed regions. A significant 
proportion, about 80%, of the Cohesion Policy budget is 
invested in the EU’s poorest regions.

The Cohesion Policy consists of three different funds: the 
European Regional Development Fund (ERDF), the Europe-
an Social Fund (ESF) and the Cohesion Fund. Furthermore, 
the European Territorial Cooperation (ETC) and the EU 
mechanisms for territorial development are financed by the 
ESI-Funds and parts of the EU Cohesion Policy.

The Greens/EFA group in the European Parliament played 
an important and active role in the negotiations with the 
Commission and the Member States on the new generation 
of EU Cohesion Policy. Our involvement ensured that a 
number of the European Commission’s good reform propos-
als leading to a genuine “Greening” of Cohesion Policy are 
maintained and strengthened within the new regulations. 

The prominent role of the Partnership Principle for the 
implementation of funds, reinforced by a legally-binding 
code of conduct, makes sure that partners from the regional 
and local level, social and economic partner, and as well 
civil society and NGOs are actively involved in the strategic 
planning and the preparation, implementation, monitoring 
and evaluation of funding programmes. Furthermore, a set 
of provisions on horizontal principles, such as sustainable 
development, gender equality and non-discrimination give 
our central political values a prominent position in Cohesion 
Policy, its implementation and the funded projects on region-
al and local level. Go for it!

“The Partnership Principle is the democratic pillar of 
EU cohesion policy and an essential element for more 
transparency.  Thanks to our constant pressure and for 
the first time ever, there are minimum standards for the 
involvement of the partners and a legally binding code 
of conduct  for good democratic practice.” 
//  Elisabeth Schroedter

4) 
 EU

 FU
ND

IN
G I

NS
TR

UM
EN

TS

40



  11

4) 
 EU

 FU
ND

IN
G I

NS
TR

UM
EN

TS

(1) European Regional Development Fund (ERDF)

The ERDF is the biggest single source of EU funding. The 
central aim of the ERDF is to reinforce economic, social and 
territorial cohesion by encouraging the sustainable develop-
ment and structural adjustment of regional economies. 

Following the need for concentrating means in order to 
increase effectiveness of investments, the so-called thematic 
concentration, the Member States have to invest a minimum 
share of the funds into four key priorities: research & innova-
tion, information & communication technologies, competitive-
ness of SMEs and low carbon economy. 

The minimum share depends on the category of region: less 
development regions allocate a minimum of 50% into these 
fields, transition regions 60% and more developed regions 
80%. Additionally, the Member States are required to con-
tribute with 20% of their investments to the climate adaption 
and mitigation objectives of the EU.

Furthermore, the ERDF encompasses actions in the field 
of territorial cooperation (cross-border, interregional and 
transnational cooperation) and it addresses specific territorial 
characteristics (urban development, community-led local 
development). These programmes are outlined underneath 
in sections 4) a) iv. and v. 

The Greens/EFA group in the European Parliament 
achieved central improvements for the new funding period, 
which lead overall to more Green investment opportunities 
and a more prominent role of sustainable development 
concepts. 
More money than ever before will be invested into the 
promotion of renewable energies and energy efficiency in 
the housing sector. Investments in transport infrastructure 
should be clearly reduced and in parts shifted towards 
sustainable urban mobility concepts. A minimum of 5% of 
the ERDF budget per Member State has to be invested in 
sustainable urban development and the cities themselves 
can assume more power for its implementation.

Special Support Instruments for infrastructure  
projects JASPERS, JESSICA  ELENA

Important institutions for the realisation of regional pro-
jects funded by EU Cohesion Policy are the EU’s special 
support instruments JASPERS, JESSICA and ELENA. EU 
funding usually covers only a share of the project costs.        
The financing of the remaining costs can sometimes 
be a challenge to regional and local authorities. The EU 
support instruments address this issue by offering assis-
tance in the preparation phase of major projects, urban 
development projects and investments in sustainable 
energy.

JASPERS (Joint Assistance in Supporting Projects in 
European Regions) is a technical assistance facility that 
provides advice and assistance in the preparation of ma-
jor projects in the twelve EU countries, which joined the 
EU in 2004 and 2007. Support by JASPERS is targeted to 
major infrastructure projects – e.g. rail, water, waste, en-
ergy and urban transport projects – in the with a minimum 
total investments volume of 50 million €. 
Further information: http://www.eib.org/products/jaspers/
index.htm?lang=en 

JESSICA (Joint European Support for Sustainable Invest-
ment in City Areas) is a EU initiative with the objective to 
assist all regions to establish strategies for sustainable 
urban development and realise urban development 
projects through the set-up of (revolving) financial instru-
ments.
Further information: http://www.eib.org/products/jessica/
index.htm 

ELENA (European Local Energy Assistance) is a technical    
assistance facility supporting the preparation and           
implementation of cities’ and regions’ sustainable 
energy projects. It aim to increase the capacity of local 
authorities by providing advisory service and financial 
aid for measures, such as feasibility and market studies 
or energy audits, promoting cross-sectoral approaches 
and encouraging the exchange of best practices among 
actors. 
Further Information: http://www.eib.org/products/elena/
index.htm 

“The aim of EU regional policy is to reduce territorial   
inequalities throughout Europe and promote local 
and sustainable development. The new ERDF will 
invest less into large-scale useless projects or multi-
national companies, but more into energy transition, 
social and solidarity economy, SMEs and small-scale                        
infrastructures.  Sustainable investments are the best 
proof to demonstrate EU solidarity.” //  Karima Delli

11

41

http://www.eib.org/products/jaspers/index.htm?lang=en
http://www.eib.org/products/jaspers/index.htm?lang=en
http://www.eib.org/products/jessica/index.htm
http://www.eib.org/products/jessica/index.htm
http://www.eib.org/products/elena/index.htm
http://www.eib.org/products/elena/index.htm


12
Supported activities:

The thematic objectives of the ERDF touch upon a broad 
spectrum of areas, under which projects and activities can 
be funded: 

 3 research & innovation (e.g. research infrastructure,        
promotion of business investment research & innovation, 
social and eco-innovation, cluster development)

 3 ICT (e.g. extending broadband infrastructure, developing 
of ICT products, e-government, e-learning, e-inclusion, e-cul-
ture, e-health)

 3 competitiveness of SMEs (e.g. promoting entrepreneur-
ship and the economic exploitation of new ideas )

 3  low carbon economy (e.g. promoting energy efficiency 
and the use of renewable energies in enterprises, public 
infrastructure and the housing sector, smart energy man-
agement, promoting low-carbon strategies for all types of 
territories, sustainable urban mobility)

 3 climate change adaptation and risk management (e.g. 
investments for adaption to climate change, including eco-
system-based approaches, investments to ensure disaster 
resilience)

 3 environmental protection and resource efficiency (e.g. 
investments in the waste and water sector, protection of 
natural and cultural heritage, biodiversity (Natura 2000), 
green infrastructure and urban environment, promotion of 
ecosystem services, eco-innovation and resource-efficient 
economy)

 3 sustainable transport (e.g. TEN-T, regional mobility, devel-
oping and improving environmentally-friendly (including low-
noise) and low-carbon transport systems, railway systems 
including noise-reduction measures, smart grids)

 3 employment, social and educational infrastructure 

 3 social inclusion and anti-discrimination (e.g. support for 
physical, economic and social regeneration of deprived 
communities in urban and rural areas, support for social 
enterprises, investments in the context of community-led 
local development strategies)

 3  institutional capacity of public authorities and                      
      stakeholders

Each region (or Member State) agrees with the Commission 
on an operational programme for the implementation of the 
funds. These documents are currently (January 2014) in 
preparation and will give more detailed information on the 
investment priorities, funded activities and target groups in 
your region.

Implementation:
The ERDF falls under shared management, which means 
that depending on the Member State the ERDF is imple-
mented and projects are selected at regional or national lev-
el by a managing authority. The Commission only supervises 
and controls the implementation.

Support from the ERDF often takes the form of grants, which 
are awarded to co-finance specific projects, usually through 
calls for proposals. The managing authority organises the 
calls for proposals, which are published in the national 
language. Furthermore, ERDF support can be given through 
financial instruments, e.g. indirect funding through interme-
diary bodies in the form of loans, risk capital, seed funding, 
etc.

More specific information on the implementation of ERDF 
funds in your region is available on the webpage of your 
regional or national managing authority. There you find in-
formation on the availability of funds from the ERDF for your 
specific field of work, deadlines of on-going and future calls 
for proposals, as well as project examples.

Eligibility:
In general, a wide range of actors is eligible for funding by 
the ERDF: 

 3 local, regional and national                                                 
     authorities and administrative bodies

 3 social, cultural and educational institutions,

 3 NGOs

 3 companies, SMEs including micro-enterprises and   
    Social Economy Enterprises, and associations

The eligibility criteria are further specified in the calls for 
proposals, published by your managing authority. 

Further information:
Official website of the ERDF:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/index_en.cfm

A list of the managing authorities for the ERDF in your 
country or region:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/manage/authority/au-
thority_en.cfm?pay=108&list=no

A search engine for all Operational Programmes for the 
ERDF:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/country/prordn/in-
dex_en.cfm

a)
  E

SI 
- F

un
ds

42

http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/index_en.cfm
http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/manage/authority/authority_en.cfm?pay=108&list=no
http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/manage/authority/authority_en.cfm?pay=108&list=no
http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/country/prordn/index_en.cfm
http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/country/prordn/index_en.cfm


  13

a)
  E

SI 
- F

un
ds

© Photo by optimarc/Shutterstock //  Fingerprints by Undergroundarts.co.uk  //  adapted by ImaginePlaces 

13

43

Undergroundarts.co.uk


14
(2) European Social Fund (ESF)

The ESF is the central tool for the implementation of the 
EU’s social and labour market policy. It invests in the EU’s 
human capital and works by funding local, regional and na-
tional projects targeting poverty, decent work and inclusion 
in the whole of the EU. In the new funding period 2014-2020, 
the ESF will focus on four central goals: creating decent 
work, promoting social inclusion, supporting better training 
and education and improving the quality of public adminis-
tration.

The Greens/EFA group’s political work for a broader focus of 
the ESF investments was successful: the ESF shifts in the 
period 2014-2020 its focus from purely employment-related 
funding to more comprehensive project support that pays 
higher attention to the fight against poverty and exclusion, 
as well as anti-discrimination measures. Furthermore, we 
successfully campaigned for simplified funding procedures, 
making it easier for small NGOs to apply, and the inclusion 
of asylum seekers and refugees under the scope of ESF 
funding. Our campaign for “Investments in people not high-
ways” bear fruit, hence the ESF-share of all Structural Funds 
investments will be higher than in the previous period.

Supported activities:
The activities of the ESF can be summarised into four cen-
tral fields of action:

 3 The thematic objective “promoting sustainable and quality 
employment and supporting labour mobility” foresees 
investments into activities promoting access to employment, 
decent work, sustainable integration into the labour market, 
self-employment and entrepreneurship, equality between 
men and women, active and healthy ageing and the modern-
isation of labour market institutions.

 3 The thematic objective “promoting social inclusion, com-
bating poverty and any discrimination” foresees investments 
into activities promoting active inclusion, socio-economic 
integration of marginalised communities, the combat against 
all forms of discrimination, enhanced access to high-quality 
services, social entrepreneurship and community-led local 
development strategies.

 3 The thematic objectives “investing in education, training 
and vocational training for skills and life-long learning” fore-
sees investments into activities promoting equal access to 
good quality education, improving the quality and access to 
tertiary and equivalent education, enhancing equal access to 
lifelong learning for all age groups and improving the labour 
market relevance of education and training systems. For the 
first time ever it takes into account all ages for education, 
from kinder garden to old age.

 3 The thematic objective “enhancing institutional capacity 
of public authorities and stakeholders and efficient public 
administration” targets investments to a specific group of 
poorer Member States, which need support to make maxi-
mum use of the ESF. Measures include capacity building for 
public administrations and the other stakeholders involved, 
such as organisations working in the fields of education, 
anti-discrimination, lifelong learning, integration and poverty.
For more specific information on the ESF priorities in your 
Member State or region, you need to consult the respective 
ESF operational programme for your region or country, or 
contact the responsible managing authority. 

Implementation:
Similar to the ERDF, the ESF falls under shared manage-
ment. This means, dependent on Member State, that the 
ESF is implemented at the national or regional level by a 
managing authority. The European Commission only super-
vises this implementation.

The ESF is allocated mostly through project grants, which 
are awarded through calls for proposals organised by the 
responsible managing authority. ESF support can also 
take place in other types of financing, e.g. indirect funding 
through intermediary bodies. This form of loan, or seed 
funding, aims to support new social businesses develop and 
find investments for their activities.

You can find more specific information on the implemen-
tation of ESF funds in your region on the webpage of your 
regional or national managing authority. There you will find 

information on the availability of funds, deadlines for on-go-
ing projects, project examples and future calls for proposals 
from the ESF for your specific projects.

Eligibility:
A variety of bodies and organisations can become benefi-
ciaries of ESF support: 
Social, cultural and educational organisations

 3 Workers’ and employers’ organisations, as well as organi-
sations providing training, support for workers, labour market 
support

 3 NGOs and charities

 3 Public administrations and municipal institutions

 3 Companies and associationsa)
  E

SI 
- F

un
ds “We achieved that the ESF supports a broad range of             

measures for poverty reduction. The ESF no longer 
focusses on direct integration into the labor market 
only, but also on equal opportunities and participation 
in  society.” //  Elisabeth Schroedter

44



  15
The eligibility criteria are further specified in the calls for              
proposals. 

Further information:
Official website of the ESF:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/esf/home.jsp?langId=en

Information about the ESF-activities in your country or 
region:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/esf/main.jsp?catId=45

ESF priorities database:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/social/esf_projects_117/search.cfm

(a) Youth Employment Initiative (YEI)
The YEI promotes the fight against youth unemployment by 
supporting actions for the sustainable integration of young 
people into the labour market. This instrument particu-
larly targets regions that show the highest rates of youth 
unemployment and is implemented as part of the ESF (see 
above), but with different provisions on eligibility. 

The Greens/EFA group in the European Parliament has 
been tirelessly advocating for EU support to those Member 
States and regions most affected by rocketing youth unem-
ployment. Indeed, in our 2009 Youth report we called for the 
earmarking of EU funding for Youth Employment, which has 
finally been realised by assigning 3 billion € of the European 
Social Fund and additional 3 billion € of a separate budget 
line to Youth Employment. In the negotiations on how to 
implement the YEI, we insisted on targeted and integrated 
funding through the ESF and a clear focus on young people 
most in need and not simply a labour market focus.

Budget: 6 billion €

Supported activities:

All projects shall directly aim at improving the situation for 
young people. In particular, however, those not in employ-
ment, education or training, including young people at risk of 
social exclusion and those from marginalised communities. 
The supported activities should aim at improving their labour 
market prospects and their access to training or education. 
Furthermore, the supported activities should provide support 
for early school leavers and promote social inclusion.
The precise activities under the YEI are outlined in further 
detail in the ESF operational programmes within each eligi-
ble Member State or region. 

Implementation:
The YEI is integrated into the programming of the ESF, i.e. 
every eligible Member State and region has to set out the 
programming arrangements for the YEI in an operational 
programme, agreed with the Commission.

Eligibility: 
The following regions are are eligible for funding from the 
YEI:

 3 NUTS* level 2 regions that have youth unemployment 
rates for young persons aged 15 to 24 of more than 25 % in 
2012,

 3 NUTS* level 2 regions that have youth unemployment 
rates of more than 20% in a  Member States where the 
youth unemployment rate has increased by more than 30 % 
in 2012.

Beneficiaries of the YEI can be all young persons under the 
age of 25 not in employment, education or training, residing 
in eligible regions, who are inactive or unemployed including 
the long-term unemployed, and whether or not registered 

as seeking work. On a voluntary basis, Member States may 
decide to extend the target group to include young persons 
under the age of 30.

a)
  E

SI 
- F

un
ds

Further information:
Official website of the ESF on activities targeted at young 
people:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/esf/main.jsp?catId=534&langId=en

Find out more about the Greens/EFA group’s claims and 
initiatives for Youth Employment and related issues:

 3 http://www.reclaimyourfuture.eu

“High youth unemployment rates are totally                    
unacceptable - for our social cohesion and the EU 
future. We were the first to demand earmarking of fund-
ing in favour of youth employment and a substantive 
reaction by the EU to create jobs for young people. The 
Youth Employment Initiative was finally adopted with 6 
billion Euros. We know that this is not enough and more 
ambitious steps must be done to properly tackle the 
youth unemployment and inequalities in the European 
Union, notably in countries such as Spain, Greece and 
Portugal. For us Greens, youth policies at the EU level 
should be long-term and continuous investment in 
quality jobs, education and training for young people.” 
//  Raül Romeva i Rueda

* The Nomenclature of Units for Territorial Statistics (NUTS) is a statistical standard 
developed by the European Union in order to reference to subdivisions of the EU 
Member States. The NUTS system consists of a hierarchy of three NUTS level, which 
mostly but not always correspond with the Member States’ administrative structures. 

45

http://ec.europa.eu/esf/home.jsp?langId=en
http://ec.europa.eu/esf/main.jsp?catId=45
http://ec.europa.eu/social/esf_projects_117/search.cfm
http://ec.europa.eu/esf/main.jsp?catId=534&langId=en
http://www.reclaimyourfuture.eu


16
A)

  E
SI 

- F
un

ds
(3) Cohesion Fund

The Cohesion Fund plays a major role in the reduction of 
disparities in development among the Member States. It 
supports the least developed EU members - most of these 
countries joined the EU in 2004, 2007 and 2013 - with 
funding in key transport infrastructure projects and fostering 
compliance with environmental standards. The Cohesion 
Fund is subject to the same rules of programming, manage-
ment and monitoring as the ERDF and ESF. 
An important element of the Cohesion Fund is the new fund-
ing opportunities in favour of environmental protection and 
climate resilience: financing of renewable energy sources 
and energy efficiency for housing, improved environmental 
protection and adaptation to climate change, eco-system 
based disaster prevention, the protection of Natura 2000 
areas and the exclusion of nuclear plants from support. An-
other positive item is the obligation to consult with regional 
authorities, economic and social partners and civil society 
for planning and implementation, as well as the integration 
of disabled people’s rights in planning.
Budget: 66 billion Euros

Supported activities:

The Cohesion Fund invests into 5 different priorities: 
 3 supporting the shift towards a low-carbon economy in all 

sectors

 3 promoting climate change adaptation, eco-system based 
risk prevention and management

 3 preserving and protecting the environment and promoting 
resource efficiency

 3 promoting sustainable transport and removing bottlenecks 
in key network infrastructures

 3 enhancing institutional capacity of public authorities and 
stakeholders 

Implementation:
The Cohesion Fund is implemented on the national level by 
the respective managing authority of the Member States. 
The grants are allocated by calls for proposals. 

Eligibility:

 3 Every Member state with a GNI less than 90% of the EU 
average is eligible for support from the Cohesion Fund. In 
the funding period 2014-2020, these countries are Bulgaria, 
Czech Republic, Croatia, Estonia, Cyprus (Phasing-out), 
Latvia, Lithuania, Greece, Hungary, Malta, Poland, Portugal, 
Romania, Slovenia and Slovakia.

Further information:
Official website of the Cohesion Fund:

http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/thefunds/cohesion/in-
dex_en.cfm

Ii)   Rural and Coastal Development
(1)   European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development 
      (EAFRD)
The EAFRD is the EU’s main instrument for investments in 
rural areas and the agricultural sector. It provides rural areas 
with funding for a wide variety of actions that aim at the pro-
motion of sustainable economic development, the social and 
environmental well being and the fostering of climate action.
The Greens/EFA group has managed to safeguard critical 
investment within the Rural Development Fund for environ-
mentally sustainable projects.  30% of funding in each coun-
try and region must be earmarked for green programmes 
such as agri-environmental schemes and organic farming. 
There will be higher support rates for investments that coun-
ter climate change and to promote biodiversity, and specific 
support can be provided to develop short supply chains and 
local markets.

Budget: 85 billion € 

Supported activities:

The EAFRD is investments in the following 6 priority areas:

 3 knowledge transfer and innovation in agriculture, forestry, 
and rural areas (e.g. development of the knowledge base in 
rural areas, research and innovation for improved environ-
mental management, lifelong learning and vocational training 
in the agricultural and forestry sectors)

 3 enhancing farm viability and competitiveness and 
promoting innovative farm technologies and the sustainable 
management of forests (e.g. facilitating farm restructuring, 
modernisation and agricultural diversification, facilitating 
generational renewal and the entry of adequately skilled 
farmers)

 3 promoting food chain organisation (e.g. processing and 
marketing of agricultural products, animal welfare and risk 
management in agriculture)

 3 restoring, preserving and enhancing ecosystems related 
to agriculture and forestry (e.g.: restoring, preserving and 
enhancing biodiversity, including in Natura 2000 areas, 
improving water and soil management)

 3 promoting resource efficiency and supporting the shift 

“We succeeded in making the Fund Greener. However, 
it is very important that civil society, local and regional 
authorities will use EU instruments to implement Green 
policies. EU funds can be used more efficiently in a 
bottom-up approach.  Therefore, the decentralisation 
of funds should take place in practice and Member 
States shall allocate more power and resources to local 
actors!” //  Nikos Chrysogelos

46

http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/thefunds/cohesion/index_en.cfm
http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/thefunds/cohesion/index_en.cfm


  17
towards a low carbon and climate resilient economy in 
agriculture, food and forestry sectors (e.g. efficiency in water 
and energy use, supply and use of renewable sources of en-
ergy, of by-products, wastes and residues and of other non 
food raw material, green house gas reduction and ammonia 
emissions, carbon conservation and sequestration

 3 social inclusion, poverty reduction and economic devel-
opment (e.g. diversification, creation and development of 
small enterprises, job creation, accessibility, use and quality 
of information and communication technologies, competitive-
ness of primary producers)

These areas of intervention and type of actions are further 
specified by each Member State or region in rural devel-
opment programmes.  Moreover, the Member States can 
establish as part of their implementation strategy thematic 
sup-programmes, which address more specific activities for 
young farmers, small farms, mountain areas, short supply 
chains, women in rural areas, climate change mitigation and 
adaptation and biodiversity. 

Another important element of the EAFRD is the LEAD-
ER approach, which is tool for the establishment of local 
development initiatives. LEADER stands for “Liaison Entre 
Actions de Développement de l’Économie Rurale”, meaning 
“links between the rural economy and development actions”. 
In previous funding periods, LEADER has proven to be a 
successful tool for the involvement of local stakeholders into 
the development and implementation of local development 
strategies. In the new funding period 2014-2020, LEADER 
will remain a mandatory part of the Rural Development 
Programmes funded by the EAFRD. Furthermore, as well 
the ESI-Funds (ERDF, ESF, EMFF) have the option to invest 
in Community-led Local Development initiatives (CLLD). 
Further information on this new local development mecha-
nism CLLD is given underneath in the section on territorial 
development.

Implementation:

The EAFRD falls under shared management, which means 
that depending on the MS the EAFRD is implemented at the 
national or regional level by a managing authority. The Com-
mission only supervises the implementation and approves 
in the national and regional implementation strategies – the 
operational programmes.

The EAFRD is allocated through project grants, which are 
awarded through calls for proposals. The maximum co-fi-
nancing rate for EAFRD support is:

 3 85% of the eligible public expenditure in the less devel-
oped regions, the outermost regions and the smaller Aegean 
islands.

 3 50% of the eligible public expenditure in the other regions.

The Member States have the opportunity to increase the 
co-financing rate for investments in climate action and 
biodiversity by 10%.  

Eligibility:
In general, a wide range of actors can become beneficiaries 
of funding from the ERDF: 

 3 municipal institutions and administrative bodies

 3 social, cultural and educational institutions,

 3 NGOs

 3 companies, SMEs and associations

The eligibility criteria are further specified in the calls for 
proposals, published by your managing authority.

Further information:
A list of national ministries for agriculture is available at:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/use/index_en.htm

The European Network for Rural Development is active in 
the field of information on the EAFRD, the involvement of 
local stakeholders in the implementation of the programmes 
and the support of local action groups:

 3 http://enrd.ec.europa.eu/en/home-page_en.cfm

(2) European Maritime and Fisheries Fund (EMFF)

The EMFF is intended to promote the transition towards 
more sustainable fishing in the EU, support the diversifica-
tion of the costal communities’ economies and finance the 
creation of decent jobs and quality of life. 

Budget: 6.4 billion €

Supported activities:
The central areas of investment will be the sustainable 
development of fisheries, development of aquaculture activ-
ities, the control of fisheries activities, data collection, help 
for ultra-peripheral regions, storage and integrated maritime 
policy under shared management.

Another important element of the previous period of Fishery 
Funds was the support of Fisheries Local Action Groups 
(FLAGs), which were partnerships between fisheries actors 
and other local private and public stakeholders. These 
FLAGs develop and implement bottom-up strategies for their 
costal communities that fit the areas challenges and promote 
sustainable development. In the period 2014-2020, this tool 
will continue to exist under the Community-led local develop-
ment (CLLD) mechanism. Please find further information on 
CLLD underneath in the section on territorial development. A)

  E
SI 

- F
un

ds

“We have managed to safeguard critical investment 
within the Rural Development Fund for environmentally 
sustainable projects.  30% of funding in each country 
and region must be earmarked for green programmes 
such as agri-environmental schemes and organic 
farming.  There will be higher support rates for invest-
ments that counter climate change and to promote 
biodiversity, and specific support can be provided 
to develop short supply chains and local markets.                                    
//  The Greens/EFA group

47

http://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/use/index_en.htm
http://enrd.ec.europa.eu/en/home-page_en.cfm


18
Implementation: 
The funds are used to con-finance projects along with na-
tional funding. Each country receives a certain share of the 
EMFF, for which it designates a managing authority and es-
tablishes its operational programme outlining the investment 
priorities, target groups and regional objectives. 

Eligibility:
In general, a wide range of actors are eligible for funding by 
the EMFF, these include: 

 3 Municipal institutions and administrative bodies

 3 Social, cultural and educational institutions,

 3 NGOs

 3 Companies, SMEs and associations

The eligibility criteria are further specified in the calls for 
proposals, published by your managing authority.

Further information:
Official website:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/fisheries/reform/emff/index_en.htm

The Fishing Areas Network FARNET provides further infor-
mation on local development initiatives in 2014-2020
https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/fpfis/cms/farnet/tools/local-de-
velopment-2014-2020

iii)  Territorial Development
(1)   Sustainable Urban Development
In the period 2014-2020, sustainable urban development is 
a new priority of the EU’s Cohesion Policy. This will focus 
especially on integrated actions in urban areas or urban 
communities, offering more possibilities to delegate respon-
sibility to urban authorities and introducing a community-led 
local development (CLLD) approach in these areas. A min-
imum of 5% of ERDF resources per Member State will be 
spent on projects in the field of integrated sustainable urban 
development. Furthermore, complementary investments in 
urban development concepts can be made from the other 
ESI Funds.

Supported activities:
The supported activities in the field of urban development 
correspond with the activities outlined under the ERDF and 
ESF activities. It is considered that all sectorial investments 
have a territorial dimension and consequences, thus they 
need to be carefully planned through an integrated approach 
that considers the various dimensions of urban life, i.e. 
economic, environmental, climate, cultural, demographic and 
social challenges. 

A new element of EU funding in the field of urban develop-
ment is Innovative Actions. These projects aim to explore 
and demonstrate radical new solutions to long-term urban 
challenges. These could be pilot projects, demonstration 
projects or new urban experiments, which are of Europe-
an interest. These projects will be managed directly by 
the Commission and selected through a competition. The 
Commission will put 330 million € aside for this particular 
instrument.

Under European Territorial Cooperation (see section 4) a) 
v.), URBACT, the exchange and learning programme for cit-
ies, will continue to provide urban authorities with networking 
opportunities in order to share and develop good practice in 
urban development.
Furthermore, the Commission encourages Member States 
to make use of financial instruments (such as loans,                
guarantees or equity) in their implementation of sustainable 
urban development concepts. Some Member States and 

regions follow this initiative and set-up urban development 
funds on the local level.

Implementation:
The new regulation foresees a minimum degree of delega-
tion of implementation responsibilities from the managing 
authority to the urban authority. The minimum requirement 
for delegation is the decision on the selection of operations. 
On a rather voluntary basis, delegation of powers can also 
include responsibilities such as financial management and 
control, reporting, monitoring, and evaluation. The managing 
authority and the urban authority agree on the scope of the 
management tasks to be delegated. 

Furthermore, it is possible to use the CLLD approach as one 
element or building block within the wider urban strategy. 
CLLD aims to build community-capacity and encourage 
local communities to develop integrated bottom-up strate-
gies, thus it can be a very useful tool in addressing specific 
challenges that urban areas face. It could take the form of 
e.g. small neighbourhood based approaches, integrated 
approaches focusing on a prominent urban challenge, or 
target group approaches.

Eligibility:
The definition of the principles for the selection of the urban 
areas, in which sustainable urban development projects are 
implemented, are in the responsibility of the Member States. 
That is why you will find further specifications on investments 
in urban development in your country in the national and 
regional investment strategies, the so-called Partnership 
Agreements and Operational Programmes. These doc-
uments are currently still being negotiated between the Com-
mission and each Member state or region bilaterally.

A)
  E

SI 
- F

un
ds

48

http://ec.europa.eu/fisheries/reform/emff/index_en.htm
https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/fpfis/cms/farnet/tools/local


  19
Further information:
Official website of the Directorate General for Regional 
Policy on Urban Development:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/activity/urban/in-
dex_en.cfm#1

A full list of the EU programmes and initiatives, which include 
an urban dimension, is available under:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/urban/portal/index_
en.cfm

(2) Community-Led Local Development (CLLD)
Since the beginning of the 1990s, the European Commis-
sion has promoted the establishment of local development 
initiatives. This approach has allowed local stakeholders, 
including civil society, to have direct involvement in the elab-
oration of local strategies addressing social, economic and 
environmental challenges. Indeed, this initiative has proved 
successful by marking a sustainable impact, fostering the 
development of new ideas and allowing local communities to 
take ownership. Within the context of the rural development 
fund (EAFRD), the so-called LEADER approach became a 
principal example of local development strategies driven by 
local stakeholders.

In the new funding period 2014-2020, the Commission 
redesigned its local development initiatives and integrated 
existing instruments in one approach on Community-led Lo-
cal Development (CLLD). This shall encourage and reinforce 
integrated approaches and allow complementary funding 
from different European Structural and Investment funds into 
more comprehensive development strategies. 

A  CLLD  is in detail: 
 3 a method of cooperation focused on specific sub-regional 

territories that involves various partners from the local level.

 3 led by local action groups composed of representatives of 
public and private local socio-economic interests, in which, 
at the decision-making level neither public authorities nor 
any single interest group represents more than 49 % of the 
voting rights;

 3 carried out through integrated and multi-sectoral                 
    area-based local development strategies;

 3 designed with the consideration of local needs and              
    potential, and including innovative features.

Supported activities:
The ESI Funds for CLLD uphold the costs of preparatory 
support consisting of capacity building, training and network-
ing related to the preparation of a community-led local devel-
opment strategy. Preparatory support is eligible, regardless 
of whether the CLLD strategy designed by the local action 
group is selected for funding of its implementation.
Such costs may include:

 3 training actions for local stakeholders;

 3 studies of the area concerned;

 3 costs related to the design of the                                     
    community-led local development strategy;

 3 administrative costs, and 

 3 support for small pilot projects.

After having been selected for the implementation of the 
local development strategy, the ESI Fund supports covers:

 3 implementation of operations of the CLLD strategy;

 3 preparation and implementation of the                                 
     local action group’s cooperation activities;

 3 running costs linked to the management of the                     
     implementation of the community-led local development        
    strategy;

 3 animation of the community-led local development             
    strategy in order to facilitate exchange between             
     stakeholders.

Implementation:
The use of CLLD in your Member State should be outlined in 
the Partnership Agreement between the Member States and 
the Commission.  This is the key strategic document for the 
use of ESI Funds and is supposed to outline, in one section, 

the arrangement for the territorial development of specific 
sub-regional areas. Additionally, the funding programmes, 
which set out the implementation strategies for each ESI 
Fund or priority, will give an outline of how CLLD is used for 
the implementation of the investments.

In general, CLLD may be implemented in cross-border 
cooperation programmes, provided that the local develop-
ment group is composed of representatives of at least two 
countries, of which one is a Member State.

Eligibility:
LEADER is a mandatory part of the EAFRD programmes; 
unfortunately, the use of CLLD is not compulsory, but 
optional for the implementation of the other ESI Funds. The 
eligibility can, therefore, vary per region and needs to be 
checked in the Operational Programme of your region, or by 
direct contact to the Management Authority.

Further information:
General Information on CLLD is provided by the European 
Network for Rural Development: 

 3 http://enrd.ec.europa.eu/themes/clld/en/clld_en.cfm

The LEADER Gateway offers information for local develop-
ment initiatives in rural areas:

 3 http://enrd.ec.europa.eu/leader/en/leader_en.cfm 

The Fishing Areas Network FARNET provides information 
on Fisheries Local Action Groups:

 3 https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/fpfis/cms/farnet/tools/lo-
cal-development-2014-2020

URBACT, a network of European experts in urban devel-
opment, has put forward information on how to implement 
CLLDs in cities:

 3 http://urbact.eu/en/news-and-events/view-one/ur-
bact-news/?entryId=5131

A)
  E

SI 
- F

un
ds

49

http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/activity/urban/index_en.cfm
http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/activity/urban/index_en.cfm
http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/urban/portal/index_en.cfm
http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/urban/portal/index_en.cfm
http://enrd.ec.europa.eu/themes/clld/en/clld_en.cfm
http://enrd.ec.europa.eu/leader/en/leader_en.cfm
https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/fpfis/cms/farnet/tools/local
https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/fpfis/cms/farnet/tools/local
http://urbact.eu/en/news-and-events/view-one/urbact
http://urbact.eu/en/news-and-events/view-one/urbact


20
iv) European Territorial Cooperation (ETC)

The ETC is part of the ERDF and therefore its general 
objective is the promotion of economic, social and territorial 
cohesion. The more specific objectives vary among the three 
different forms of territorial cooperation, which are funded 
under the ETC:

 3 cross-border cooperation

 3 transnational cooperation

 3 interregional cooperation

Sustainable tourism, culture and natural heritage are part 
of the activities that are considered to foster employment 
friendly growth in the context of territorial strategies. This is 
a result of the Greens/EFA group’s active campaigning.  We 
also added social inclusion as an objective of cross-border 
cooperation. 

Budget: 8.9 billion € (74% cross-border cooperation, 20% 
transnational cooperation, 6% interregional cooperation)

Supported activities:
Similar to other funding activities under the ERDF, as well 
ETC programmes have to comply with the new requirement 
of thematic concentration. At least 80 % of the ERDF allo-
cation to each cross-border cooperation and transnational 
programme shall be concentrated on a maximum of four of 
the following thematic objectives: research & innovation, 
ICT, competitiveness of SMEs, low carbon economy, climate 
change adaptation and risk management, environmental 
protection and resource efficiency, transport, employment, 
social inclusion and anti-discrimination, education and train-
ing, institutional capacity of public authorities.  
In the field of interregional cooperation, all of these thematic 
objectives may be selected for the cooperation strategy.
Additional and more specific fields of intervention for the 
different types of territorial cooperation are the following:

Cross-border cooperation:
 3 promotion of sustainable and quality employment; 

 3 support to labour mobility, joint local employment   

 3 initiatives, information and advisory services and joint    
     training;

 3 promotion of social inclusion, fight against poverty and      
     any discrimination;

 3 investment in education, training and vocational training,

 3 enhancing institutional capacity of public authorities and   
     stakeholders and efficient public administration.

Transnational cooperation:
 3 enhancing institutional capacity of public authorities and 

stakeholders and efficient public administration by develop-
ing and coordinating macro-regional and sea-basin strate-
gies.

Interregional cooperation enhancing institutional capacity 
of public authorities and stakeholders and efficient public 
administration by:

 3 disseminating good practices and expertise in relation 
to sustainable urban development, including urban-rural 
linkages; 

 3 promoting the exchange of experience in order to rein-
force the effectiveness of territorial cooperation programmes;

 3 strengthening the evidence base in order to  
reinforce the effectiveness of cohesion policy and the 
achievement of the thematic objectives.

Implementation:
ETCs are implemented on the basis of cooperation pro-
grammes, which are drafted by the participating Member 
States. The participants designate a single managing author-
ity responsible for the implementation of the programme 
and the publication of calls. Member States may as well 
choose a European Grouping of Territorial Cooperation as a 
managing authority.

A European Grouping of Territorial Cooperation (EGTC) is a 
cooperation instrument for the foundation of legal person-
ality that enables public authorities to deliver joint services. 

Members of an EGTC can be the Member States, regional 
or local authorities, associations and any other public body. 
Even though, a central function of these entities is the 
management and implementation of territorial cooperation 
programmes funded by the EU, these entities are entitled to 
carry out actions under any other EU funding or without EU 
funding. 

A)
  E

SI 
- F

un
ds

“European territorial cooperation policy is among the 
most iconic policies in terms of European integration 
and the European Parliament had voted by a large 
majority for its strengthening and to make it a priority. 
Our disappointment is thus great with regards to the 
financial arbitrations that led Member States to consider 
it only as an adjustment variable.” 
// François Alfonsi

50



  21

A)
  E

SI 
- F

un
ds

Eligibility:

The three different types of ETC address different type of 
territories:

 3 Cross-border cooperation promotes integrated regional 
development between neighbouring land and maritime 
border regions on NUTS* level 2  in two or more Member 
States or between neighbouring border regions in at least 
one Member State and one third country on external borders 
of the Union, separated by a maximum of 150 km.

 3 Transnational cooperation addresses larger transnational 
territories, encompassing national, regional and local part-
ners. It covers NUTS* 3 regions and takes, where appropri-
ate, account of macro-regional and sea-basin strategies.

 3 Interregional cooperation covers the entire                         
territory of the EU. 

Cross-border and transnational cooperation shall involve 
beneficiaries from at least two participating countries, 
at least one of which shall be from a Member State. An 
operation may be implemented in a single country, provided 
that cross- border or transnational impacts and benefits are 
identified. Operations under interregional cooperation shall 
involve beneficiaries from at least three countries, at least 
two of which shall be Member States. 

In general, a wide range of actors can become beneficiaries 
of funding from the ERDF: 

 3 municipal institutions and administrative bodies

 3 social, cultural and educational institutions

 3 NGOs

 3 companies, SMEs and associations

The eligibility criteria are further specified in the respective 
cooperation programmes and calls for proposals, published 
by your managing authority.

Further information:

Official website of the ETC programmes:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/cooperate/cooperation/
index_en.cfm

A list of the managing authorities and ETC programmes in 
your country or region:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/manage/authority/au-
thority_en.cfm?pay=108&list=no

Committee of the Regions maintains a register of all existing 
EGTCs and provides support for their foundation on the 
EGCT Platform:

 3 https://portal.cor.europa.eu/egtc/en-US/Platform/Pages/
welcome.aspx

* The Nomenclature of Units for Territorial Statistics (NUTS) is a statistical standard 
developed by the European Union in order to reference to subdivisions of the EU 
Member States. The NUTS system consists of a hierarchy of three NUTS level, which 
mostly but not always correspond with the Member States’ administrative structures. 

© Photo by auremar/Shutterstock 

21

51

http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/cooperate/cooperation/index_en.cfm
http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/cooperate/cooperation/index_en.cfm
http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/manage/authority/authority_en.cfm?pay=108&list=no
http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/manage/authority/authority_en.cfm?pay=108&list=no
https://portal.cor.europa.eu/egtc/en-US/Platform/Pages/welcome.aspx
https://portal.cor.europa.eu/egtc/en-US/Platform/Pages/welcome.aspx


22
B)

  E
mp

lo
ym

en
t&

So
cia

l P
ol

icy
b)   Employment and Social Policy

The EU Member States are currently facing multiple challeng-
es: high-unemployment rates, a shrinking workforce, growing 
poverty and social exclusion and an increasingly fragmented 
labour market. The crisis highlighted the interdependence and 
close links between the European economies and their national 
welfare systems. Even though the primary responsibility for 
addressing socio-economic challenges remains in the hands 
of the Member States and regions, it became evident that the 
EU can make substantial contributions to their solution through 
policy-coordination, the identification of needs for reform, the 
support in the modernisation of welfare systems and invest-
ments into European societies.
Under the EU budget for 2014-2020, the EU’s employment and 
social policy is organised in four pillars, which form together the 
EU Initiative for Employment and Social Inclusion 2014-2020: 
the European Social Fund (see above, section on Cohesion 
Policy), the new programme for Employment and Social Inno-
vation (EaSI), the Fund for European Aid to the Most Deprived 
(FEAD), and the European Globalisation Adjustment Fund 
(EGF).

i)   EU programme for Employment  and Social Innovation (EaSI) 
The EaSI is a new umbrella programme that integrates and 
extends the three existing EU programmes: the Programme for 
Employment and Social Solidarity (PROGRESS), the Europe-
an Employment Services (EURES) and the Microfinance and 
Social Entrepreneurship Facility (MF/SE). The idea of this new 
design it is to increase the policy coherence and, hence, the 
impact of the EU programmes on Member States reforms in the 
sector of employment and social policy at the national, regional 
and local level. The main function of investments under this 
programme is to develop, test and upscale innovative employ-
ment and social policies in order to promote sustainable growth 
and jobs and reduce social inequalities in European societies. 
The EaSI is designed as a complementary instrument to the 
ESF that focuses in its funding activities on projects with a 
Europe-wide dimension instead of addressing explicitly specific 
regional or national challenges only. A new element is the 
strong role of social innovation activities in the funding activities 
– each year 10-14 million € will be invested for this purpose. 

(1)   Programme for Employment and Social Solidarity           
       (PROGRESS)
The main objective of PROGRESS is the promotion of policy 
reform by the support of broad spectrum of activities that aim 
at the development, testing and rollout of solutions to current 
socio-economic challenges in the EU Member States. Here-
by, the programme makes a contribution to the achievement 
of the Europe 2020 targets and its flagship initiatives in the 
field of employment and social policy.
Initiatives by the Greens/EFA group in the European 
Parliament ensured that also smaller scale projects can be 
financed by PROGRESS and that social inclusion remains 
the most important element of the programme.

Budget: 561 million €

Supported activities:
In order to foster social policy experimentation and to 
promote social inclusion and poverty reduction, PROGRESS 
invests in 2014-2020 in the following types of activities:

 3 Analytical (Gathering of evidence; Ensure correct and   
effective application of EU law in the Member States)

 3 Mutual learning, awareness and dissemination (peer     
reviews on social protection and social  inclusion  policies in 
different EU Member States; exchange of good practice and 
experience; Benchmarking of Public Employment Services 
(PES))

 3 Support for Key NGOs and Networks

Implementation:
PROGRESS is managed by the European Commission’s Di-
rectorate General for Employment and Social affairs, which 
allocates the funds directly to beneficiaries in the form of call 
for proposals and call for tenders. The Commission estab-
lishes three years work programmes, which give an outline 
of the planned funding activities, selection procedures, 
geographic coverage, target audience and an indicative time 
frame for their implementation.

The maximum rate of co-financing for an action is 80% of 
eligible costs, any financial support above this ceiling is only 
granted in duly justified exceptional circumstances.

Eligibility:
Funds are allocated to actors inside the EU Member States, 
EEA countries and EFTA Member States, as well as to 
certain EU candidate countries and potential candidate 
countries on the basis of bilateral agreements on their partic-
ipation in EU programmes.

Potential beneficiaries of funding are:
 3 national, regional and local authorities; 

 3 employment services;

 3 national statistical offices;

 3 specialist bodies provided for under EU law;

 3 social partners;

 3 NGOs;

“In the negotiations conducted by the European Parlia-
ment with the Council, the Greens managed to redirect 
this programme primarily towards the fight against 
poverty and social inclusion through social experimen-
tation. We also made sure that special attention would 
be paid to the situation of young people, especially 
those who are neither in employment nor in education 
or apprenticeship.” // Karima Delli52



  23
 3 higher education institutions and research institutes;

 3 experts in evaluation and in impact assessment;
    media

Further information:
Official website of PROGRESS:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=1082&langId=en 

Information about European Commission calls for tender in 
the area of employment, social affairs and inclusion:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=624&langId=en 

(2)   European Employment Services (EURES)
EURES is a European job mobility network, which provides 
workers and jobseekers in Europe with information on job 
vacancies and offers guidance on how to take advantage of 
the freedom of movement for workers. A network of more 
than 850 EURES advisors are available across Europe, 
1.5 million job vacancies are accessible to jobseekers on 
the EURES Portal and about 150.000 job-seekers per year 
receive job offers with the help of EURES. Three thematic 
sections form the core of EURES activities:

 3 transparency of job vacancies, applications and any          
     related information for applicants and employers

 3 development of services for the recruitment and placing of   
      workers in employment;

 3 cross-border partnerships.

Under this scheme, public bodies are funded for their partici-
pation in programmes and the realisation of specific projects.
It is important for the Greens/EFA group that EURES 
was not reduced simply to a jobseeker website, but that 
cross-border partnership, capacity building and the promo-
tion of accessibility to decent work remain core elements. 

Budget: 165 million €

Supported activities:
The following activities are funded under the EURES Pro-
gramme: 

 3 a multilingual digital platform and its self-service tools for 
the clearance of job vacancies and applications;

 3 the development of targeted mobility schemes, following 
calls for proposals, to fill job vacancies where labour market 
shortcomings have been identified, and/or to help workers 
with a propensity to be mobile, where a clear economic need 
has been identified;

 3 the development and the activities of EURES cross-border 
partnerships, in particular the provision of information, coun-
selling, placement and recruitment services for cross-border 
workers;

 3 mutual learning among EURES actors and training of 
EURES Advisers, including EURES cross-border partnership 
advisers;

 3 information and communication activities to raise 
awareness of the benefits of geographical and occupational 
mobility in general and of the activities and services provided 
by EURES.

Implementation:
The activities under EURES are managed directly by the 
Commission. The Commission adopts work programme for a 
three-years period that outline the supported actions, the ge-
ographic coverage, the targets audience and the indicative 
implementation time frame of the funding activities. To apply 
for funding, eligible organisations must respond to a call for 
tender or/and to a call for proposals.The EU co-financing, 
following a call for proposals, shall not exceed, as a general 
rule, 95 % of the total eligible expenditure.

Eligibility:
All Member States, plus Norway, Iceland, Liechtenstein and 
Switzerland participate in the programme. Potential benefi-
ciaries of funding are:

 3 national, regional and local authorities;

 3 employment services;

 3 social partner organisations and other interested parties.

Further information:
EURES – The European Job Mobility Portal:
3 https://ec.europa.eu/eures/home.jsp?lang=en 

Further information for job seekers:
 3 https://ec.europa.eu/eures/main.jsp?acro=job&lang=en&-

catId=52&parentId=0

Further information for recent graduates:
3 https://ec.europa.eu/eures/main.jsp?lang=en&acro=job&-
catId=7576&parentId=52

B)
  E

mp
lo

ym
en

t&
So

cia
l P

ol
icy

“With the new EaSI programme, we have secured EU 
funding for the EURES cross-border partnerships! There 
are more and more mobile workers at national borders 
with access needs to a European labor market. It is a 
European task to inform them about their rights and to 
advise properly in the jungle of different social systems, 
and this must be supported by the EU!” 
//  Elisabeth Schroedter

53

http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=1082&langId=en
http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=624&langId=en
proposals.The
https://ec.europa.eu/eures/home.jsp?lang=en
https://ec.europa.eu/eures/main.jsp?acro=job&lang=en&catId=52&parentId=0
https://ec.europa.eu/eures/main.jsp?acro=job&lang=en&catId=52&parentId=0
https://ec.europa.eu/eures/main.jsp?lang=en&acro=job&catId=7576&parentId=52
https://ec.europa.eu/eures/main.jsp?lang=en&acro=job&catId=7576&parentId=52


24
(3)   Your First EURES Job

Your First EURES Job is a new job mobility scheme that of-
fers young people aged 18-30 and their potential employers 
information and guidance on traineeship and apprenticeship 
placements in the EU, as well as jobs in sectors that face a 
shortage in workforce, such as the ICT sector.

Supported activities:
For young people, the programme offers:

 3 Job matching and job placement support

 3 Funding towards the costs of an interview trip        
    and/or of moving abroad to take up a new job

 3 Training (languages, soft skills)

For Employers, the programme offers:

 3 Recruitment support

 3 Small and medium businesses (companies with up to 250 
employees) may apply for financial support to cover part of 
the cost of training newly-recruited workers and helping them 
settle in

Implementation:
Your first EURES job is based on support from national 
employment services. The implementation of the programme 
is managed by your regional or national employment service 
that participates in the EURES programmes. 

Eligibility:
All Member states, plus Norway, Iceland, Liechtenstein and 
Switzerland participate in the programme. 

Type of beneficiaries:
 3 Young jobseekers, who are: aged 18-30, EU nationals, 

legally living in an EU country

 3 Employers, who are: a legally established business in an 
EU country, looking for workers with a specific profile they 
can’t find in their home country, offering minimum 6-month 
contracts, with pay and conditions compliant with national 
labour law.

Further information:

Official webpage of Your first EURES Job:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=993&langId=en 

List of contact points:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?do-
cId=10329&langId=en

(4)  Microfinance and Social Entrepreneurship Facility         
      (MF/SE)

The MF/SE is a programme that aims at helping people, 
which have problems to obtain loans on the traditional 
banking market in order to start their own micro-enterprise, 
to gain better access to micro-finances. For this purpose, the 
MF/SE supports the establishment of microcredit institutions 
with capacity building and promotes the development of a 
social investment market.

Until 2016, the previous programme “Progress Microfi-
nance” will run alongside the new MF/SE programme. The 
predecessor enables selected microcredit providers in the 
EU to increase lending by issuing guarantees and providing 
funding. 

Budget: 193 million €

Supported activities:
 3 increase access to, and the availability of, microfinance; 

 3 for vulnerable persons who have lost or are at risk of 
losing their job, or have difficulty in entering or re-entering 
the labour market, or are at risk of social exclusion, or are 
socially excluded, and are in a disadvantaged position with 
regard to access to the conventional credit market and who 
wish to start up or develop their own micro-enterprises;

 3 micro-enterprises in both start-
up and  development phase, especially                                                                         
micro-enterprises which employ vulnerable persons;

 3 build up the institutional capacity of microcredit providers;

 3 support the development of the social investment market 
and facilitate access to finance for social enterprises by mak-
ing equity, quasi-equity, loan instruments and grants of up 
to EUR 500 000 available to social enterprises with either an 
annual turnover not exceeding EUR 30 million, or an annual 
balance sheet total not exceeding EUR 30 million which are 
not themselves a collective investment undertaking.

Implementation:
Under the ME/SE support to microfinance and social 
enterprises, including for institutional capacity building, in 
particular through the financial instruments and grants may 
be provided. The programme does not directly provide 
microloans to individuals, but enables microcredit providers 
in the EU to increase access to it.

The Commission establishes three years work programmes, 
which give an outline of the planned funding activities, selec-
tion procedures, geographic coverage, target audience and 
an indicative time frame for their implementation.

Eligibility:
Participation under the MF/SE is open to public and private 
bodies: 

 3 established at national, regional or local level inside the 
EU Member States, EEA countries and EFTA Member 
States, as well as to certain EU candidate countries and 
potential candidate countries on the basis of bilateral agree-
ments on their participation in EU programmes.

 3 and that provide is these countries microfinance for 
persons and micro-enterprises; and/or financing for social 
enterprises.

Further information: 
Official website of the MF/SE:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=1084&langId=en 

A list of current microcredit providers is available under:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=983&langId=enB)
  E

mp
lo

ym
en

t&
So

cia
l P

ol
icy

54

http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=993&langId=en
http://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docId=10329&langId=en
http://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docId=10329&langId=en
http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=1084&langId=en
http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=983&langId=en


  25
ii)   Fund for European Aid to the Most Deprived              
       (FEAD)
The aim of the Fund is to strengthen social cohesion by 
contributing to the reduction of poverty, and ultimately the 
eradication of the worst forms of poverty with the greatest 
social exclusion impact, such as homelessness, child pover-
ty and food deprivation. However, the Fund is not meant to 
replace public policies undertaken by the Member States to 
fight poverty and social exclusion

The programme provides food, clothing and other essential 
goods to materially deprived people. Support will be given 
through contributions to Member State support schemes for 
most deprived people. 

The fund will also promote other measures to advance 
the social inclusion of the most deprived. This will include 
guiding them to social services, such as schemes to find 
decent housing, social integration programs or assistance 
with budget management. Severe food deprivation in the EU 
coincides with significant food wastage. The Greens/EFA 
group played a key role in achieving that the programme 
contributes to the reduction and prevention of food wastage. 
The cost of collection, transport, storage and distribution 
of food donations and directly related awareness raising 
activities undertaken by partner organisations is now eligible 
to support from the FEAD. This solution will help food banks 
to become less dependent on EU aid and have positive 
environmental impacts. 

Budget: 3.5 billion €

Supported activities:
 3 Funding of Member State support schemes covering the 

period 2014-2020 and providing food to the most deprived 
persons and clothing and other essential goods (such as 
shoes, soap and shampoo) to materially deprived people

 3 Support of activities related to the collection, transport, 
storage and distribution of food donations with the aim 
to augment and diversify the supply of food for the most 
deprived persons, as well as reducing and preventing food 
wastage

 3 Activities aiming at the social integration of the most 
deprived

 3 Assistance for beneficiaries to make more efficient use of 
local food supply chains

 3 It should be noted for non-governmental partner organisa-
tions that the following costs and activities incurred and paid 
by partner organisations are eligible to support by the FEAD:

 3 the costs of collection, transport, storage and distribution 
of food donations and directly related awareness raising 
activities,

 3 the costs of accompanying measures delivering directly 
or under cooperation agreements food and/or basic material 
assistance.

Implementation:
Member States or regional authorities are responsible for 
implementation of the FEAD. On the basis of operational 
programmes the money is allocated in project grants to 
eligible partner organisations. The fund will be implemented 
in close cooperation with organisations that have experience 
with helping the most deprived on the ground. This will 
contribute making the fund more efficient and more sensitive 
to the needs of the most deprived. 

Eligibility:
The type of actors that can benefit from FEAD support:

 3 Public bodies

 3 NGOs and charities

 3 Welfare organisation

Further information:
Notification by the European Commission:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?langId=pt&-
catId=89&newsId=1704&furtherNews=yes

B)
  E

mp
lo

ym
en

t&
So

cia
l P

ol
icy

“We have tried to ensure that the fund for European aid 
to the most deprived citizens reaches those in greatest 
need. We have managed to make funding eligible not 
only for buying food directly, but also for facilities that 
food banks can use to collect and distribute additional 
food   
donations. The fund can also be used for undertaking 
awareness raising activities to reach potential food 
donators. This will help to diversify the supply of food 
for the most deprived while at the same time reducing 
food waste.” // Marije Cornelissen

55



26
iii) European Globalisation Adjustment Fund (EGF)

The EGF is an instrument for one-off support to workers in 
the EU that have lost their job due to the closing of large 
enterprises or the removal of a production side as a result 
of globalisation. Up to 500 million € are provided each year 
to help in such cases to provide suitable career advice, 
assistance in the job search and training.

The Greens/EFA group in the European Parliament success-
fully included in the regulation of the EGF that supported 
measures should be compatible with a shift towards a 
resource efficient and sustainable economy. Furthermore, 
thanks to our initiative, self employed and temporary agency 
workers will also have access to EGF supported activities.
Budget: 500 million € per year

Supported activities:
The EGF finances:

 3 job-search assistance

 3 careers advice

 3 tailor-made training and re-training

 3 mentoring

 3 promoting entrepreneurship.

 3 allowances for participating in life  long learning and           
     training activities.

The EGF does not replace social welfare measures, such 
as pensions or unemployment benefits. These remain in the 
responsibility of the Member State.

Implementation:
Applications to receive support from the EGF must be sub-
mitted to the European Commission by the Member States. 
However, the initiative for an application may come from 
stakeholders in the region, i.e. from the affected municipality 
or region, from the social partners involved, or the workers 
involved.

Eligibility:

Individual workers can benefit by their participation in the 
support schemes set up by national governments and sup-
ported by the EGF.

The Member States can delegate the delivery of services 
financed under the EGF to specialised bodies, such as 
training institutions.

Further information: 
A list of contact persons per Member State is available 
under:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=581&langId=en

The Commission wishes to encourage eligible applications 
and it is prepared therefore to offer assistance and other 
guidance before the formal application is submitted. You can 
contact the European Commission directly at: 

 3 EMPL-EGF-Info@ec.europa.eu 

“Fighting unemployment is a top priority for the Greens. 
While economic policies of the EU need to change more        
fundamentally to improve job perspectives, the EGF can    
provide workers with personalised support to find a new 
job in case they are the victim of mass redundancies. 
Our Green focus has been to provide workers who lost 
their jobs with new opportunities in sectors with future 
potential, instead of unsustainable sectors that might 
face new job losses. If rightly used, the EGF should 
provide workers with skills and support needed for the 
ecological transformation to be socially fair.” 
//  Marije Cornelissen

B)
  E

mp
lo

ym
en

t&
So

cia
l P

ol
icy

56

http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=581&langId=en
mailto:EMPL-EGF-Info@ec.europa.eu


  27

B)
  E

mp
lo

ym
en

t&
So

cia
l P

ol
icy

© Photo by Maridav/Shutterstock

27

57



28
c) Culture, Education, Youth

i) Creative Europe
Creative Europe is the EU’s new umbrella programme for its 
funding activities in the cultural and media sector. It follows 
on from the MEDIA 2007-2013 and Culture 2007-2013 
programmes, which continue to exist as sub-programmes, 
to which a new cross-sectorial strand was added. The 
driving motivation behind the more integrated design of 
the programming is said to be a more effective support for 
beneficiaries in the cultural and creative sectors, increasing 
their international dimension and, therefore, their competi-
tiveness. The Commission reinforced de facto in its proposal 
for the new programme a more market and economic growth 
oriented approach, which would have advantaged bigger 
actors. During the negotiations, the European Parliament 
and as one of the driving forces the Greens/EFA group in 
the European Parliament campaigned successfully for a 
broader access to the programme strands, the protection of 
the smaller projects interests, and a more active promotion 
of cultural and linguistic diversity as a richness of Europe 
instead of an obstacle in form of a “fragmented market”.

Budget: 1.462 million € (56 % MEDIA Sub-programme,      
31 % Culture Sub-programme, 13 % Cross-sectoral Strand)

Supported activitieS
As a general principle, the funding activities of the Creative 
Europe programme aim to create a European Added Value. 

This is understood as fulfilling one, or more, of the following 
criteria:

 3 transnational character

 3 promotion of transnational cooperation

 3 the economies of scale and critical mass which Union        
support fosters, creating a leverage effect for additional    
funds; 

 3 ensuring a more level playing field in the  
    European cultural and creative sectors

The support measures are further defined separately for 
each sub-programme. 

MEDIA programme
The MEDIA sub-programme provides support for:

 3 the development of a comprehensive 
range of training measures

 3 the development (writing phase) of European audiovisual 
works, in particular films and television works, as well as 
interactive works such as video games and multimedia with 
enhanced cross-border circulation potential;

 3 activities aiming to support European audiovisual produc-
tion companies through distribution support;

 3 activities helping European and                                          
international co-production partners to come together and/or 
providing indirect support for audiovisual works co-produced 
by international coproduction funds

 3 facilitating access to professional audiovisual trade events 
and markets and the use of online business tools inside and 
outside the Union; 

 3 establishing systems of support for the                   
distribution of non-national European films as well as for 
international sales activities; 

 3 facilitating the circulation of European films worldwide and 
of international films in the Union on all distribution platforms

 3 a European cinema operators’ network screening a signifi-
cant proportion of non-national European films;

 3 initiatives presenting and promoting a 
diversity of European audiovisual works;

 3 activities aimed at promoting film literacy and at increasing 
audiences’ knowledge of, and interest in, European audio  
visual works;

 3 innovative actions testing new business 
models and tools in areas likely to be influenced by the 
introduction and use of digital technologies.

Culture programme
The Culture sub-programme provides support for:

 3 transnational cooperation projects bringing together 
cultural and creative organisations from different countries to 
undertake sectoral or cross-sectoral activities;

 3 activities by European networks of cultural and creative 
organisations from different countries;

 3 activities by organisations (“platforms”) with a European 
vocation fostering the development of emerging talent and 
stimulating the transnational mobility of cultural and creative 
players and circulation of works, with the potential to exert a 
broad influence on the cultural and creative sectors and to 
provide for lasting effects;

 3 literary translation and its further promotion;

 3 special actions designed to make the richness and 
diversity of European cultures more visible and to stimulate 
intercultural dialogue and mutual understanding, including 
Union cultural prizes, the European Capitals of Culture 
action and the European Heritage Label action.
These measures are supposed to support in particular 
non-profit projects.

c)
  C

ul
tu

re
.Ed

uc
at

ion
.Yo

ut
h

“We are facing difficult times and big challenges and 
the European Union is tackling them from different  
angles, with different strategies. The new Creative 
Europe Programme is part of this strategy. We need 
a diverse culture with a strong social integration             
competence, strengthening cultural operators and the 
civil society in order to shape the future of the Europe-
an Union.”  // Helga Trüpel

58

Culture.Education.Youth


  29

c)
  C

ul
tu

re
.Ed

uc
at

ion
.Yo

ut
h

© Lightwaves by Creatmosphere / Photo by James Newton 

29

59

Culture.Education.Youth


30
c)

  C
ul

tu
re

.Ed
uc

at
ion

.Yo
ut

h
Cross-sectorial Strand

This strand of Creative Europe consists of two elements: 
the Guarantee Facility and Funding of Transnational policy 
cooperation. 

The purpose of the Guarantee Facility for the cultural and 
creative sector is:

 3 to facilitate access to finance for SMEs and micro, small 
and medium-sized 
organisations in the cultural and creative sectors;

 3 to improve the capacity of participating financial inter-
mediaries to assess the risks associated with SMEs and 
micro, small and medium-sized organisations in the cultural 
and creative sectors and with their projects, including through 
technical assistance, knowledge-building and networking 
measures. 

The transnational policy cooperation aim at supporting:

 3 transnational exchange of experiences and know-how 
in relation to new business and management models, 
peer-learning activities and networking among cultural and 
creative organisations and policy-makers related to the devel-
opment of the cultural and creative sectors, promoting digital 
networking where appropriate;

 3 the collection of market data, studies, analysis of labour 
market and skills needs, European and national cultural 
policies analysis and support for statistical surveys based on 
instruments and criteria specific to each sector and evalua-
tions, including measurement of all aspects of the impact of 
the Programme;

 3 payment of the contribution fee for Union membership of 
the Observatory to foster data collection and analysis in the 
audio-visual sector;

 3 testing of new and cross-sectoral business approaches to 
funding, distributing and monetising creation; 

 3 conferences, seminars and policy dialogue, including 
in the field of cultural and media literacy, promoting digital 
networking where appropriate; 

 3 the Creative Europe Desks referred to in Article 16 and 
the performance of their tasks. 

Implementation:

The Programme is managed directly by the European 
Commission. It is publishing an annual work plan, in which 
the funding activities for the year are outlined for all three 
strands of the programme. It specifies the amount to be 
allocated, the measures to be financed and the indicative 
implementation timetable.

Eligibility:
In general, the following types of actors are eligible for 
funding:

 3 NGOs

 3 Cultural Organisations

 3 Enterprises

 3 Associations

Individuals are not eligible for direct funding by Creative 
Europe. For the Guarantee Facility (which will start only in 
2016), the eligibility and selection criteria for financial inter-
mediaries as well as the eligibility for the capacity-building 
providers is outlined in the annual work programme.Further 
specifications on the eligibility of actors are given in the 
respective call for proposals and tenders.

Further information:
Official webpage of Creative Europe: 

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/culture/creative-europe/index_en.htm

A list of all Creative Europe Desks in the EU Member States:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/culture/creative-europe/creative-eu-
rope-desks_en.htm

All Calls for Proposals under Creative Europe are available 
under:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/culture/creative-europe/calls/index_
en.htm

ii) Erasmus+ (Education, Training, Youth, Sport)

Erasmus+ is the Commission’s main funding tool in the field 
of education, training, youth and sport for the period 2014-
2020. It is the successor of 7 existing EU programmes and 
its integrated nature is supposed to facilitate the participation 
for organisations and individuals. Erasmus+ encompasses a 
wide range of actions in the fields of:  

 3 education and training in a lifelong learning perspective, 
including school education (Comenius), higher education 
(Erasmus), international higher education (Erasmus Mun-
dus), vocational education and training (Leonardo da Vinci) 
and adult learning (Grundtvig);

 3 youth (Youth in Action), particularly in the context of 
non-formal and informal learning; and

 3 sport. 

A new instrument in the field of education and training is 
the Student Loan guarantee facility. This instrument aims 
at facilitating, for students at master level, the participation 
in a masters programme in another programme country by 
making a loan available that covers parts of the costs. 

The Greens/EFA group in the European Parliament was 
actively involved in the debate around the establishment of 
this tool in order to improve mobility in the EU while guaran-
teeing students a manageable re-imbursement of the debt 
contracted.

Budget: 14,7 billion € (77,5 % education and training, 10 % 
youth, 3,5 % Student Loan Guarantee Facility, 1,9 % Jean 
Monnet, 1,8 % sport, rest for administration and operation)

Supported activities:
In the field of education and training, the programme shall 
pursue its objectives through the following types of actions:

 3 the mobility of students in all cycles of higher education 
and of students, apprentices and pupils in vocational educa-
tion and training; the mobility of staff, within the Programme 
countries

 3 strategic partnerships between organisations and/or 

60

Culture.Education.Youth
programme.Further
http://ec.europa.eu/culture/creative-europe/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/culture/creative-europe/creative-europe-desks_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/culture/creative-europe/creative-europe-desks_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/culture/creative-europe/calls/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/culture/creative-europe/calls/index_en.htm


  31

institutions involved in education and training; partnerships 
between the world of work and education and training 
institutions

 3 the implementation of the Union policy agenda on 
education and training; the implementation in Programme 
countries of Union transparency and recognition tools; the 
policy dialogue with relevant European stakeholders

 3 promote teaching and research on European integration 
(Jean Monnet activities)

 3 The Youth strand promotes the following activities:

 3 mobility of young people in non-formal and informal 
learning activities between the Programme countries and 
of persons active in youth work or youth organisations and 
youth leaders

 3 strategic partnerships aimed at developing and imple-
menting joint initiatives, including youth initiatives and 
citizenship projects

 3 IT support platforms allowing peer learning, knowl-
edge-based youth work, virtual mobility and exchanges of 
good practice

 3 implementation of the Union policy agenda on youth 
through the open method of coordination, implementation of 
Union transparency and recognition tools

 3 support for Union-wide networks and European youth 
NGOs;

 3 policy dialogue with relevant European stakeholders and 
structured dialogue with young people;

 3 the European Youth Forum, resource centres for the 
development of youth work and the Eurodesk network.

 3 Activities in the field of Sport, will encompass:

 3 promotion of voluntary activities in sport, together with 
social inclusion, equal opportunities and awareness of the 
importance of health-enhancing physical activity

 3 promotion and support of good governance in sport and 
dual careers of athletes;

The Student Loan Guarantee Facility provides partial risk guaran-
tees for financial intermediary bodies in order to ensure the avail-
ability of student loans to the most favourable terms possible.

Implementation:

The European Commission manages all programmes under 
Erasmus+, sets their priorities and targets and evaluates 
their success. The centralised actions under Erasmus+ are 
implemented by the Education, Audiovisual and Culture 
Executive Agency. This agency is responsible for the pub-
lication of the calls for proposals and the analysis of grant 
requests. 

Due to the specific competency of Member States for educa-
tion, however, most of the programmes under Erasmus+ are 
implemented by national agencies, which are closer to the 
beneficiaries and can better adapt to the national context. 
Each of the participating countries has appointed one agen-
cy, which is acting as the link between the Commission and 
participating organisations in the programmes.

The Student Loan Guarantee Facility will be managed by the 
European Investment Fund and implemented by financial 
intermediaries, such as banks, national and/or regional 
student lending institutions or other recognised financial 
institutions. The aim is to select a financial intermediary from 
each programme country. 

Further information on the functioning of this facility can be 
found in Annex II of the Erasmus+ Regulation.

Eligibility:

The Erasmus+ Programme is open to all EU Member States 
and partner countries specified under Article 24 of the Eras-
mus+ Regulation.

There are two types of actor that can benefit from the Eras-
mus+ programmes:
Any private or public body active in the field of education, 
training, youth and sport (including groups of young people 
active in youth work but not necessarily in the context of 
youth organisations, also referred to as informal groups of 
young people)

 3 participants, i.e. individuals participating in the pro-
gramme. These could be students, trainees, apprentices, 
pupils, adult learners, young people, volunteers, professors, 
teachers, trainers, youth workers, etc. (Job seekers are 
excluded from this programme, and covered by the ESF)
For both participants and participating organisations, the 
conditions for participation depend on the country in which 
they are based.

Further information:
European Commission - Directorate General Education & 
Culture (DG EAC)

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/erasmus-plus  

European Commission - Education, Audio-visual and Culture 
Executive Agency (EACEA)

 3 http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/index_en.php 

A list of all National Agencies

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/erasmus-plus/na 

c)
  C

ul
tu

re
.Ed

uc
at

ion
.Yo

ut
h

61

http://ec.europa.eu/erasmus
http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/index_en.php
http://ec.europa.eu/erasmus-plus/na
Culture.Education.Youth


32
iii) Europe for Citizens

The programme Europe for Citizens pursues two central   
objectives: (1) European remembrance through the       
stimulation of debates, reflection and networking on the 
Union’s history, identity and goals; and (2) Democratic 
engagement and civic participation through the promotion of 
a better understanding of EU policy-making and the further 
development of opportunities for participation at Union level. 
Next to these central objectives, the programme supports 
horizontal activities for the analysis, dissemination and use 
of project results.

The Greens/EFA group campaigned actively for an exten-
sion of the Europe for Citizens programme. We consider it to 
play an important role for a more democratic and participa-
tive Union. It is a missed opportunity that the budget and 
the scope of actions of the programme are cut back in the 
current period. We consider the available budget as being 
too little with regards to the huge potentials of this type of 
support by the Commission.

Budget: 186 million €

Supported activities:
1. Action grants provide funding for actions with a             
limited lifetime during which proposed specific activities are 
implemented. All actions funded under this programme shall 
have a European dimension and shall be implemented on a 
transnational basis or have a European dimension.

The European remembrance strand supports activities that 
promote the reflection on European cultural diversity and on 
common values. It finances projects reflecting on causes 
of totalitarian regimes in Europe’s modern history (espe-
cially, but not exclusively, Nazism that led to the Holocaust, 
Fascism, Stalinism and totalitarian communist regimes) and 
to commemorate the victims of their crimes. Furthermore, 
other defining moments and reference points in recent 
European history can lie in the focus of projects. Preference 
will be given to concepts that promote tolerance, intercultural 
dialogues and reconciliation on the basis of mutual under-
standing. The democratic engagement and civic participation 
strand funds the following type of actions:

Town twinning projects that bring together citizens

 3 Networks of towns that cooperate on longer term on a 
common topic

 3 Civil society projects that gather citizens for activities 
with a direct link to EU policies and offer the possibility for 
participation in the EU policy-making process

2. Operating grants provide financial support for regular and 
usual activities of an organisation.

 3 Under the heading of European remembrance, organisa-
tions reflecting on causes of totalitarian regimes in Europe’s 
modern history as well as on other defining moments and 
reference points in recent European history are eligible for 
operation grants.

 3 Under the heading democratic engagement and civic 
participation, organisations working on citizens’ participation 
in the democratic life of the EU, ranging from local democ-
racy to the empowerment of citizens to play a full part in EU 
policy are eligible for operating grants.

 

“The programme is extremely valuable as it allows for 
the citizens to engage across borders and to play an 
active role in the construction of an integrated Europe. 
It fosters tolerance and intercultural dialogue and a truly 
European citizenship.” //  Helga Trüpel

c)
  C

ul
tu

re
.Ed

uc
at

ion
.Yo

ut
h

62

Culture.Education.Youth


  33

c)
  C

ul
tu

re
. E

du
ca

tio
n.

 Yo
ut

h

© Photo by VENtDUSUD/Shutterstock 

33

63



34
Implementation:

The programme and the majority of action are centrally man-
aged by the Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive 
Agency of the Commission. The funds of the Europe for 
Citizens programme are allocated through grant and public 
procurement contracts. 

The Commission publishes annual work programmes, 
which give further information on the objectives, the method 
of implementation, the amount of the financing plan, the 
co-financing rate, a description of actions supported and an 
indicative implementation timetable.

Eligibility:
Programme funding is open to all actors promoting Europe-
an citizenship and integration, especially:

 3 local and regional authorities

 3 civil-society organisations in the fields of culture, youth 
and education

 3 research institutions

Further information:
Official website of the programme:

 3 http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/europe-for-citizens_en

Europe for Citizens Point in each Member State:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/citizenship/about-the-europe-for-citi-
zens-programme/the-europe-for-citizens-programme-in-the-
member-states/index_en.htm

iv) Erasmus for Young Entrepreneurs

The EU starts in the period 2014-2020 a new funding 
instrument for the Competitiveness of Enterprises and Small 
and Medium-sized Enterprises, called COSME. One of its 
sections, the support for entrepreneurs, includes an initiative 
offering help to young entrepreneurs by financing the oppor-
tunity to learn from an experience host entrepreneur running 
a small business in the context of an Erasmus stay abroad.
The programme is designed for mutual benefit, allowing both 
sides to profit from the exchange: the young entrepreneur 
has the opportunity to acquire the knowledge needed to run 
a small firm and the host entrepreneur gains new perspec-
tives, potential foreign partners and knowledge of new 
markets for his/her business.

Supported activities:
Activities of the young entrepreneur can be for example:

 3 shadowing a senior host entrepreneur;
    market research and developing new business                       
    opportunities;

 3 project development,

 3 taking a fresh look at existing business operations;

 3 understanding SME finance;

 3 branding, sales and marketing of the HE’s company;

 3 work on concrete projects from one or more of the above  
     mentioned areas.

Implementation:
The programme is facilitated by intermediary organisations, 
which are in charge of establishing the contact between the 
young entrepreneurs and host entrepreneurs. The Erasmus 
for Young Entrepreneurs Support Office supervises their 
work and ensures consistency on the European level. Appli-
cations for the participation in the programme should ideally 
be send to the intermediary organisation in your region or 
country of origin.

c)
  C

ul
tu

re
.Ed

uc
at

ion
.Yo

ut
h

Eligibility:

All new Entrepreneurs, who are planning to start their own 
business and are in possession of a viable business plan, 
can participate in the programme. This means you could be 
still in the phase of planning, or you might have already start-
ed your own business and are not longer in operation than 
three years. Furthermore, the participants must demonstrate 
a sound educational and vocational background. The pro-
gramme is open to all sectors.The host entrepreneurs must 
be successful and experienced entrepreneurs or persons 
directly involved at SME board level in the entrepreneurship. 
The host entrepreneurs must show a commitment to the de-
velopment of the new entrepreneur’s knowledge and skills.

Further information:
Official programme website:

 3 http://www.erasmus-entrepreneurs.eu/index.php#.Ut6CH-
KVZAy4 

Your local contact point is available under: 

 3 http://www.erasmus-entrepreneurs.eu/page.php?cid=5#.
Ut5-D6VZAy4

Success stories:

 3 http://www.erasmus-entrepreneurs.eu/page.php?cid=9#.
Ut6CQqVZAy4

64

http://eacea.ec.europa.eu/europe
http://ec.europa.eu/citizenship/about-the-europe-for-citizens-programme/the-europe-for-citizens-programme-in-the-member-states/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/citizenship/about-the-europe-for-citizens-programme/the-europe-for-citizens-programme-in-the-member-states/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/citizenship/about-the-europe-for-citizens-programme/the-europe-for-citizens-programme-in-the-member-states/index_en.htm
Culture.Education.Youth
sectors.The
http://www.erasmus-entrepreneurs.eu/index.php
http://www.erasmus-entrepreneurs.eu/page.php?cid=5#.Ut5-D6VZAy4
http://www.erasmus-entrepreneurs.eu/page.php?cid=5#.Ut5-D6VZAy4
http://www.erasmus-entrepreneurs.eu/page.php?cid=9#.Ut6CQqVZAy4
http://www.erasmus-entrepreneurs.eu/page.php?cid=9#.Ut6CQqVZAy4


  35

c)
  C

ul
tu

re
. E

du
ca

tio
n.

 Yo
ut

h

© Photo by Diego Cervo/Shutterstock

35

65



36
d) Civil Rights, Justice, Security

i) Rights, Equality and Citizenship Programme
The new Rights, Equality and Citizenship Programme 
integrates the previous EU programmes Fundamental Rights 
and Citizenship, Daphne III, and the sections “Antidiscrim-
ination and Diversity” and “Gender Equality” of the PRO-
GRESS programme. It is designed to promote the rights of 
European citizens, the principles of equality between men 
and women and the protection against any form of discrim-
ination. The programme’s main objective is enhancing the 
awareness of EU law and of the rights, values and principles 
underpinning the Union.

The Greens/EFA group in the European Parliament involved 
actively to ensure a prominent role of measures to prevent 
and combat all forms of violence against women, children, 
and young people, and gender based violence, as well as to 
protect victims of such violence.

Budget: 439 million €

Supported activities:
The programme will finance the following activities:

 3 analytical activities: the collection of data and statistics, 
studies, researches, analyses and surveys, evaluations, the 
elaboration and publication of guides, reports and educa-
tional material, workshops, seminars, experts’ meetings and 
conferences;

 3 training activities, such as staff exchanges, workshops, 
seminars, train-the-trainer events and the development of 
online training tools or other training modules;

 3 mutual learning, cooperation, awareness-raising and 
dissemination activities, such as the identification of, and 
exchanges concerning good practices, innovative approach-
es and experiences; the organisation of peer reviews and 
mutual learning; the organisation of conferences, seminars, 
media campaigns, information campaigns;

 3 support for main actors whose activities contribute to the 
implementation of the objectives of the Programme, such 
as support for NGOs in the implementation of actions with 
European added value, support for key European actors, 

European-level networks and harmonised services of social 
value; support for Member States in the implementation of 
Union law and policies; and support for networking activities 
at European level among specialised bodies and entities as 
well as national, regional and local authorities and NGOs.

Implementation:

The Programme is managed directly by the European 
Commission. The Commission publishes annual work plans, 
in which the funding activities, the amount to be allocated, 
the measures to be financed and the indicative implementa-
tion timetable are outlined in further detail. The allocation of 
funds is organised by the Commission by a call for applica-
tion for action grants or operating grants.

Eligibility:
The programme is open to all EU member states and further 
partner countries, further specified under Article 6 of the 
Rights, Equality and Citizenship Programme Regulation.

Types of actors that can benefit from the programmes:

 3 Public bodies

 3 NGOs and civil society

 3 Bodies and entities, which are profit-oriented, only have 
access to the Programme in conjunction with non-profit or 
public organisations.

 3 Further specification on the eligibility of actors is given in 
the respective call for proposals and tenders.

Further information:
Official website of the Directorate General Justice:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/justice/index_en.htm#newsroom-tab

Information on open call for tenders:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/justice/newsroom/contracts/index_
en.htm

Information on open call for proposals:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/justice/newsroom/grants/index_en.htmd)
  C

ivi
l R

ig
ht

s.J
us

tic
e.S

ec
ur

ity

“It’s important to help develop and implement EU 
values and legislation at the grassroots level. As well 
as continuing important work on domestic violence 
and helping to embed equality, it now includes the                         
promotion of children’s rights and data protection 
awareness. Don’t leave this money unspent.”                
 // Jean Lambert

66

http://ec.europa.eu/justice/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/justice/newsroom/contracts/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/justice/newsroom/contracts/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/justice/newsroom/grants/index_en.htm
Rights.Justice.Security


  37

d)
  C

ivi
l R

ig
ht

s.J
us

tic
e.S

ec
ur

ity

 =67

Rights.Justice.Security


38
d)

  C
ivi

l R
ig

ht
s.J

us
tic

e.S
ec

ur
ity

ii) Justice Programme

The main objective of the Justice Programme is providing 
support to the creation of a truly European area of Justice, 
based on mutual trust. The programme promotes more 
specifically judicial cooperation in civil and criminal matters; 
supports training to judges, prosecutors and other legal 
professionals, and finances EU action to tackle drugs. Thus, 
the programme contributes to the effective and consistent 
application of EU legislation as regards civil law and criminal 
law that covers for instance procedural rights and victims’ 
rights. The Justice Programme integrates three existing pro-
grammes of the current funding period: Civil Justice, Criminal 
Justice and Drug Prevention and Information Programmes.
The Greens/EFA group in the European Parliament was able 
to ensure during the negotiations that fundamental rights play 
an important role in the implementation of the programme.

Budget: 377 million €

Supported activities:

 3 analytical activities, such as the collection of data and 
statistics; studies, researches, analyses and surveys; evalu-
ations; the elaboration and publication of guides, reports and 
educational material; workshops, seminars, experts meetings 
and conferences;

 3 training activities, such as staff exchanges, workshops, 
seminars, train-the-trainer events, including language training 
on legal terminology, and the development of online training 
tools or other training modules for members of the judiciary 
and judicial staff;

 3 mutual learning, cooperation, awareness-raising and 
dissemination activities, such as the identification of, and 
exchanges concerning, good practices, innovative approach-
es and experiences; the organisation of peer reviews and 
mutual learning; the organisation of conferences, seminars, 
information campaigns; the compilation and publication of 
materials to disseminate information about the Programme 
and its results; the development, operation and maintenance 
of systems and tools, using information and communication 
technologies;

 3 support for main actors whose activities contribute to 
the implementation of the objectives of the Programme, 
such as support for Member States in the implementation 
of Union law and policies, support for key European actors 
and European-level networks; and support for networking 
activities at European level among specialised bodies and 
entities as well as national, regional and local authorities and 
non-govern mental organisations.

Implementation:
The Programme is managed directly by the European 
Commission. The Commission publishes annual work plans, 
in which the funding activities, the amount to be allocated, 
the measures to be financed and the indicative implementa-
tion timetable are outlined in further detail. The allocation of 
funds is organised by the Commission by call for proposal, 
which are published on an annual basis.

Eligibility:
The programme is open to all EU member states and further 
partner countries, further specified under Article 7 of the 
Justice Programme Regulation.

Types of actors that can benefit from the programmes:

 3 National, regional and local authorities

 3 Public bodies

 3 NGOs

 3 Bodies and entities, which are profit-oriented, only have 
access to the Programme in conjunction with non-profit or 
public organisations.

Further specification on the eligibility of actors is given in the 
respective call for proposals and tenders.

Further information:

Official website of the Directorate General Justice:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/justice/index_en.htm#newsroom-tab

Information on open call for tenders:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/justice/newsroom/contracts/index_
en.htm

Information on open call for proposals:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/justice/newsroom/grants/index_en.htm

iii) Asylum and Migration Fund

At the moment of publication of this guide, several details of 
the fund were still in negotiation. Therefore, the information 
given in this section is preliminary in nature.

The Asylum and Migration Fund is a new programme, which 
integrates activities that are currently covered by separate 
funds, namely the European Refugee Fund, the European 
Fund for the Integration of third-country nationals and the 
European Return Fund. The new design is supposed to 
better align EU spending in the field of migration and simplify 
the implementation of funds.

The fund addresses different field of EU migration policy, 
it covers the support of actions in relation to asylum, legal 
migration and the integration of third-country nationals, as 
well as return operations.

68

Rights.Justice.Security
http://ec.europa.eu/justice/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/justice/newsroom/contracts/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/justice/newsroom/contracts/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/justice/newsroom/grants/index_en.htm


  39
Besides a critical view on certain measures under the 
Asylum and Migration Fund, the Greens/EFA group in 
the European Parliament achieved certain success in the 
negotiations: We were able to include a commitment to 
resettlement and relocation measures in the programme. 
This demonstrates solidarity and helps refugees, whose lives 
and liberties are at risk. We achieved that NGOs are eligible 
to funding from the Asylum and Migration Fund. Another 
important element in the new programme is a stronger defi-
nition of indicators for the implementation and evaluation of 
the Programme. This will help to ensure that Member States 
follow closer the EU guidelines for funding.

Budget: 3 869 million €

Supported activities:
National programmes:

 3 Reception and asylum systems 

 3 Member States’ capacity to develop, monitor and evaluate       
     their asylum policies

 3 Resettlement and relocation

 3 Immigration and pre-departure measures

 3 Integration measures at local and regional level

 3 Measures accompanying return procedures

 3 Return measures

 3 Practical co-operation and capacity building measures

 3 Emergency assistance to address urgent and specific       
     needs.

Support of the European Migration Network in order to:

 3 collect and exchange up-to-date, objective, reliable and    
    comparable data and information

 3 undertake analysis of the data and information

 3 produce and publish periodic reports on the migration and   
    asylum situation

 3 serve as a reference to the wider public for objective,      
    impartial information on migration and asylum

Implementation:

Where possible, the fund is implemented by national 
programmes of the EU Member States. Member States or 
regional authorities are in this case responsible for alloca-
tion of grants to eligible beneficiaries. We want to encour-
age NGOs to involve actively in the elaboration of these 
programmes and push Member States to devote higher 
importance to the support and integration refugees.
Specific transnational or particularly innovative projects, as 
well as support to non-state actors and the promotion of 
events and studies are managed directly by the Commis-
sion.

Another share of the budget is implemented through the 
European Migration Network. 

Eligibility:
The programme is open to all EU Member States and further 
partner countries, further specified under Article 7 of the 
Justice Programme Regulation.

Types of actors that can benefit from the programmes:

 3 National, regional and local authorities

 3 Public bodies

 3 NGOs

 3 Bodies and entities, which are profit-oriented, only have 
access to the Programme in conjunction with non-profit or 
public organisations.

Further specification on the eligibility of actors is given in the 
respective call for proposals and tenders.

d)
  C

ivi
l R

ig
ht

s.J
us

tic
e.S

ec
ur

ity

Further information:

Official website of the Home Affairs programmes:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/home-affairs/financing/fundings/
funding-home-affairs-beyond-2013/index_en.htm

Information on all DG HOME Calls for Proposals currently 
open:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/home-affairs/financing/fundings/
calls-for-proposals/index_en.htm#/c_

69

Rights.Justice.Security
http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/home-affairs/financing/fundings/funding-home-affairs-beyond-2013/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/home-affairs/financing/fundings/funding-home-affairs-beyond-2013/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/home-affairs/financing/fundings/calls-for-proposals/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/home-affairs/financing/fundings/calls-for-proposals/index_en.htm


40
e) 

 LI
FE

e)  LIFE - Programme for the 
     Environment and Climate Action

The LIFE programme’s general objective is the con-
servation of nature and the contribution to sustainable 
development. The new programme for the period 
2014-2020 is sub-divided into two strands: Environment 
and Climate Action. The Environment strand includes 
three priority areas: environment and resource efficiency, 
nature and biodiversity, and governance and information. 
The sub-programme Climate Action consists as of three 
priorities: adaption, mitigation, and governance and 
information.

The Greens/EFA group was actively involved in the ne-
gotiations on the programme. It is a Green success that 
the selection of project funding will be based on merits, 
and not on a prefixed national allocation. This allows 
a more effective use of EU money for projects with the 
most relevant effects on environmental protection and 
climate adaptation/mitigation. Additionally, projects in 
the field of biodiversity will receive higher co-financing 
from the Commission, thus making it easier to realise 
biodiversity projects, for which it was difficult to receive 
additional funding. Furthermore, integrated projects will 
promote a closer cooperation between authorities and 
reinforce integrated action. 

Budget: 3.4 billion € (Environment: 2.6 billion €, Climate 
action: 0.8 billion €)

Supported activities:
The Environment strand supports projects in the fields of:

 3 nature and biodiversity

 3 water and marine environment

 3 waste

 3 resource efficiency, including soil and forests, as well      
     as green and circular economy

 3 environment and health, including chemicals and    
     noise

 3 air quality and emissions, including the urban               
     environment information and governance

The Climate Action strand supports projects in the fields of:

 3 implementation and development of Union policies and 
legislation and mainstreaming of activities across policy 
areas

 3 improvement and application of knowledge base in 
practice

 3 development and implementation of integrated strategies 
and action plans

 3 development and demonstration of innovative technol-
ogies, systems, methods and instruments for replication, 
transfer or mainstreaming

Implementation:
The Environment strand budget will be allocated in a first 
phase (2014-2017) to projects with respect to a national al-
location and in a second phase (2018-2020) projects will be 
supported on a merit basis. Projects covered by the Climate 
Action strand are selected throughout the whole period on a 
merit basis. 

At least 81% of the LIFE programme’s budget will be im-
plemented through project grants. The rest will be allocated 
in the form of operating grants for the support of non-profit 
organisations and public procurements for studies and other 
services.
Further information on the allocation of funds between prior-
ity areas and between different types of funding within each 
sub-programme are published by the Commission in a multi 
annual work programme.

Eligibility:
All Member States participate in the LIFE programme. 
Furthermore, the support of activities outside the Union is 
possible under certain conditions: 

 3 the action outside the EU is necessary to achieve EU 
environmental/climate objective, 

 3 it ensures the effectiveness of interventions carried out in 
the Member States and the coordinating beneficiary is based 
in the EU.

Funding under the LIFE programme is open to public and 
private bodies.

Further information:
Official website of the LIFE programme:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/environment/life/index.htm

LIFE activities in your Member State:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/environment/life/countries/index.htm

“LIFE is a very successful European programme and 
an important part of our common effort to preserve 
and ensure a healthy environment for generations to 
come. With climate change threatening our homes and 
livelihoods the new LIFE-programme aims at helping 
communities to engage in adaptation projects to 
prevent the worst impacts from heavy rainfall and 
stormier weather that we are already experiencing due 
to this generation’s lack of commitment to combat 
climate change.”  //  Margrete Auken

70

http://ec.europa.eu/environment/life/index.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/environment/life/countries/index.htm


  41

“Scientific evidence is overwhelming that insufficient 
action on the environment and biodiversity will re-
sult in massive losses for Europe’s and the world’s                
economy (e.g. 7% of world GDP if biodiversity loss 
is not reversed). Despite its small budget the LIFE 
instrument has proven to be a very effective financial 
mechanism of the EU supporting the implementation of 
the EU’s Birds and Habitats Directives, including Natura 
2000. It is of uttermost importance that local authorities 
and NGOs get access to those funds.” //  Sandrine Bélier

e) 
 LI

FE

© Photo by Andrew Scherbackov/Shutterstock

71



42
F) 

 Co
nn

ec
tin

g E
ur

op
e F

ac
ili

ty
 f)  Connecting Europe Facility (CEF) –              

     Energy, Transport and  Broadband Networks

The CEF is the new umbrella programme for EU                     
investments in energy, transport and broadband infrastruc-
ture projects of common European interest. The programme 
integrates the three sectors in order to better exploit syner-
gies between funded projects. 

Budget: 50 billion Euros (31.7 billion Euro transport              
infrastructure, 9.1 billion Euros energy grids, 9.2 billion Euro 
broadband networks)

Supported activities:

Investments in transport infrastructure:

 3 removing bottlenecks and bridging missing links

 3 ensuring sustainable and efficient transport

 3 optimising the integration and interconnection of                   
     transport modes and enhancing the interoperability of   
     transport services

Investments in energy:

 3 increasing competitiveness by promoting the further   
     integration of the internal energy market

 3 interoperability of electricity and gas networks across   
     borders

 3 enhancing Union security of energy supply

 3 integration of energy from renewable sources into the   
    transmission network and developing carbon dioxide   
     networks

 3 investment in broadband networks

 3 deployment of fast and ultrafast broadband networks 

 3 establishment of cross-border access to an interoperable,  
     digital public service infrastructure

Implementation:

The Commission adopts multiannual and annual work 
programmes for each of the transport, telecommunications 
and energy sector, which specify what forms of financial 
assistance are used for the allocation of the budget. The 
money is allocated through grants, procurements and finan-
cial instruments.

Eligibility:
Proposals shall be submitted by one or more Member States 
or, with the agreement of the Member States concerned, 
by international organisations, joint undertakings, or public 
or private undertakings or bodies established in Member 
States.

Further information:
Information on the CEF in the field of Energy:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/energy/mff/facility/connecting_eu-
rope_en.htm

Information on the CEF in the field of Transport:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/transport/themes/infrastructure/con-
necting_en.htm

Information on the CEF in the field of Broadband

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/digital-agenda/en/connecting-eu-
rope-facility

“The Connecting Europe Facility is together with 
the structural funds a possibility to speed up the 
investments into wind and solar energy in Europe 
and to link these green energies over the borders 
of individual Member States.”  //  Claude Turmes

“The concept of Connecting Europe Facility is right: Europe has to grow together, in particular on the 
environmentally-resilient railways. However, the priority of transport policy focusses on the construction of projects of 
megalomaniac dimension that absorb huge amounts of money and time but prevent Europe from really growing together.
The European railway network is highly fragmented, its gaps lie exactly where the national borders lie. To close these 
missing cross-border railway links that have been destroyed by the war and by post-war policies as well as focussing on 
noise-reduction measures in the railway sector is highest priority.”  //  Michael Cramer

72

http://ec.europa.eu/energy/mff/facility/connecting_europe_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/energy/mff/facility/connecting_europe_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/transport/themes/infrastructure/connecting_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/transport/themes/infrastructure/connecting_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/digital-agenda/en/connecting


  43

F) 
 Co

nn
ec

tin
g E

ur
op

e F
ac

ili
ty

 

© Photo by ImaginePlaces 2013 

43

73



44
g) Emergency aid instruments
i) Union Civil Protection Mechanism
The Union Civil Protection Mechanism is a EU instrument 
to promote more effective systems for preventing and 
responding to natural and man-made disasters. It supports 
the coordination between Member States and with the EU in 
order to achieve a high level of protection against disasters, 
to enhance preparedness at Member State and Union level 
to respond to disasters and to facilitate rapid and efficient 
response in the event of disaster. For local authorities, this 
instrument is interesting in relation to measures for prepar-
edness and prevention of disaster. 

Budget: 368 million €

Supported activities:
The Union Mechanism supports activities in the following 
fields:

 3 Prevention actions

 3 Risk management

 3 Preparedness actions of the Commission and in the   
      Member States

 3 Establishment of the Emergency Response Coordination  
     Centre to ensure 24/7 operational capacity, and serve the  
     Member States and the Commission

 3 European Emergency Response Capacity as a voluntary  
     pool of pre-committed response capacities of the Member  
     States

 3 Planning of operations 

 3 Addressing response capacity gaps 

 3 Training, exercises, lessons learnt and knowledge dis  
      semination

 3 Notification of disasters within the Union 

 3 Promoting consistency in the response to disasters   
     outside the Union

 3 Support on site

 3 Transport and equipment

Implementation:
Except for actions falling under the emergency response, 
the Commission adopts annual work programmes that set 
out the objectives pursued, the method of implementation, a 
description of actions and indicative financial allocation and 
an indicative implementation timetable.
Financial assistance may take various forms, in particular 
grants, reimbursement of expenses, public procurement, or 
contributions to trust funds.

Eligibility: 
Funding is open to all EU Member States and further partner 
countries, further specified under Article 28 of the Union Civil 
Protection Mechanism Regulation.

Potential beneficiaries:

 3 public administrative bodies

 3 universities

 3 international organizations

 3 enterprises

Further specification on the eligibility of actors is given in the 
respective call for proposals and tenders.

Further information:
Official website of the programme:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/echo/funding/financial_instrument_
en.htm

ii) European Union Solidarity Fund (EUSF)
At the moment of publication of this guide, a revision of the 
Solidarity Fund is still under negotiation. The information 
given in this section is, therefore, preliminary in nature.
The Solidarity Fund is a EU wide solidarity mechanism in or-
der to provide support to Member States and regions within 
Europe that have been stricken by major natural disasters. 
Since its creation in 2002, the EUSF has reacted to over 
50 disasters including floods, forest fires, earthquakes and 
storms with more than 3.5 billion € of financial support.

The Greens/EFA group supports the creation and mobilisa-
tion of the fund to help regions and Member States suffering 
from the consequences of a natural disaster. We point to the 
need for further prevention to avoid, where possible, the re-
occurrence and the scope of damage caused by a disaster. 

Budget: annual total of 500 million €

Supported activities:
The EUSF provides financial support to the concerned Mem-
ber States’ public investment for disaster relief:

 3 Immediate restoration to working order of infrastructure 
and plant in the fields of energy, drinking water, waste water, 
transport, telecommunications, health and education

 3 Providing temporary accommodation and emergency 
services to meet the immediate needs of the population;

 3 Immediate securing of prevention infrastructures and 
measures to protect the cultural heritage;

 3 Cleaning up of disaster-stricken areas, including natural 
zones.

Implementation:
In order to receive support from the Solidarity Fund, the 
Member State concerned has to send an application to the 
Commission within 10 weeks of the date of the first damage 
caused by the disaster. A direct contact to the Directorate 
General for Regional Policy is recommended to facilitate the 
process. 

In case the application is accepted and the European Parlia-
ment and the Council have approved the budget for financial 
support, the aid is paid immediately and in a single instal-
ment to the Member State. Subsequently, the affected State 
is responsible for the implementation including the selection 
of operations and their audit and control. 
Emergency measures may be financed retroactively from 
day one of the disaster.

g)
  E

me
rg

en
cy

 ai
d i

ns
tr

um
en

ts

74

http://ec.europa.eu/echo/funding/financial_instrument_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/echo/funding/financial_instrument_en.htm


  45

 g)
  E

me
rg

en
cy

 ai
d i

ns
tr

um
en

ts

A new rapid advance payments mechanism shall enable the 
Solidarity Fund to react quickly to an urgent request of an 
affected Member State. The mechanism is limited to 10% of 
the expected amount of the financial aid and capped at EUR 
30 million.

Eligibility:
All Member States as well as accession countries are eligi-
ble for EUSF funding in the event of a major natural disaster, 
and under certain circumstances a regional disaster.

Further Information:
Official website of the Solidarity Fund:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/thefunds/solidarity/
index_en.cfm#1

© Photo by Jaromir Chalabala/Shutterstock 

45

75

http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/thefunds/solidarity/index_en.cfm
http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/thefunds/solidarity/index_en.cfm


46
h)  HORIZON 2020 – Framework Programme   
      for Research and Innovation

HORIZON 2020 is the new framework for the EU’s investments 
in research and innovation for every stage of the innovation 
process from basic research to market uptake. Its main prior-
ities are generating excellent science, creating leadership in 
industrial technologies, and tackling societal challenges. The 
newly designed programme is the successor of the previous 7th 
Research Framework Programme, and integrates the Intelligent 
Energy Europe Programme and parts of the Competitiveness 
and Innovation Framework Programme (CIP). Additionally, the 
activities of the European Institute of Innovation and Technology 
are integrated into the strategic framework of HORIZON 2020. In 
the negotiations on the design of the new programme, the Greens/
EFA group in the European Parliament was able to contribute 
proactively and achieve modifications in a broad spectrum of 
fields. We successfully promoted multi-disciplinary approaches, 
the integration of social sciences across the whole programme 
and, in particular, the closer participation of citizens, end-users, 
civil society and public sector organisations. We have fought for 
more funding opportunities for SMEs. We ensured that scientific 
publications resulting from HORIZON 2020 funding will be publicly 
accessible, and that access to data will be promoted. We 
reinforced the need to respect the fundamental rights and 
freedoms of natural persons, and in particular their rights to 
privacy. In the field of energy, we have ensured that 85% of the 
investment will be allocated to renewable energies, end-use 
energy efficiency, smart grids and storage technologies and we 
underpinned several parts of the programme with the objectives of 
sustainability, resource and energy efficiency.

Budget: 74.3 billion Euro 

Supported Activities:
The HORIZON 2020 Framework Programme addresses, with its 
funding activities, a large variety of thematic fields, which can be 
structured according the programmes’ key objectives:

Excellent Science
 3 European Research Council

 3 Future and Emerging Technologies

 3 Marie Skłodowska-Curie actions

 3 European Research Infrastructures,                                                
including e-Infrastructures

Industrial Leadership
 3 Leadership in Enabling and Industrial Technologies

 3 Information and Communication Technologies

 3 Nanotechnologies, Advanced Materials, Advanced          
    Manufacturing and Processing, and Biotechnology

 3 Space

 3 Access to risk finance

 3 Innovation in SMEs

Societal Challenges

 3 Health, Demographic Change and Wellbeing

 3 Food Security, Sustainable Agriculture and                         
    Forestry,   Marine, Maritime and Inland Water Research     
   and the Bio-economy

 3 Secure, Clean and Efficient Energy

 3 Smart, Green and Integrated Transport

 3 Climate Action, Environment, Resource Efficiency and    
     Raw Materials

 3 Europe in a changing world - Inclusive, innovative and     
     reflective societies

 3 Secure societies – Protecting freedom and security of      
     Europe and its citizens

Spreading Excellence and Widening Participation
 3 Funding which addresses the EU’s internal disparities in terms 

of research & innovation performance. Measures in this section are 
targeted at the Member States most in need of Cohesion Policy.

Science with and for Society
 3 build effective cooperation between science and society,   

    including  and civil society citizen’s participation 

 3 recruit new talent for science

 3 pair scientific excellence with social awareness,                   
    sustainability and responsibility 

European Institute of Innovation and Technology (EIT) organises 
Knowledge and Innovation Communities in the following field:

 3 Innovation for healthy living and active ageing

 3 Raw materials – sustainable exploration, extraction,     
    processing and recycling

 3 Added-value manufacturing

 3 Food4Future – sustainable supply chain from resources to       
    consumers

 3 Urban mobility

h)
  H

OR
IZO

N 
20

20

“We have been successful in Greening the objectives 
of Horizon 2020, widen stakeholder’s participation and 
strengthen its synergies with other EU, national and 
regional funds. The programme is open to support the 
development of eco-innovative solutions for a large 
range of societal concerns, both at international and 
at local level. Now we need good projects to make it 
greener in the facts. I therefore encourage all types of 
organisations (civil society, SMEs, local and regional 
authorities) with eco-innovative ideas to actively seek 
funding and partners under the Programme.” 
//  Philippe Lamberts

76



  47
Implementation:

The Commission adopts work programmes for the implemen-
tation of the different sections of the Framework Programme, 
which outline in further detail the funding objectives and sup-
ported types of actions, and give an indicative implementation 
timetable. The funds are mostly allocated through project grants 
for duration of usually 3 years. However for larger investments 
and market-oriented activities, access to loans and equity are 
made available under an EIB/EIF facility. 

Eligibility:
All EU Member States.

 3 Public sector bodies                                                            
     (including local and regional administrations) 

 3 Public and private institutions

 3 Universities and research Institutes or research                  
     organisations

 3 Enterprises and SMEs, including social enterprises

 3 NGOs, civil society organisations, stakeholders/              
     end-users organisations in all sectors

 3 Independent researchers, including starting researchers,       
      from any country in the world

Further Information:

Official website of the HORIZON 2020 Programme:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/programmes/horizon2020/
Participant Portal for HORZION 2020 Funding:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/
home.html
Funding for SMEs:

 3 https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/
funding/sme_participation.html 

h)
  H

OR
IZO

N 
20

20

© Photo by Christine Langer-Pueschel/Shutterstock

 47

77

http://ec.europa.eu/programmes/horizon2020
http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/home.html
http://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/home.html
https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/funding/sme_participation.html
https://ec.europa.eu/research/participants/portal/desktop/en/funding/sme_participation.html


48
i) E

U H
ea

lth
 Pr

og
ra

mm
e

i)  EU Health Programme

At the moment of publication of this guide, several details of 
the Health Programme were still in negotiation. Therefore, 
the information given in this section is preliminary in nature.
The main purpose of the Health Programme is to support 
and complement the Member States’ national health policies 
in order to improve the health of EU citizens and reduce 
inequalities. 

The central objectives of the programme are to: 

 3 promote health, prevent disease and foster supportive      
    environments for healthy lifestyles

 3 facilitate access to better and safer healthcare for EU      
    citizens

 3 encourage innovation and sustainability in health systems

 3 protect citizens from serious cross-border health threats

The Greens/EFA group in the European Parliament ensured 
with its initiatives that the programme includes a strong refer-
ence to preventive measures and reference to environmental 
factors as a risk factor and source of chronicle diseases.

Budget: 450 million €

Supported activities:
 3 Protect citizens from serious cross-border health     

     threats

 3 Legislation in the fields of communicable diseases and     
     other health threats (Health Security Initiative)

 3 Improve risk assessment by providing additional                           
     capacities for scientific expertise and map existing   
      assessments

 3 Support capacity building, cooperation with neighbouring  
     countries, preparedness planning, non-binding               
     approaches on vaccination, joint procurement

 3 Promote health, prevent disease and foster supportive   
    environments for healthy lifestyles

 3 Cost-effective promotion and prevention measures for      
     addressing tobacco, alcohol, unhealthy dietary habits,    
      physical inactivity

 3 Chronic diseases including cancer; good practices for   
    prevention, early detection and management, including   
     self-management

 3 HIV/AIDS, TB and hepatitis; up-take of good practices         
     for cost- effective prevention, diagnosis, treatment and    
    care

 3 Legislation on tobacco products advertisement and       
     marketing 

 3 Health information and knowledge system

 3 Facilitate access to better and safer healthcare for EU     
     citizens

 3 Rare diseases

 3 Patient safety and quality of healthcare including the         
    prevention and control of healthcare-associated                                
     infections

 3 Antimicrobial resistance

 3 Legislation in the field of tissues and cells, blood, organs,  
    medical devises, medicinal products, and patients’ rights   
     in cross-border healthcare

 3 Health information and knowledge system

 3 Encourage innovation and sustainability in health               
     systems

 3 Health Technology Assessment

 3 Up-take of health innovation and e-health solutions

 3 Health workforce forecasting and planning (number,    
    scope of practice, skills), mobility/migration of health    
     professionals

 3 Mechanism for pooled expertise and good practices     
    assisting Member States in their health systems re  
     forms

 3 Health in an ageing society, including European                 
     Innovation Partnership on Active and Healthy Ageing

 3 Legislation in the field of medical devices, medicinal   
    products and cross-border healthcare

 3 Health information and knowledge system including     
     Scientific Committees

Implementation:
The Health Programme is implemented through project 
grants, operating grants direct grants to International 
Organisations and public procurement (tenders, framework 
contracts).

Eligibility:
All EU Member States participate in the programme.

Types of actors that can benefit from the programmes:

 3 Public authorities

 3 Public bodies (research and health institutions,                  
    universities and higher education)

 3 NGOs

International organisations:
Further specification on the eligibility of actors is given in the 
respective call for proposals and tenders.

Further information:
3 Official website of the Health Programme:
http://ec.europa.eu/health/programme/policy/index_en.htm

Information for current calls:
3 http://ec.europa.eu/health/programme/funding_schemes/
index_en.htm
 

78

http://ec.europa.eu/health/programme/policy/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/health/programme/funding_schemes/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/health/programme/funding_schemes/index_en.htm


  49
5)  Further Information & Contact Points
a)  Contact Points:
The Committee of the Regions is the EU’s assembly of local 
and regional representatives. It offers on its webpage further 
information on EU activities in the regions and contact infor-
mation to your regional representatives.

 3 http://cor.europa.eu/en/Pages/home.aspx

Local Councillors Network of the European Green Party

 3 http://europeangreens.eu/local-councillors-network 

The Covenant of Mayors is a Europe-wide association 
of local and regional authorities voluntarily committing to 
increasing energy efficiency and use of renewable energy 
sources on their territories:

 3  http://www.covenantofmayors.eu/index_en.html 

The European Innovation Partnership for Smart Cities 
and Communities is a platform for the development and 
exchange of innovative solutions to the major environmental, 
societal and health challenges facing European cities today.  

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/eip/smartcities/ 

PREPARE – Partnership for Rural Europe is an organisation 
active as a European network for rural actors. They offer 
amongst others a publication on territorial development 
initiative: (“Community Spirit Wins- How civil society sustains 
rural Europe)

 3 http://www.preparenetwork.org/about-prepare 

EURES – The European Job Mobility Portal:

 3 https://ec.europa.eu/eures/home.jsp?lang=en 

The European Youth Portal offers all information on offers 
and opportunities for young people across Europe:

 3 http://europa.eu/youth/splash_en 

Eurodesk is the main provider of information on European 
policies and opportunities for young people and those who 
work with them:

 3  http://www.eurodesk.org/edesk/ 

Europe Direct is a central information service, which can be 
address with all kinds of questions related to EU law, citizen 
rights and as well project grants:

 3 http://europa.eu/europedirect/index_en.htm

A list of managing authorities for the Structural Funds in 
every region:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/manage/authority/au-
thority_en.cfm?pay=108&list=no

b) Information on EU Calls for Proposals and Tenders:
The most important websites for EU calls for proposals is 
the Tenders Electronic Daily. It presents information about 
every EU procurement document, it is updated on a daily 
basis with public procurement notices from the European 
Union and it allows you to search for procurement by sector, 
country and region.

 3 http://ted.europa.eu/TED/misc/chooseLanguage.do 

Furthermore, the official websites of the Programmes or the 
responsible Directorate General’s website publish informa-
tion on their planned, on-going and closed procurements. 
The Commission has one central website, which provides 
you with a list of links to the different thematic fields:

 3 http://ec.europa.eu/contracts_grants/grants_en.htm

The Community Research and Development Information 
Service (CORDIS) offers practical guidance to EU funding 
opportunities for Research and Innovation:

 3 http://cordis.europa.eu/eu-funding-guide/home_en.html

The SIMAP portal provides access to most important infor-
mation about European public procurement:

 3 http://simap.europa.eu/index_en.htm

Tips for potential contractors are provided in the Com-
mission’s publication “Doing business with the European 
Commission”
3 http://ec.europa.eu/budget/biblio/publications/publications_
en.cfm#doing_business

c)  Partner Finding Tools:
Most of the Official websites of the EU funding programmes 
offer a partner finding tool. 

E.g.: Directorate General for Education and Culture offers for 
its programmes in the field of education (Erasmus, Comeni-
us, etc.) a project partner search:

 3 http://llp.teamwork.fr/partner_search/partner_search.php

Otlas is an online partner finding tool for international 
projects in the youth field. Organisations can register their 
contact details and areas of interest in Otlas, and also create 
partner requests for project ideas.

 3 www.otlas.eu 

LinkedIn EU Projects Partner Search:

 3 https://www.linkedin.com/groups/EU-Projects-Partner-
Search-2842114

Facebook Partner Search for EU & International Projects

 3 https://www.facebook.com/groups/Partnersearch/?fref=ts

5) 
 In

fo
rm

at
ion

 &
 Co

nt
ac

t P
oin

ts
79

http://cor.europa.eu/en/Pages/home.aspx
http://europeangreens.eu/local
http://www.covenantofmayors.eu/index_en.html
http://ec.europa.eu/eip/smartcities
http://www.preparenetwork.org/about
https://ec.europa.eu/eures/home.jsp?lang=en
http://europa.eu/youth/splash_en
http://www.eurodesk.org/edesk
http://europa.eu/europedirect/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/manage/authority/authority_en.cfm?pay=108&list=no
http://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/manage/authority/authority_en.cfm?pay=108&list=no
http://ted.europa.eu/TED/misc/chooseLanguage.do
http://ec.europa.eu/contracts_grants/grants_en.htm
http://cordis.europa.eu/eu-funding-guide/home_en.html
http://simap.europa.eu/index_en.htm
http://ec.europa.eu/budget/biblio/publications/publications_en.cfm
http://ec.europa.eu/budget/biblio/publications/publications_en.cfm
http://llp.teamwork.fr/partner_search/partner_search.php
www.otlas.eu
https://www.linkedin.com/groups/EU
https://www.facebook.com/groups/Partnersearch/?fref=ts


50
2 0 1 4 
++ European Structural and Investment Funds (ESI-Funds) ++ European 
Regional Development Fund (ERDF) ++ European Social Fund (ESF) ++ Youth                                                                 
Employment Initiative (YEI) ++ Cohesion Fund ++ European Agricultural Fund for 
Rural Development (EAFRD)  ++ European Maritime and Fisheries Fund (EMFF)  ++  Territorial   
Development ++ Sustainable UrbaN Development ++ Community-Led Local             
Development (CLLD) ++ European Territorial Cooperation (ETC) ++ EU Programme for 
Employment and Social Innovation (EaSI) ++ Programme for Employment and Social 
Solidarity (PROGRESS) ++ European Employment Services (EURES) ++ Your First EURES Job 

++ Your GUIDE TO EU FUNDING ++            
++ Microfinance and Social Entrepreneurship Facility (MF/SE)  ++  Fund for European 
Aid to the Most Deprived (FEAD) ++  European Globalisation Adjustment Fund (EGF)  ++                     
Creative Europe ++ Erasmus+ ++ Europe for Citizens ++ Erasmus for 
Young Entrepreneurs ++ Rights, Equality and Citizenship Programme 
++ Justice Programme ++ Asylum and Migration Fund ++ Programme
for the Environment and Climate Action (LIFE) ++ Connecting Europe      
Facility (CEF)  Energy, Transport  and  Broadband  Networks ++ Emergency aid instruments 
++  Union Civil Protection Mechanism  ++  European Union Solidarity Fund (EUSF)  ++  HORIZON 
2020  ++  Framework Programme for Research and Innovation  ++  EU Health Programme  ++              2 0 2 0 

80



Oxford City Council European Funding 
 
Oxford City Council has received relatively little in respect of European funding.  
There have been two successful bids for funding which are outlined below.  The 
Council is hoping to access some European Funding which has been awarded to the 
Local Enterprise Partnership which is detailed in Appendix 1. 
 
European Social Fund 
 
Customer Services have successfully applied for a grant of £296,000 which has 
been awarded from the European Social Fund.  This must be match funded from 
staffing costs giving a total cost attributable to the project of £592,000.  The grant is 
intended to be used to deliver work related support to private sector tenants.  The 
Council is currently halfway through a 12 month project and has worked with 200 
customers with 40 employment outcomes. 
 
Intelligent Energy Europe: Mobilising Local Energy Infrastructure 
 
Environmental Development have been awarded £900,000 from Intelligent Energy 
Europe: Mobilising Local Energy Infrastructure.  There is another £300,000 to be 
spent on the scheme giving a total of £1.2 million.  The grant is intended to be used 
to develop energy efficiency and renewable energy projects across the county and to 
lever in capital investment.  So far there has been £2m investment in Solar PV and 
microhydro installations financed by community share offers.  The delivery of the 
Low Carbon Hub business plan is intended to secure investment and legacy for 
programme. 
 
  

81



Appendix 1 
European Funding through the LEP 

 
In March 2013 the UK government announced that the European Regional 
Development Fund (ERDF), European Social Fund (ESF) and part of the European 
Agricultural Fund for Rural Development (EAFRD) will be combined into the 
European Structural & Investment Funds (EUSIF)Growth Programme for England for 
2014-2020. The new European Growth Programme will be a source of investment to 
encourage enterprise, innovation and skills to boost local economies and long-term 
growth, and to promote social inclusion and combat poverty. Oxfordshire will receive 
nearly £20m funding between 2014 and 2020.  Each LEP area is required to produce 
a Structural and Investment Fund Strategy. The development of the Strategy was 
heavily support by the City’s economic development team with support from the 
benefits reform team (specifically on the social inclusion elements). 
 
Although the EUSIF Strategy has been developed by the LEP and responds to local 
economic conditions, the use of EU funds is constrained by European Regulations.  
These regulations set out the EU's 11 overarching ‘thematic objectives’ that the 
funds should contribute to. These are underpinned by specific ‘investment priorities’ 
or ‘measures’ which describe the broad activities that can be supported by each 
Fund. Only 10 of the thematic objectives are relevant to Oxfordshire (the 11th 
focused on intuitional capacity is only applicable in less developed 
areas).Government then encouraged each LEP to focus its activity on a limited 
number of the EU's priorities and Oxfordshire therefore has no activities planned for 
TOs 5 and 7 (which are “Promoting climate change adaptation, risk prevention and 
management” and “Promoting sustainable transport and removing bottlenecks in key 
network infrastructures” respectively). 
 
EU regulations also dictate the distribution of funding across the thematic objectives: 
in particular specifying the proportion that should be spent on low carbon and social 
inclusion activities. 
 
In Oxfordshire the proposed distribution of funds across the thematic objectives has 
been specified in the LEP EUSIF Strategy: 
 

Thematic Objective / Priority by fund  

I  
EU Thematic 
Objectives 

Oxfordshire Priorities 
submitted in the ESIF 
Strategy 

Fund  Proposed 
Allocation  

Annual 7 
years 
(mean)  

TO1 Innovation  Collaborative networking 
between institutions  

ERDF  £1,000,000  £142,857  

 Commercialisation support ERDF  £1,000,000  £142,857  

TO1/TO3 
Financial 
instrument  

Access to finance fund 
(Fund total £3,020,000)  

ERDF 
TO1  

£1,150,000.00  £164,286  

ERDF 
TO3 

£1,150,000.00  £164,286  

82



ERDF 
TO4 

£720,000.00  £102,857  

TO2 ICT  Roll out of high speed 
communication  

EAFRD  £1,493,060  £213,294  

TO3 SME 
Competitiveness  

Building growth capacity  ERDF  £1,000,000  £142,857  

Fostering entrepreneurial 
culture 

ERDF  £1,000,000  £142,857  

TO4 Low Carbon  Building low carbon 
market 

ERDF  £500,000  £71,429  

Non domestic LC 
technologies  

ERDF  £500,000  £71,429  

 Support for small scale 
renewable schemes 

EAFRD  £373,320  £53,331  

TO6 Protecting 
the environment 
and promoting 
resource 
efficiency  

Support for development 
and promotion of tourism, 
recreation and leisure  

EAFRD  £231,000  £33,000  

TO8 
Employment / 
Labour mobility: 
Access to 
employment 

Retraining older workers 
Supports TO1/3  

ESF  £610,000  £87,143  

Literacy and numeracy for 
young people 

ESF  £640,000  £91,429  

Gender in-balance in 
technology sectors 
Supports TO1/3  

ESF  £610,000  £87,143  

 Enhancing pathways for 
long term unemployed 

ESF  £1,200,000  £171,429  

Support for job creation 
through promotion of 
tourism, recreation and 
leisure Supports TO6 

EAFRD  £516,000  £73,714  

Support for job creation in 
small scale renewables 
projects 

EAFRD  £373,200  £53,314  

TO9 Social 
inclusion: active 
inclusion  

Programme to prevent 
young people becoming 
NEET, including family 
based interventions, and 
to develop opportunities 
for existing NEET to 
access employment  

ESF  £920,000  £131,429  

83



Community Grants 
scheme 

ESF  £432,330  £61,761  

Community led local 
development 

ESF TO9  £800,000  £114,286  

ERDF 
TO3 

£242,330  £34,619  

TO10 Education, 
skills & lifelong 
learning  

Development of SME 
capacity for higher skills 
placements and 
collaborative placement 
projects Supports TO1/3  

ESF  £1,250,000  £178,571  

Programme to develop 
skills and deliver 
qualifications and 
apprenticeships at lower 
levels in employment 
growth sectors, targeted 
on un- and under 
employed and 
marginalised groups 

ESF  £500,000  £71,429  

Accessible 
apprenticeships and 
traineeships in priority 
sectors Supports TO1/3 

ESF  £1,300,000  £185,714  

 
The Strategy for the Oxfordshire LEP was approved in February 2014 and resulted 
in an allocation for the area of £19.5m. Calls for projects won’t open until March 2015 
and it is unlikely that any activity will start until September 2015. 
 
 
 

84



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
To: City Executive Board 
 Council  
 
Date: 12th February 2015 
 18th February 2015    

 
Report of:  Head of Finance  
 
Title of Report: Treasury Management Strategy 2015/16 
 

 
Summary and Recommendations 

 
 
Purpose of report:  To present the Treasury Management Strategy for 
2015/16together with the Prudential Indicators for 2015/16 to 2017/18. 
          
Key decision  Yes 
 
Executive lead member: Councillor Ed Turner 
 
Policy Framework: Sustaining Financial Stability 
 
Recommendation(s): City Executive Board is asked to recommend that 
Council: 
1. Approve the Treasury Management Strategy 2015/16, and adopt the 

Prudential Indicators 2015/16 – 2017/18 at paragraphs 8 to 37, and 
Appendix 2; 

2. Approve the Investment Strategy for 2015/16 and investment criteria set 
out in paragraphs 23 to 37 and Appendix 1 

3. Approve the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) statement at paragraphs 
12 to 22 which sets out the Council’s policy on debt repayment. 

 

 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 – Credit and Counterparty Risk Management 
Appendix 2 – Prudential Indicators 
 
 
 
 

 

85

Agenda Item 4



Executive Summary 
1. The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy has been written in 

accordance with the CIPFA prudential code and the CIPFA treasury 
management code of practice.  The main change to the Strategy is the 
inclusion of the Ethical Investment Policy set out at paragraph 39. 
 

2. The report presents the Council’s prudential indicators for 2015/16 – 
2017/18.  Notable indicators include capital expenditure and borrowing 
limits, as these are areas of significant activity. 
 

3. Members are required to agree the Council’s Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) policy, which is the charge to revenue each year for 
the repayment of debt. 
 

4. The average value of investments during the financial year to date 
is£69.4m, they have ranged from £63.7m to £76.1m at any one time; 
an increase on the previous year, when average balances were 
£58.2m and ranged from £40.7m to £74.3m. This reflects slippage in 
the Council’s Capital Programme. 
 

5. The Council’s external debt will reduce to £200.1m by the end of March 
2015 from £200.5 at the same time last year.  The debt is held at fixed 
rates with varying fixed periods to maturity.  £198.5m relates to the 
Housing Revenue Account following the introduction of self-financing in 
April 2012. 
 

6. The Council’s General Fund Capital Programme over the next four 
years continues to be funded from a combination of government 
grants, capital receipts, revenue resources and Community 
Infrastructure Levy.  

 
7. Whilst the majority of the Housing Capital Programme continues to be 

funded directly from Council House rents the Council’s budget also 
allows for increased ’ borrowing ’(£32 million) to fund a package of 
Housing investments. 

 
Treasury Management Strategy 
Borrowing and Debt Strategy 2015/16 

 
8. Under the prudential code, individual authorities are responsible for 

deciding the level of their borrowing.  The system is designed to allow 
authorities that need, and can afford to, to borrow in order to pay for 
capital investment. 
 

9. The arrangements also facilitate ‘invest to save’ schemes where they 
are affordable, prudent and sustainable. 
 

10. The parameters for determining the level of prudential borrowing are: 
 

86



• A balanced revenue budget that includes the revenue 
consequences of any capital financing ie: interest, debt 
repayment and  running costs of any new project; 

• That the impacts of the authorised borrowing limit on council tax 
or council rents is reasonable. 

 
11. The draft Capital Programme which appears elsewhere on the Agenda; 

includes approximately £32m of HRA borrowing, to fund new build and 
estate regeneration over the next four years.  This is utilising the 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) headroom available to the HRA. 
 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement 2015/16 
 

12. Prudential borrowing increases the Council’s Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) or underlying need to borrow.  Whether the 
Council actually borrows to finance capital expenditure is a treasury 
management decision unconnected to the capital financing decision.  
In practice the Council is unlikely to need to borrow externally in the 
medium term to fund the Capital Programme as it has sufficient cash 
balances.  The Council is required to make a charge to its revenue 
account for internal borrowing.  This charge is known as Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) and reflects the repayment of principal 
borrowed. 
 

13. Regulations require Full Council to approve the Council’s MRP policy 
on an annual basis.  The following statement is recommended: 
 

a) For capital expenditure incurred before 1st April 2008 or which in 
the future will be supported capital expenditure1, existing 
practice, outlined in the former DCLG regulations will apply; 

b) For capital expenditure that relates to the assets transferred 
from HRA to GF- MRP will be based on the estimated useful life, 
but taking into account the number of years the assets have 
been in existence, and previous funding allocated to them; 

c) For all unsupported borrowing2 incurred after 1st April 2008 the 
MRP policy will be the Asset Life Method, i.e. the MRP will be 
based on the estimated life of the asset and borrowing charged 
to the revenue account in equal instalments over the life of the 
asset. 

 
14. TheHRA is not required to make a MRP but is required to make a 

depreciation charge.  Regulations allow the Major Repairs Allowance 
(MRA) to be used as a proxy for depreciation for the first five year of 
the HRA self-financing scheme.  Depreciation on HRA properties is 
estimated at £6.3m per annum and the MRA received is in line with 

                                            
1
 Supported Capital Expenditure means the total amount of capital expenditure which a local 

authority has been notified by Government will be given as part of the grant payment 
2
 Unsupported borrowing is any borrowing not covered by Government grants. 

87



this. After the five year period depreciation will be a charge to the HRA 
with no offsetting available. 
 

15. The S151 officer has delegated authority to determine the need for any 
future borrowing taking into account prevailing interest rates and 
associated risks.  A combination of long-term and short-term fixed and 
variable rate borrowing may be considered.  This may include 
borrowing in advance of future years’ requirements. 
 

16. Borrowing may be undertaken to fund the approved Capital 
Programme or to fund future debt maturities.  The S151 officer will 
adopt a cautious approach and take into account the following factors: 
 

• The on-going revenue liabilities created, and the implications 
for the future plans and budgets; 

• The economic and market factors that might influence the 
manner and timing of any decision to borrow; 

• The pros and cons of alternative forms of funding including 
internal borrowing; 

• The impact of borrowing in advance on cash balances and 
the consequent increase in counterparty risk. 

 
17. Council officers, in conjunction with our treasury advisors, Capita Asset 

Services - Treasury solutions, monitor both prevailing interest rates and 
market forecasts, thereby allowing the Council to respond to any 
changes that may impact on the timing and manner of borrowing 
decisions, to ensure these are optimised. 
 

18. The Council had £200.5m of external debt as at 1st April 2014, all of 
which was held at fixed rates with varying maturity terms upto 2057.  
This debt is wholly related to housing. 
 

19. Repayments during 2014/15 will reduce the debt to £200.1m as at 31st 
March 2015. 
 

20. The Council’s CFR as at 1st April 2014 exceeded the level of external 
borrowing, and is an indication of the Council’s underlying need to 
borrow to fund its capital investments due to the level of internal 
borrowing that has been undertaken over the past few years. 
 

21. This position is expected to continuein the short term and indicates a 
potential need to borrow on the external market in the medium term, if 
all schemes in the proposed Capital Programme go ahead. 
 

22. In summary the main change to the borrowing strategy is to utilise the 
CFR headroom on the HRA to borrow a further £32m over the next four 
years. 

 
Investment Strategy 2015/16 
Interest rates 

88



 
23. Average cash balances are currently £69.4m.  They have fluctuated 

between £63.7m to £76.1m during the year to date. 
 

24. Interest rates remain at an all-time low, with the Base Rate having 
been held at 0.50% since March 2009.  The Council’s advisors 
expectrates to begin to rise slowly during 2015 peaking at around 3% 
by 2017/18. 

 
25. All existing investment dealterms are less than 364 days.  The Strategy 

allows for investments beyond 364 days with high quality 
counterparties; howeverprevailing interest rates have not been 
attractive enough to outweigh the additional risk that a longer term 
investment brings.   

 
26. Investments are made in accordance with the Council’s Treasury 

Management Strategy such that returns are balanced against security 
of investment, liquidity of cash to ensure funding of day to day cash 
flows and yield.  Consequently procedures are in place to determine 
the maximum periods that funds may be invested for, as well as the 
nature of those investments. 
 

27. The Council works to achieve the optimum rate of return on its 
investments commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity. 
 

28. Investment instruments identified for use are listed in Appendix 1 under 
the specified and non-specified investment categories.  Counterparty 
limits are set in accordance with the Council’s Treasury Management 
Practices (TMPs). 
 

29. The Council utilises the creditworthiness services provided by Capita 
Asset Services – Treasury Solutions.  The model combines the credit 
ratings, credit watches and credit outlooks provided by the credit rating 
agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s in a weighted 
scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of Credit 
Default Swap3 (CDS) spreads and sovereign ratings for which the end 
product is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative 
creditworthiness of counterparties.  These colour codes are used by 
the Council to determine the duration of investments.   

 
30. The Council is alerted to changes to ratings by Capita Asset Services -

Treasury solutions creditworthiness service and takes the following 
action in respect of this update: 
 

• If a downgrade results in the counterparty/investment scheme 
no longer meeting the Council’s minimum criteria, it is withdrawn 
immediately from further use 

                                            
3
 A financial swap agreement that the seller of the CDS will compensate the buyer in the 

event of default 

89



• If a counterparty’s credit rating is placed on negative watch or 
negative outlook, officers carry out a review to determine 
whether the institution is still worthy of inclusion on the 
counterparty list.  If there is any doubt, the counterparty is 
temporarily suspended pending the credit rating agency’s full 
review. 

 
31. As part of the creditworthiness methodology a minimum sovereign 

rating of AA- from Fitch (or equivalent from other agencies if Fitch does 
not provide) has been determined. 
 

32. For operational purposes, the Council’s counterparty list is reviewed on 
a daily basis taking into account market information and changes to 
criteria provided.  The list is maintained by the Treasury Team, and 
reported to the S151 Officer on a regular basis. 
 

33. The Investment Strategyprovides delegated authorityfor the S151 
Officer to determine the most appropriate form of investment 
dependant on prevailing interest rates and counterpartyrisk at the time. 
 

34. Limits on countries and sectors are as follows: 
 

• No more than 20% of the previous year’s average monthly 
investment balance with any one counterparty or group 
(currently at £15.8m) 

• Maximum of 10% of total investments to be with institutions in 
other countries that meet the required criteria 

 
Specified and Non-Specified investments 
 

35. In approving the Investment Strategy Members are approving the types 
of investments the Council can undertake.  Investments are classified 
as either specified or non-specified and are show in more detail in 
Appendix 1. 
 

36. A specified investment is one that is in sterling, no more than one year 
in duration or, if in excess of one year can be repaid earlier on 
requestand with counterparties that meet the council’s credit rating 
criteria.  Non-specified investments are any other type of investment 
including property funds.  Whilst generally these investments will earn 
a higher rate of return they are inherently more risky in nature and a 
maximum level of 25% of the previous year’s average monthly 
investment balance is placed on such investments. 
 

37. The Council placed deposits with two Icelandic banks prior to their 
collapse in 2009; original balances were £3m with Heritable and £1.5m 
with Glitnir.  Heritable has repaid 94% of the initial deposit plus interest, 
no further repayments have been received during 2014/15.  The 
Council has received over 80% of the original deposit with Glitnir.  The 
remaining balance is currently held in Iceland, under Icelandic law, and 

90



the Council is seeking advice from Bevan Brittan, our solicitors acting 
on behalf of all local authorities, regarding its options on this matter. 

 
Ethical Investment Policy 
 
38. At its meeting on 14th July, Council proposed to adopt an ethical 

investment policy, which is set out below.  This Strategy formally 
endorses and adopts it for the first time. 
 

39. The Council will not knowingly invest directly in businesses whose 
activities and practices pose a risk of serious harm to individuals or 
groups, or whose activities are inconsistent with the Council’s mission 
and values.  This would include, inter alia, avoiding direct investment in 
institutions with material links to: 
 

a. Human rights abuse (eg child labour, political oppression) 
b. Environmentally harmful activities (eg pollutions, destruction of 

habitat, fossil fuels) 
c. Socially harmful activities (eg tobacco, gambling) 

 
Banking Services 
 

40. The Council’s banking services have recently been tendered following 
the withdrawal of the Co-operative Bank from the local authority 
market. Barclays won the contract andare currently working with 
officers on an implementation plan.  The new contract will commence 
on the 1st April 2015. 
 

Prudential Indicators 
 

41. The Council is required to set out a number of indicators, relating to the 
affordability and prudence of its treasury strategy.  These indicators are 
detailed in Appendix 2 for the period 2015/16 – 2017/18, and should be 
monitored and reported on an annual basis. 
 

42. The Council is on track to meet all of the prudential indicators for 
2014/15. 
 

Legal implications 
 

43. This report fulfils four key requirements: 

• The reporting of the prudential indicators setting out the 
expected capital activities (as required by the CIPFA Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities).  Agreeing the 
Council’s Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy, which sets 
out how the Council will pay for capital assets through revenue 
each year (as required by guidance under the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007). 

• Agreeing the Treasury Management Strategy, which sets out 
how the Council’s treasury services will support the capital 

91



decisions taken, the day to day treasury management and the 
limitations on activity through treasury prudential indicators.  The 
key indicator is the Authorised Limit, the maximum amount of 
debt the council could afford in the short term, but which would 
not be sustainable in the longer term.  This is the Affordable 
Borrowing limit required by S3 of the Local Government Act 
2003.  Agreeing the Investment Strategy, this sets out the 
council’s criteria for choosing investment counterparties and 
limiting exposure to the risk of loss.   
 

44. The Local Government Act 2003 and supporting regulations require the 
council to have regard to the CIPFA Prudential Code and the CIPFA 
Treasury Management Code of Practice to set prudential and treasury 
indicators to ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable. 
 

45. The Constitution requires the Strategy to be reported to the City 
Executive Board and Full Council outlining the expected treasury 
activity for the forthcoming four years on an annual basis. 
 

Financial Issues 
 

46. All financial issues have been addressed in the body of the report. 
 
Environmental Impact 
 

47. Following the inclusion of the Ethical Investment Policy, this ensures 
that through our investments we will not knowingly, directly invest in 
businesses that undertake harmful environmental activities. 
 

Equalities Impact 
 

48. There is no equalities impact relating to this report. 
 
 

Name and contact details of author:- 
 
Name:  Anna Winship 
Job title:  Financial Accounting Manager 
Service Area / Department:  Finance 
Tel:  01865 252517  e-mail:  awinship@oxford.gov.uk 
 

List of background papers: 
  

92



 
 
 
         APPENDIX 1 
 
 
Treasury Management Practice (TMP) 1 – Credit and Counterparty Risk 
Management 

The Department of Communities and Local Government(CLG) issued 
Investment Guidance in 2010, and this forms the structure of the Council’s 
policy below. 
 
The key intention of the Guidance is to maintain the current requirement for 
councils to invest prudently, and that priority is given to security and liquidity 
before yield.  In order to facilitate this objective the guidance requires this 
Council to have regard to the CIPFA publication Treasury Management in the 
Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes.  This 
Council has adopted the Code and will apply its principles to all investment 
activity.  In accordance with the Code, the Section 151 Officer has produced 
Treasury Management Practices (TMPs).  This part, TMP 1, covering 
investment counterparty policy requires approval each year. 
 
Annual Investment Strategy - The key requirements of both the Code and 
the investment guidance are that Councils set an annual Investment Strategy, 
as part of theirTreasury Strategy for the following year, covering the 
identification and approval of the following: 
 

• The guidelines for choosing and placing investments, particularly          
non-specified investments. 

• The principles to be used to determine the maximum periods for which  
funds can be committed. 

• Specified investments the Council will use.   

• Non-specified investments, clarifying the greater risk implications,   
and the overall amount of various categories that can be held at any time. 

 
Specified Investments – These investments are sterling investments that do 
notexceed a maturity period of more than one year, or those which could be 
for a longer period but where the Council has the right to be repaid within 
twelve months if it wishes.  These are considered low risk assets where the 
possibility of loss of principal or investment income is small.  These would 
include sterling investments which would not be defined as capital 
expenditure with: 

1. The UK Government (such as the Debt Management Account deposit 
facility, UK Treasury Bills or Gilts with less than one year to maturity). 

2. Supranational bonds of less than one year’s duration. 
3. A Local Authority, Parish Council, Community Council, Fire or Police 

Authority 
4. Pooled investment vehicles (such as money market funds) that have been 

awarded a high credit rating by a credit rating agency. For category 4, this 

93



covers pooled investment vehicles, such as money market funds, rated 
AAA by Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s or Fitch rating agencies. 

5. A body that is considered of a high credit quality (such as a bank or 
building society) meeting the minimum ‘high’ quality criteria where 
applicable.   

Additionally, and in accordance with the Code, the Council has set duration 
and value limits as follows: 

 

 Minimum credit 
criteria/colour 
banding 

Max % of 
total 

investments
/£ limit per 
institution 

Max maturity 
period 

Debt Management Office– UK 
Government 

Not applicable 100% 364 days 

UK Government Gilts UK Sovereign 
rating 

20% 364 days 

UK Government Treasury Bills UK Sovereign 
rating 

20% 364 days 

Bonds issued by multilateral 
development banks 

UK Sovereign 
rating 

20% 6 months 

Money Market Fund AAA £20m Liquid 

Local Authorities, Fire and Police 
Authorities  

 100% 364 days 

Term deposits with banks and 
rated building societies 

Blue 
Orange 
Red 
Green 
 

£15m or 
20% of total 
investments 
whichever is 
the greater 

Up to 1 year 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 6 Months 
Up to 100 days 

certificate of Deposit or corporate 
bonds  with banks and building 
societies 

Blue 
Orange 
Red 
Green 
 

£10m or 
20% of total 
investments
whichever is 
the greater 

Up to 1 year 
Up to 1 year 
Up to 6 Months 
Up to 100 days 
 

Enhanced Cash funds  20% 6 months 

Corporate bond funds  20% 6 months 

Gilt Funds UK sovereign rating 20% 6 months 

    

 

 

Non-Specified Investments – Non-specified investments are any other type 
of investment (i.e. not defined as Specified above).  The identification and 
rationale supporting the selection of these other investments and the 

94



maximum limits to be applied are set out below.  Overall non specified 
investments will not exceed more than 25% of the previous yearsinvestment 
portfolio. If the Council’s average investment balance increases further over 
the medium term decisions will need to be made on the viability of 
undertaking additional non specified investments.  Non specified investments 
would include any sterling investments with: 

 

 Minimum Credit 
Criteria 

Max % of 
total 

investments/£ 
limit per 
institution 

Max maturity 
period 

Local Authorities, Fire and Police 
Authorities  

 15% of total 
investments 

Up to 2 years 

Fixed term deposits with variable 
rate and variable maturities 

Orange 15% of total 
investments 

Upto 1 year 

Fixed term deposits with variable 
rate and variable maturities 

Yellow 
Purple 
 

£10m or 20% 
of total 
investments 

Up to 5 years 
Up to 2 years 
 

Commercial paper issuance 
covered by a specific UK 
Government (explicit) guarantee 

 10% of total 
investments 

Upto 1 year 

Fixed term deposits with unrated 
Building Societies 

Asset Base over 
£9bn 

£3m – 20% of 
total 
investments 

100 days 

Commercial paper other  15% of total 
investments 

Upto 1 year 

Corporate bonds  15% of total 
investments 

Upto 1 year 

Other debt issuance by UK banks 
covered  by UK Government 
(explicit) guarantee 

 15% of total 
investments 

Upto 1 year 

Floating rate notes  15% of total 
investments 

Upto 1 year 

Housing Associations  15% of total 
investments 

Medium to long 
term 

Property funds  25% of total 
investments 

Medium to long 
term 

 
The Monitoring of Investment Counterparties - The Council receives credit 
rating information (changes, rating watches and rating outlooks) from Capita 
Asset Services – Treasury Solutions on a weekly basis, and counterparties 
are checked promptly.  On occasion ratings may be downgraded when an 
investment has already been made.  The criteria used are such that a minor 
downgrading should not affect the full receipt of the principal and interest.  
Any counterparty failing to meet the criteria will be removed from the list 
immediately by the Section 151 Officer, and if required new counterparties 
which meet the criteria will be added to the list. 
  

95



        APPENDIX 2 

 

Prudential Indicators 
 
 
Prudence 
A. Capital Expenditure Plans  

1. The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury 
management activity.  Estimates of capital expenditure for the period 
2015/16 to 2017/18 are summarised below and this forms the first of 
the prudential indicators.  The revenue consequences of associated 
borrowing and any on-going maintenance costs are accommodated 
within the Council’s revenue budgets. 

 
2. Capital expenditure can be paid for immediately, by applying capital 

resources such as capital receipts, capital grants, external funding or 
revenue contributions, but if these resources are insufficient any 
residual expenditure will be undertaken by Prudential Borrowing and 
will add to the Council’s borrowing need, or Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR). 

 
3. Estimates of resources such as capital receipts may be subject to 

uncertainty i.e. anticipated asset sales may be postponed or reduced 
due to changes in the property market or planning issues. 

 
4. Elsewhere on the agenda the draft Capital Programme is 

recommended for approval, a summary of these figures is in the table 
below, showing the capital expenditure and how it will be financed.  
Any shortfall of financing results in a borrowing need.   

 
Table 1:-Capital Expenditure and Financing 
 
 2013/14 

Actual 
£000’s 

2014/15 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2015/16 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2016/17 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2017/18 
Estimate 
£000’s 

Expenditure      

General Fund 11,121.0 30,519.3 15,820.2 8,059.3 5,371.0 

HRA 10,882.0 28,309.1 21,047.3 32,339.4 35,947.4 

Total expenditure 22,003.0 58,828.4 36,867.5 40,398.7 41,318.4 

Finance by:      

Developer Contributions 470.0 1,229.6 2,544.2 3,000.0 2,240.0 

Capital Grants 10,378.0 32,898.3 7,305.1 6,513.0 6,752.2 

Capital Receipts 3,876.0 8,413.3 5,991.5 -396.0 -508.6 

Revenue 4,538.0 13,296.0 17,758.4 17,539.3 18,979.6 

Prudential Borrowing 2,741.0 2,991.1 3,268.4 13,742.4 13,855.2 

Total Funding 22,003.0 58,828.3 36,867.6 40,398.7 41,318.4 

 
 
 
 

96



B. Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). 
5. The CFR is the total outstanding capital expenditure which has not 

yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources.  It is 
essentially a measure of the Council’s underlying need to borrow.  
Prudential borrowing is explored in more detail below. 

 
6. The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (eg finance leases).  

Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing 
requirement, these types of scheme include a borrowing facility and 
so the Council is not required to separately borrow for these schemes. 

 
 
Table 2:- Capital Financing Requirement 
 

 2013/14 
Actual 
£000’s 

2014/15 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2015/16 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2016/17 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2017/18 
Estimate 
£000’s 

General Fund -1,746 23,578 22,570 21,563 20,555 

HRA 222,297 199,384 202,653 216,395 230,250 

Total 220,551 222,962 225,223 237,958 250,805 

 

Movement in CFR 20,107 2,411 2,261 12,735 12,848 

 
 
Affordability 

7. The Strategy also includes the Prudential Indicators, which the 
authority is required to consider before determining its budget and 
treasury management arrangements for the new financial year.    
These indicators are a statutory requirement and therefore have to be 
reported to Council each year.  These indicators are split into two 
categories the first is affordability.  The affordability indicators are 
listed below: 

 
C. Ratio of financing costs to the net revenue stream 

8. This indicator represents the estimate of the ratio of financing costs to 
the net revenue stream for HRA and General Fund. 

 
Table 3:- Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 

 2013/14 
Actual 

% 

2014/15 
Estimate 

% 

2015/16 
Estimate 

% 

2016/17 
Estimate 

% 

2017/18 
Estimate 

% 

General Fund -0.7% -4.4% -5.7% -7.4% -8.6% 

HRA 18.5% 18.1% 17.0% 16.1% 16.0% 

 
 
 
 
 
 

97



D. Incremental impact of capital investment decisions on Council Tax 
and Rents 

 
Council Tax 

9. The estimate of the incremental impact of capital investment 
decisions on the Council Tax is shown below; this shows the impact of 
any decisions that are made on investment through the Capital 
Programme and how it affects the Band D Council Tax. 
 
10. The figures in Table 4 below have been calculated by looking at 
those schemes that are uncommitted in the current Capital Programme 
and looking at the impact they will have on Council Tax after taking into 
account capital receipts and revenue contributions 

 
11. The Council will not enter into any uncommitted capital scheme until 
the source of funding is confirmed, e.g. Capital receipts, grants, S106 or 
prudential borrowing.  This will ensure we can avoid any unplanned 
revenue consequences as a result of capital expenditure.  

 
Table 4:- Impact of Capital Expenditure on Council Tax 
 

 2013/14 
Actual  

£ 

2014/15 
Estimate 

£ 

2015/16 
Estimate 

£ 

2016/17 
Estimate 

£ 

2017/18 
Estimate 

£ 

Overall net impact on 
Council Tax Band D 
per week 

0.26 0.70 0.36 0.18 0.12 

 
Housing Rents 

12. The estimated incremental impact of capital investment decisions on 
weekly housing rents is shown in Table 5below. The figures have 
been calculated by looking at those schemes that are currently in the 
Capital Programme and deducting alternate funding resources. 

 
13. The key drivers for setting housing rents with effect from 1st April 2015 

will be affordability and the need to cover net expenditure . Formula 
rent guidance states that for 2015/16 for properties not at target rent 
will be CPI + 1% + £2, and those at target rent CPI + 1%.  At 
September 2014 CPI was 1.2%. 

 
14. The expected expenditure on the HRA Capital Programme will have 

the following impacton council rents: 
 
Table 5:- Impact of Capital Expenditure on Housing Rents 

 2013/14 
Actual  

£ 

2014/15 
Estimate 

£ 

2015/16 
Estimate 

£ 

2016/17 
Estimate 

£ 

2017/18 
Estimate 

£ 

Overall net impact on 
Weekly Housing 
Rents 

1.34 3.48 2.59 3.98 4.42 

98



 
E. Authorised limit for external debt 

15. This represents a limit beyond which external debt is prohibited.  
It reflects the level of external debt, which, while not desired, could be 
afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.  This 
is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. 

 
Table 6:- Authorised Limit for external debt 

 2013/14 
Actual 
£000’s 

2014/15 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2015/16 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2016/17 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2017/18 
Estimate 
£000’s 

General Fund 5,000 4,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 

HRA 242,199 242,199 245,566 259,308 273,163 

Other Long Term 
Liabilities 

1,000 0 0 0 0 

Total 248,199 246,199 247,566 261,308 275,163 

 
 

16. Separately, the Council is also limited to a maximum HRA CFR 
through the HRA self-financing regime.  The Council intends to utilise 
this headroom over the next three years to fund the Capital 
Programme, it is considered prudent to withhold £10m of the 
borrowing headroom as a contingency for potential changes in capital 
costs and interest charges.  These limits are: 

 
Table 7: HRA Capital Financing Requirement 

HRA Debt Limit 2013/14 
Actual 
£000’s 

2014/15 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2015/16 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2016/17 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2017/18 
Estimate 
£000’s 

Total 242,199 242,199 242,199 242,199 242,199 

 
F. Operational boundary for external debt 

17. This is based on the expected maximum external debt during the 
course of the year, it is not a limit, and actual external debt can vary 
around this boundary for short times during the year. 

 
Table 8:- Operational boundary for external debt  

 2013/14 
Actual 
£000’s 

2014/15 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2015/16 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2016/17 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2017/18 
Estimate 
£000’s 

Borrowing 3,000 2,000 0 0 0 

Additional HRA 
Settlement 

234,000 234,000 234,000 240,000 255,000 

Other Long Term 
Liabilities 

1,000 0 0 0 0 

Total 238,000 236,000 234,000 240,000 255,000 

 
 

 

99



G. Net Borrowing Compared to the Council’s Capital Financing 
Requirement 

18. Table 9 below shows the Council’s net borrowing position compared 
to its Capital Financing Requirement.  As can be seen, the figures 
show that the Council is currently borrowing below its financing 
requirement which indicates a need to borrow in the short to medium 
term.  The Council needs to ensure that its total borrowing net of any 
investments, does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of 
the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 
CFR for 2015/16 and the next two financial years.  This allows some 
flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years. 

 
 
Table 9:- Net borrowing compared to CFR 

 2013/14 
Actual 
£000’s 

2014/15 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2015/16 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2016/17 
Estimate 
£000’s 

2017/18 
Estimate 
£000’s 

Gross Borrowing 220,440 200,133 201,770 215,570 229,470 

Other Long Term 
Liabilities 

607 0 0 0 0 

Total Gross Debt 
31 March 

201,047 200,133 201,770 215,570 229,470 

CFR 220,551 222,962 225,223 237,958 250,805 

Net Borrowing v 
CFR 

19,504 22,829 23,453 22,388 21,335 

 
 

H. Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management in the Public Sector 

19. The Council can confirm that it has complied with this code 
throughout 2014/15 and will continue to do so. 

 
I. Upper limit on fixed and variable interest rate borrowing and 
investments 

20. The purpose of this and the following two prudential indicators is to 
contain the activity of the treasury function within certain limits, 
thereby managing risk and reducing the impact of an adverse 
movement in interest rates.  This indicator identifies the maximum 
limit for fixed interest rates based upon the debt position net of 
investments. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

100



Table 10:- Upper limit on borrowing and investments 

 2013/14 
Actual 

% 

2014/15 
Estimate 

% 

2015/16 
Estimate 

% 

2016/17 
Estimate 

% 

2017/18 
Estimate 

% 

Upper limit on fixed 
rate borrowing 

100 100 100 100 100 

Upper limit on fixed 
rate investments 

100 100 100 100 100 

Upper limit on variable 
rate borrowing 

100 100 100 100 100 

Upper limit on variable 
rate investments 

100 100 100 100 100 

 
 

J. Upper and Lower limit for the maturity structure of borrowing 
21. These are used to reduce the Council’s exposure to large fixed rate 

sums falling due for repayment at the same time. 
 

Table 11:- Upper and lower limit on borrowing maturity 

 2014/15 
Estimate 
Upper 
% 

2014/15 
Estimate 
Upper 

% 

2014/15 
Estimate 
Upper 

% 

2014/15 
Estimate 
Upper 

% 

2014/15 
Estimate 
Upper 

% 

2014/15 
Estimate 
Upper 

% 

2014/15 
Estimate 
Upper 

% 

2014/15 
Estimate 
Upper 

% 

< 12 
mths 

30 0 30 0 30 0 30 0 

1 – 2 
years 

30 0 30 0 30 0 30 0 

2 -5 
years 

80 0 80 0 80 0 80 0 

5-10 
years 

100 0 100 0 100 0 100 0 

10 
years 
+ 

100 0 100 0 100 0 100 0 

 
 
22. Upper limit for principle sums invested for periods longer than 364 

days; this indicator is used to reduce the need for early sale of an 
investment, and is based on the availability of funds after each year 
end.  This has been set at zero due to the uncertainty of the market 
and reducing the risk posed by longer term investments. 

 
Table 12:- Upper limit for investments longer than 364 days  
 

 2014/15 
Estimate 
% 

2015/16 
Estimate 
% 

2016/17 
Estimate 
% 

2017/18 
Estimate 
% 

Upper Limit for investments 
for periods longer than 364 
days 

20 20 20 20 

 

101



This page is intentionally left blank



28January 2015 

Finance Panel work programme 2014-15 
 

Items for Finance Panel meetings 
 

Suggested Topic Suggested approach / area(s) for focus 

Budget Scrutiny Review of the Council’s medium term financial strategy. 

Budget monitoring Regular monitoring of projected budget outturns through the year. 

Treasury Management Scrutiny of the Treasury Management Strategy and regular monitoring of Treasury performance. 

Capital process To receive an update on the implementation of the Capital Gateway process. 

Maximising European 
funding 

To consider how the City Council can maximise funding opportunities; invite local MEPs to contribute 
to the discussion. 

Municipal bonds To receive an update on the establishment of a municipal bonds agency.  

Local financing To consider whether there is a case for the City Council to generating capital financing locally through 
bonds or crowd-funding. 

Ethical investment To monitor the City Council’s approach to implementing an ethical investment policy. 

Council tax exemptions To receive an update on the financial implications of different types of exemptions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

103

A
genda Item

 6



Draft Finance Panel agenda schedule 
 

Date and room (all 5.30pm, 
St. Aldate’s Room) 

Agenda Item Lead Member; Officer(s) 

5 February 2015 
 

1. European funding 
 

2. Treasury Management Strategy 15/16 (pre-
scrutiny) 
 

3. Budget Review Report 
 

Anneliese Dodds MEP, Nigel Kennedy 
 
Anna Winship 
 
 
Cllr Simmons 

25 March 2015 1. Local Financing 
 

2. Budget monitoring – quarter 3 
 

3. Capital Strategy (pre-scrutiny) 
 

4. Creation of a Panel to Manage the Council’s 
Investment Portfolio (pre-scrutiny) 

 

TBC 
 
Nigel Kennedy 
 
Nigel Kennedy 
 
Jane Winfield 
 

 
2015/16 dates TBC 

 
 
Meetings closed to the public: 
 

Date and room (all 5.30pm) Agenda Item Lead Member; Officer(s) 

3 February 2015, St. Aldate’s 
Room 
 

1. Review of published budget report Peter Sloman, Nigel Kennedy 

 

104


	Agenda
	3 European Funding
	A Guide to EU Funding opportunities in the South East 2014-2020 (3)
	2014_2020_YourGuidetoEUFundingLOWRESAK
	European Funding

	4 Treasury Management Strategy 15/16
	6 Work programme

